

REPORTING ON AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: PROPOSED NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS ON AUDITING (ISAs)

REQUEST FOR COMMENTS



This Exposure Draft, Reporting on Audited Financial Statements: Proposed New and Revised International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), was developed and approved by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB).

The proposals in this Exposure Draft may be modified in light of comments received before being issued in final form. **Comments are requested by November 22, 2013**.

Respondents are asked to submit their comments electronically through the IAASB website, using the "Submit a Comment" link. Please note that first-time users must register to use this feature. Please submit comments in both a PDF and Word file. (Upon submission you will receive a confirmation receipt – If you do not receive this receipt, kindly contact Ameerah Brailsford at ameerahbrailsford@iaasb. org). All comments will be considered a matter of public record and will ultimately be posted on the website.

This publication may be downloaded free of charge from the IAASB website: www.iaasb.org. The approved text is published in the English language.

The IAASB develops auditing and assurance standards and guidance for use by all professional accountants under a shared standard-setting process involving the Public Interest Oversight Board, which oversees the activities of the IAASB, and the IAASB Consultative Advisory Group, which provides public interest input into the development of the standards and guidance.

The objective of the IAASB is to serve the public interest by setting high-quality auditing, assurance, and other related standards and by facilitating the convergence of international and national auditing and assurance standards, thereby enhancing the quality and consistency of practice throughout the world and strengthening public confidence in the global auditing and assurance profession.

The structures and processes that support the operations of the IAASB are facilitated by the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC).

Copyright © July 2013 by the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). For copyright, trademark, and permissions information, please see page 199.

CONTENTS

Explanatory Memorandum	
Introduction	4
Background	6
Matters on Which Feedback Is Sought	8
Illustrative Auditor's Report	12
Significant Proposals	18
Summary of Specific Questions for Respondents	40
Exposure Draft, Reporting on Audited Financial Statements: Proposed New and Revised International Standards on Auditing (ISAs)	
Proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements	45
Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report	84
Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance	99
Proposed ISA 570 (Revised), Going Concern	121
Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report	148
Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report	175
Proposed Conforming Amendments to Other ISAs	190

NTRODUCTION

EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM

INTRODUCTION



This memorandum provides background to, and an explanation of, the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board's (IAASB) auditor reporting proposals. The proposals include a proposed new International Standard on Auditing (ISA) and a number of proposed revised ISAs ("the Proposed ISAs"). The IAASB unanimously approved the Proposed ISAs in June 2013 for exposure.

The Proposed ISAs, and the key enhancements to auditor reporting, are:

Proposed ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements

Revisions to establish new required reporting elements, including a requirement for the auditor to include an explicit statement of auditor independence and disclose the source(s) of relevant ethical requirements, and to illustrate these new elements in example auditor's reports

Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report New standard to establish requirements and guidance for the auditor's determination and communication of key audit matters. Key audit matters, which are selected from matters communicated with those charged with governance, are required to be communicated in auditor's reports for audits of financial statements of listed entities. Auditors of financial statements of entities other than listed entities may also be required, or may decide, to communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report.

The Proposed ISAs, and the key enhancements to auditor reporting, are:		
Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance	In light of proposed ISA 701, amendments to the required auditor communications with those charged with governance, for example, to include communication about the significant risks identified by the auditor	
Proposed ISA 570 (Revised), Going Concern	Amendments to establish auditor reporting requirements relating to going concern, and to illustrate this reporting within the auditor's report in different circumstances	
Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report	Amendments to clarify how the new required reporting elements of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) are affected when the auditor expresses a modified opinion, and to update the illustrative auditor's reports accordingly	
Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report	Amendments to clarify the relationship between Emphasis of Matter paragraphs, Other Matter paragraphs and the <i>Key Audit Matters</i> section of the auditor's report	
Proposed Conforming Amendments to Other ISAs	Conforming amendments related to communicating key audit matters	

The IAASB continues to pursue auditor reporting on other information. Respondents to the IAASB's previous consultations broadly supported such reporting, and the IAASB is in process of considering comments on the exposure draft of proposed ISA 720 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing or Accompanying Audited Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report Thereon.* Pending finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised), proposed ISA 700 (Revised) includes a requirement for the auditor to report in accordance with proposed ISA 720 (Revised), and the illustrative auditor's reports therein include a placeholder for a section on *Other Information*. These elements of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) will be finalized when the revision of ISA 720 is completed, such that reporting on other information will come into effect at the same time as the other enhancements addressed by the Proposed ISAs.

BACKGROUND



- The auditor's opinion on the financial statements is valued; however, many have called for the auditor's report to be more informative in particular, for auditors to provide more relevant information to users based on the audit that was performed.
- The accompanying Proposed ISAs, which aim to improve the auditor's report on audited financial statements, respond to this call.
- The Proposed ISAs represent the culmination of IAASB deliberations to date on the topic of auditor reporting, which were informed by international research, public consultation, and stakeholder outreach undertaken by the IAASB. The IAASB's process to date included:
 - Jointly commissioned international academic research on user perceptions of the standard auditor's report (the research reports dated May - September 2009 are available on the IAASB website)
 - May 2011 Consultation Paper, Enhancing the Value of Auditor Reporting: Exploring Options for Change, which incorporated findings from the above-mentioned research and input obtained from the IAASB's dialogue with stakeholders around the world, and explored options in light of this feedback and other national developments
 - June 2012 Invitation to Comment (ITC), Improving the Auditor's Report, which sought views on the indicative direction to improve how and what auditors communicate to users through the auditor's report
 - Three global roundtables and additional outreach to solicit feedback on the indicative direction outlined in the June 2012 ITC
 - Continued monitoring of, and interaction with, policymakers and national standard setters with auditor reporting initiatives.

The signals from these inputs were clear: Change is essential. There is support for the direction the IAASB is exploring, and for a global solution. Challenges exist, but they can be overcome. The IAASB is grateful for the active engagement from so many, including investors, preparers, regulators, national standard setters, and the audit profession.

Expected Benefits from the Proposed ISAs

- The primary beneficiaries of the IAASB's work on auditor reporting will be investors, analysts and other users of the auditor's report. An audit enhances the credibility of financial statements and can directly or indirectly improve the quality of financial reporting. Because the auditor's report is the key deliverable addressing the output of the audit process for users of the audited financial statements, the IAASB is of the view that changes in auditor reporting may have positive benefits to audit quality or users' perception of it. This in turn may increase the confidence that users have in the audit and the financial statements, which is in the public interest.
 - In addition, the IAASB believes the following benefits, among others, could be realized as a result of the Proposed ISAs:
 - Enhanced communicative value of the auditor's report, providing more transparency about the audit that was performed.
 - Increased attention by management and those charged with governance to the disclosures in the financial statements to which reference is made in the auditor's report (e.g., key audit matters, going concern, etc.), which may further improve the quality of financial reporting.
 - Renewed focus of the auditor on matters to be reported, which could indirectly result in an increase in professional skepticism, among other contributors to audit quality.
 - Enhanced communications between the auditor and those charged with governance, for example more robust dialogue about the key audit matters that will be communicated in the auditor's report.
 - The Proposed ISAs represent a significant change in practice, but enhanced auditor reporting is viewed as critical to the perceived value of the financial statement audit and thus to the continued relevance of the auditing profession.

The primary beneficiaries of the IAASB's work on auditor reporting will be investors, analysts and other users of the auditor's report.

¹ As explained in the IAASB's recent consultation document, *A Framework for Audit Quality*

MATTERS ON WHICH FEEDBACK IS SOUGHT



- 10 The IAASB welcomes comments on all matters addressed in this Exposure Draft.
- The key aspects of change within the Proposed ISAs are explained in the Significant Proposals section commencing on page 18. Where applicable, key differences from the suggested improvements included in the June 2012 ITC are noted.
- This section addresses matters on which the IAASB's debates have focused, and where feedback from respondents is sought. Broadly, the IAASB is interested in feedback regarding:
 - The appropriateness of the requirements and related application material in proposed ISA 701 addressing the auditor's determination and communication of key audit matters, and the related illustrative examples.
 - ◆ The appropriateness of the requirements in proposed ISA 570 (Revised) addressing auditor reporting on going concern and the related wording in the illustrative auditor's reports. The IAASB is particularly interested in views as to whether such reporting, and the potential implications thereof, will be misunderstood or misinterpreted by users of the financial statements in light of the auditor's work effort under the ISAs.
 - The implications of other proposals, for example the proposed requirement for the auditor's report to include an explicit statement of auditor independence and the disclosure of the source(s) of relevant ethical requirements, and the proposal to require disclosure of the name of the engagement partner for audits of financial statements of listed entities.
 - The overall form and content of the proposed auditor's report.
 - The anticipated benefits and costs arising as a result of the proposals, changes that will be needed to implement them, and any significant foreseeable difficulties.

- Questions for respondents have been included in the *Significant Proposals* section to solicit specific feedback on the Proposed ISAs. For convenience, pages 40–42 list all the questions for respondents. The IAASB welcomes responses, including an articulation of underlying reasoning for respondents' views, even if only some of the listed questions are addressed.
- When answering the specific questions for respondents and providing overall views on the Proposed ISAs, various stakeholders may find the following considerations to be relevant and may wish to explicitly comment on these areas:
 - ② Users, regulators and audit oversight bodies have expressed a desire for increased transparency about the audit that was performed. The IAASB invites views on the Proposed ISAs in this regard, in particular in relation to the overall form and content of the auditor's report and the anticipated benefits arising as a result of these proposals.
 - The processes by which management and those charged with governance prepare and present the financial statements, including related disclosures, may be affected by the proposed changes to auditor reporting. The IAASB is therefore interested in views from these stakeholders about the implications of the Proposed ISAs in this regard, including additional effort or costs that may be expected.
 - The IAASB is of the view that the Proposed ISAs can be implemented in a manner proportionate to the size and complexity of an entity. The views of both preparers and auditors of financial statements of entities other than listed entities, including small- and medium-sized entities (SMEs), are welcome in this regard. The IAASB also invites respondents to comment on areas where additional guidance may be helpful to illustrate how the Proposed ISAs can be implemented in a proportionate manner.
 - The IAASB is of the view that its proposals are sufficiently flexible to enable them to be implemented along with other relevant national laws or regulations that may exist in certain jurisdictions. The feedback of national standard setters, supreme audit institutions and policymakers in relation to flexibility or perceived implementation challenges would be welcome, especially in those jurisdictions where alternative approaches may have been taken or are being considered as a means of providing additional information to users of the financial statements. Feedback is also desired from users and other stakeholders as to whether the degree of flexibility provided may reduce the comparability of ISA auditor's reports on a global basis.
 - Recognizing that many developing nations have adopted or are in the process of adopting the ISAs, the IAASB invites respondents from these nations to comment on the Proposed ISAs, in particular, on any foreseeable difficulties in applying them in their respective national environments.
 - Recognizing that many respondents may intend to translate the final ISAs for adoption in their own environments, the IAASB welcomes comment on potential translation issues respondents may note in reviewing the Proposed ISAs.
 - Comments are most helpful when they refer to specific paragraphs, include the reasons for the comments, and, where appropriate, make specific suggestions for any proposed changes to wording.

The IAASB is particularly interested in views on the overall form and content of the auditor's report, the anticipated benefits arising as a result of these proposals, and additional effort or costs that may be expected.

When a respondent agrees with proposals in this Exposure Draft (especially those calling for change in current practice), it will be helpful for the IAASB to be made aware of this view.

Application of Proposed ISA 701 in Practice

17

For auditors in most jurisdictions, the Proposed ISAs would result in change from current auditor reporting on complete sets of general purpose financial statements. While the nature and extent of change would depend on the circumstances of individual audits, the communication of key audit matters in accordance with proposed ISA 701 represents a particularly significant change in practice.

18

During the exposure period, the IAASB strongly encourages audit firms (and public sector equivalents, as applicable) to "field test" the application of proposed ISA 701, and thereby gain experience about how it may operate in practice.

19

Field testing may be done, for example, by applying proposed ISA 701 on a retrospective basis to a number of recently completed audit engagements for a range of audit engagement circumstances and discussing the results with those charged with governance and others involved in an entity's financial reporting process. Through field testing, audit firms may identify implementation challenges that arise as a result of the proposals and obtain feedback about the effects of the proposals.

20

Field testing also provides audit firms the opportunity to learn about practical considerations, including any changes that may be needed to be made to internal policies, procedures and training to support the eventual implementation of the proposed standard effectively.

21

The IAASB invites feedback from the experiences of field testing as part of the comments in response to this Exposure Draft. It is essential that the IAASB be made fully aware of such feedback so that the final ISA 701 is both robust and workable in practice.

22

A staff-prepared document highlighting considerations that may be of assistance to those who plan to undertake field testing will be made available in early August 2013 on the IAASB website.

Effective Date

23

In setting the effective date for a new or revised ISA that affects the work effort of the auditor in performing an audit, the IAASB typically provides a period of at least 12–15 months after issuance of the final standard² for purposes of translation, national adoption, and implementation (including training and changes to firms' audit methodologies). This implementation period typically ends, and the new or revised ISA comes into effect, at the beginning of the applicable audit cycle – that is, "for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after [date]".

The IAASB strongly encourages audit firms and public sector equivalents to "field test" the application of proposed ISA 701.

² Final standards are issued after they are approved by the IAASB and the Public Interest Oversight Board has confirmed that due process has been followed in their development (which typically occurs in the quarter following IAASB approval).

- 24
- While the Proposed ISAs deal mainly with reporting considerations, which typically involve decisions by the auditor towards the end of the audit process, there are aspects of the Proposed ISAs (in particular proposed ISA 701, related revisions to ISA 260 and conforming amendments to ISA 210) that may have implications for auditor actions at or near the beginning of the audit engagement. For example, in applying proposed ISA 701, the IAASB believes that auditors will be considering matters that are likely to be determined as the key audit matters, and how they would be communicated, as they are developing the audit plan.
- 25
- Accordingly, assuming the Proposed ISAs are issued as final standards in the fourth quarter of 2014, a possible effective date for the standards may be for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2015 that is, for December 31, 2016 reporting periods. Should this be the effective date, the enhanced auditor's reports would be available to users in early 2017.
- **26**
- It is important, however, that enhancements to auditor reporting come into effect as soon as possible. The IAASB is therefore interested in views on whether, assuming that final standards are issued in the fourth quarter of 2014, an earlier effective date would be feasible, for example, for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 2015 that is, for December 31, 2015 reporting periods and whether early adoption should be permitted or encouraged.

Post-Implementation Review

- 27
- The IAASB intends to undertake a post-implementation review of the Proposed ISAs after auditors, regulators, national standard setters and users of auditor's reports have had a period of experience with the Proposed ISAs and the new auditor's reports resulting from their application. The objective of the post-implementation review will be to inform the IAASB about whether the Proposed ISAs have achieved their intended effect, and to assist the IAASB in, among other matters:
- Determining whether wider application of the proposals initially limited to audits of financial statements of listed entities would be in the public interest;
- Identifying implementation challenges and possible areas for improvement within the standards;
- Understanding the way in which the requirements in the Proposed ISAs have been adopted and implemented by various jurisdictions in light of their national frameworks; and
- Considering whether further enhancements to auditor reporting are necessary, for example as a result of developments at the national level.
- 28

The IAASB therefore intends to commence the post-implementation review after two full years of implementation.

The IAASB intends to commence a post-implementation review of the Proposed ISAs after two full years of implementation.

ILLUSTRATIVE AUDITOR'S REPORT



- The illustrative auditor's report that follows is intended to show the result of the IAASB's proposed changes to the auditor's report for the common scenario of a "clean" (i.e., unmodified) opinion issued on an audit of consolidated financial statements of a listed entity prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). No material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern has been identified in accordance with proposed ISA 570 (Revised).
- It also acknowledges that other reporting responsibilities specified by national law or regulation could be included in the auditor's report (for example, reporting on Directors' remuneration), although these other responsibilities are not specified.
- This report is also included as Illustration 2 in the Appendix of proposed ISA 700 (Revised), which provides more specific details on the context in which such a report would be issued. Reference to where auditor's reports illustrating various circumstances are included in the Proposed ISAs is presented on page 17.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements³

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or give a true and fair view of) the consolidated financial position of ABC Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) their consolidated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Group, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Group within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. (see Question 11) We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters (see Questions 1-8)

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements. Key audit matters are selected from the matters communicated with [those charged with governance], but are not intended to represent all matters that were discussed with them. Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters described below, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

The four specific topics and content presented below are purely for illustrative purposes. This section would be tailored to the facts and circumstances of the individual audit engagement and the entity. Accordingly, the IAASB has intentionally drafted these examples in a manner that illustrates that Key Audit Matters will vary in terms of the number and selection of topics addressed and the nature in which they may be described, and are intended to be consistent with the disclosures in the entity's consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill

Under IFRSs, the Group is required to annually test the amount of goodwill for impairment. This annual impairment test was significant to our audit because the assessment process is complex and highly judgmental and is based on assumptions that are affected by expected future market or economic conditions, particularly those in [Countries X and Y]. As a result, our audit procedures included, among others, using a valuation expert to assist us in evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used by the Group, in particular those relating to the

³ The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

forecasted revenue growth and profit margins for [name of business lines]. We also focused on the adequacy of the Group's disclosures about those assumptions to which the outcome of the impairment test is most sensitive, that is, those that have the most significant effect on the determination of the recoverable amount of goodwill. The Group's disclosures about goodwill are included in Note 3, which specifically explains that small changes in the key assumptions used could give rise to an impairment of the goodwill balance in the future.

Valuation of Financial Instruments

The Group's disclosures about its structured financial instruments are included in Note 5. The Group's investments in structured financial instruments represent [x%] of the total amount of its financial instruments. Because the valuation of the Group's structured financial instruments is not based on quoted prices in active markets, there is significant measurement uncertainty involved in this valuation. As a result, the valuation of these instruments was significant to our audit. The Group has determined it is necessary to use an entity-developed model to value these instruments, due to their unique structure and terms. We challenged management's rationale for using an entity-developed model, and discussed this with [those charged with governance], and we concluded the use of such a model was appropriate. Our audit procedures also included, among others, testing management's controls related to the development and calibration of the model and confirming that management had determined it was not necessary to make any adjustments to the output of the model to reflect the assumptions that marketplace participants would use in similar circumstances.

Acquisition of XYZ Business

As described in Note 2, in December 20X1, the Group completed the acquisition of XYZ Business. XYZ Business was a division of a large private company. As of December 31, 20X1, the Group has completed the initial acquisition accounting on a preliminary basis. The Group will finalize the initial acquisition accounting during 20X2, and the amounts recorded as of December 31, 20X1 could change. We focused on this transaction because it is material to the consolidated financial statements as a whole and the fact that values had not previously been assigned to the division as a standalone operation. In addition, determining the assumptions that underlie the initial acquisition accounting and the useful lives associated with the acquired intangible assets involves significant management judgment given the nature of the [name of industry].

Revenue Recognition Relating to Long-Term Contracts

The terms and conditions of the Group's long-term contracts in its [name of segment] affect the revenue that the Group recognizes in a period, and the revenue from such contracts represents a material amount of the Group's total revenue. The process to measure the amount of revenue to recognize in the [name of industry], including the determination of the appropriate timing of recognition, involves significant management judgment. We identified revenue recognition of long-term contracts as a significant risk requiring special audit consideration. This is because side agreements may exist that effectively amend the original contracts, and such side agreements may be inadvertently unrecorded or deliberately concealed and therefore present a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. In addition to testing the controls the Group has put in place over its process to enter into and record longterm contracts and other audit procedures, we considered it necessary to confirm the terms of these contracts directly with customers and testing journal entries made by management related to revenue recognition. Based on the audit procedures performed, we did not find evidence of the existence of side agreements. The Group's disclosures about revenue recognition are included in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 1, as well as Note 4.

Going Concern (see Questions 9-10)

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting. The use of this basis of accounting is appropriate unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. As part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we have concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements is appropriate.

Management has not identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, and accordingly none is disclosed in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Based on our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group, we also have not identified such a material uncertainty. However, neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Other Information

[The illustrative wording for this section is subject to the IAASB's finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). The content of this section may include, among other matters: (a) a description of the auditor's responsibilities with respect to other information; (b) identification of the document(s) available at the date of the auditor's report that contain the other information to which the auditor's responsibilities apply; (c) a statement addressing the outcome of the auditor's work on the other information; and (d) a statement that the auditor has not audited or reviewed the other information and, accordingly, does not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion on it.]

Responsibilities of [Management⁴ and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs,⁵ and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. [*Those charged with governance*] are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. (see Question 13)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (see Question 13)

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

The remaining material in this section can be located in an Appendix to the auditor's report (see paragraph 39 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised). When law, regulation or national auditing standards expressly permits, reference can be made to a website of an appropriate authority that contains the description of the auditor's responsibilities, rather than including this material in the auditor's report (see paragraph 40 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised)).

⁴ Throughout the illustrative auditor's reports in the Proposed ISAs, the term management may need to be replaced by another term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction. For example, those charged with governance, rather than management, may have these responsibilities.

⁵ Where management's responsibility is to prepare financial statements that give a true and fair view, this may read: "Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs, and for such …"

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the planning and performance of the audit. We also:

- Oldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.⁶
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We are required to communicate with [those charged with governance] regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We are also required to provide [those charged with governance] with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[The form and content of this section of the auditor's report would vary depending on the nature of the auditor's other reporting responsibilities prescribed by local law, regulation, or national auditing standards. Depending on the matters addressed by other law, regulation or national auditing standards, national standard setters may choose to combine reporting on these matters with reporting as required by the ISAs (shown in the Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section), with wording in the auditor's report that clearly distinguishes between reporting required by the ISAs and other reporting required by law or regulation. (see Question 13)]

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name]. (see Question 12)

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

⁶ This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has responsibility to issue an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the consolidated financial statements.

The following table identifies where auditor's reports illustrating various circumstances are included in the Proposed ISAs.

CIRCUMSTANCES ⁷	LOCATION
Unmodified ("clean") opinion for audits of financial statements of a listed entity when no material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern has been identified	Illustrations 1 and 2 in the Appendix of proposed ISA 700 (Revised)
Example key audit matters	Illustrations 1 and 2 in the Appendix of proposed ISA 700 (Revised)
Illustration of the option to refer to the description of the auditor's responsibilities included on a website of an appropriate authority	Illustration 3 in the Appendix of proposed ISA 700 (Revised)
Unmodified opinion when a material uncertainty relating to going concern is identified and disclosure is adequate in the financial statements (i.e., extant Emphasis of Matter paragraph relating to going concern). The material uncertainty related to going concern is a key audit matter, but is presented outside of the <i>Key Audit Matters</i> section.	Illustration 1 in the Appendix of proposed ISA 570 (Revised)
Qualified and adverse opinions when disclosure of a material uncertainty relating to going concern in the financial statements is inadequate, illustrating how the language in the <i>Going Concern</i> and <i>Key Audit Matters</i> sections would be adapted, because a material uncertainty related to going concern is a key audit matter, but is presented outside of the <i>Key Audit Matters</i> section	Illustrations 2 and 3 in the Appendix of proposed ISA 570 (Revised)
Other qualified and adverse opinions, updated for changes as a result of proposed ISA 700 (Revised), illustrating how the introductory language in the <i>Key Audit Matters</i> section would be adapted, because the matter for which the opinion is modified is a key audit matter that is not presented in the <i>Key Audit Matters</i> section	Illustrations 1-3 in the Appendix of proposed ISA 705 (Revised)
Examples of disclaimers of opinions, updated for changes as a result of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) and revised requirements in proposed ISA 705 (Revised) relating to wording to be used in such circumstances	Illustrations 4-5 in the Appendix of proposed ISA 705 (Revised)
Illustration of an Emphasis of Matter paragraph for an audit of financial statements of an entity other than a listed entity	Appendix 3 of proposed ISA 706 (Revised)
Illustration of the interaction between the <i>Key Audit Matters</i> section and an Emphasis of Matter paragraph	Paragraph A16 of proposed ISA 706 (Revised)

⁷ Appendices in ISAs 510, *Initial Audit Engagements—Opening Balances*, 600, *Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)*, and 710, *Comparative Information—Corresponding Figures and Comparative Financial Statements*, include seven illustrative auditor's reports that will need to be conformed to the IAASB's preferred presentation as illustrated in proposed ISAs 700 (Revised) and 705 (Revised). The nature of such conforming amendments relate solely to updating the placement and structure of the content of those illustrative reports and incorporating the new proposed ISA 700 (Revised) elements. No changes are to be made to the requirements of those ISAs or the examples included in the illustrative reports as a result of those requirements. These conforming amendments will be issued at the time the IAASB finalizes the Proposed ISAs.

SIGNIFICANT PROPOSALS



- Broadly, the responses to the June 2012 ITC indicated strong global support for the IAASB's objectives in proposing change to auditor reporting. However, varied views were expressed as to how best to effect change.
- The IAASB believes that its deliberations have resulted in an appropriate path forward in response to the feedback received. This section describes the key enhancements to auditor reporting. Respondents are welcome to raise views on any matter described below or within the Proposed ISAs.

A High-Level Comparison: The Proposed ISAs vs. the June 2012 ITC Suggested Improvements

The following table highlights the key enhancements to the auditor's report included in the Proposed ISAs, in reference to the suggested improvements that were included in the June 2012 ITC.

Key enhancements that differ from the suggested improvements in the ITC:

- Auditor reporting on "Key Audit Matters" required for audits of financial statements of listed entities. This replaces the concept in the ITC of "Auditor Commentary," which was suggested as required for public interest entities (PIEs).
- An explicit statement that the auditor is independent of the entity and has fulfilled the auditor's other relevant ethical responsibilities, with disclosure of the source(s) of those requirements. This refines the suggested statement of auditor compliance with relevant ethical requirements, including those relating to independence, in the ITC.
- Disclosure of the name of the engagement partner, required for audits of financial statements of listed entities, with a "harm's way exemption". This refines the suggested disclosure of the engagement partner name for audits of financial statements of all entities in the ITC.
- Preferred ordering and placement of the required auditor reporting elements highlighted through the illustrative auditor's reports. Specific ordering is not mandated.

Key enhancements broadly consistent with the suggested improvements in the ITC:

- Prominent placement of the auditor's opinion and other entity-specific information in the auditor's report
- Auditor reporting on going concern, including a conclusion on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements and a statement as to whether a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern has been identified
- Auditor reporting on other information (to be finalized as part of the separate project to revise ISA 720)
- ♠ Improved description of the responsibilities of the auditor and key features of the audit. Proposed ISA 700 (Revised) now permits certain components of the description of the responsibilities of the auditor and key aspects of the audit to be relocated to an appendix to the auditor's report, or for reference to be made to such description on a website of an appropriate authority.

Key Audit Matters: Proposed New ISA 701

Objectives

- Broadly, respondents to the ITC supported the suggested concept of "auditor commentary", recognizing the need for the auditor to provide more information to enhance the value of the auditor's report. Many were of the view that enhancements to auditor reporting, such as auditor commentary, would add further value to the pass/fail opinion and help to reinvigorate the public's trust and confidence in the independent auditor and increase the relevance of the audit.
- However, there were a number of significant concerns in relation to how the concept was described and how the proposed objective was articulated: "...for the auditor's report to highlight matters that are, in the auditor's judgment, likely to be most important to users' understanding of the audited financial statements or the audit."
- In particular, respondents interpreted the proposed objective as implying that it is the responsibility of the auditor to determine what is most important to users' understanding of the financial statements. Many respondents strongly disagreed with the auditor doing so, as they believed it is explicitly the role of management and those charged with governance, not the auditor, to provide information to assist users in interpreting the financial statements. Concerns also were expressed about the possibility that original information about the entity would be provided by the auditor in the auditor's report further blurring the respective roles of management, those charged with governance and the auditor.
- The IAASB agrees that it is important to avoid confusion about the responsibilities of the auditor, management and those charged with governance for disclosing information about the entity but believes that, by providing information about aspects of the audit, the auditor's report can provide information of interest to users.

The objectives of the auditor are to determine key audit matters and, having formed an opinion on the financial statements, communicate those matters by describing them in the auditor's report. (See paragraph 6 of proposed ISA 701.)

Key audit matters are defined as those matters that, in the auditor's professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters are selected from matters communicated with those charged with governance (see paragraph 7 of proposed ISA 701).

- In formulating the above, the IAASB focused on the interest expressed by users of the financial statements in those matters about which the auditor and those charged with governance had the most robust dialogue for purposes of understanding areas of significant auditor attention in performing the audit and the calls for additional transparency about those communications. This approach is largely consistent with the view by ITC respondents that it would be appropriate for the auditor to signal areas of focus in the audit, or "key audit matters," in the auditor's report.
- The IAASB believes that the proposal for the auditor to communicate key audit matters will not only assist users in understanding those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements, but may also:
 - Assist users of the financial statements in understanding the entity and areas of significant management judgment in the audited financial statements, as such matters are areas of focus in performing the audit.
 - Provide users of the financial statements a basis to further engage with management and those charged with governance about certain matters relating to the entity and the audited financial statements.

The interrelationship between users' understanding of the audit and users' understanding of the financial statements is further explained in paragraphs 2–3 and A2–A5 of proposed ISA 701.

Determining Key Audit Matters

- Importantly, respondents to the ITC supported the IAASB's view that the entity-specific matters to be communicated in the auditor's report should be a matter of professional judgment, rather than the IAASB designating certain items as key audit matters that would be required to be communicated in all circumstances. Nevertheless, there are areas relating to matters of significance in the audit that have been consistently mentioned by investors, regulators and others that would be anticipated to be communicated with those charged with governance and about which additional information could be provided in the auditor's report.
- The IAASB has taken into account this input in developing the requirement in paragraph 8 of proposed ISA 701:

The auditor shall determine which of the matters communicated with those charged with governance are the key audit matters. In making this determination, the auditor shall take into account areas of significant auditor attention in performing the audit, including:

- (a) Areas identified as significant risks in accordance with ISA 315 (Revised)⁸ or involving significant auditor judgment.
- (b) Areas in which the auditor encountered significant difficulty during the audit, including with respect to obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence.
- (c) Circumstances that required significant modification of the auditor's planned approach to the audit, including as a result of the identification of a significant deficiency in internal control.

⁸ ISA 315 (Revised), Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement through Understanding the Entity and Its Environment

- 44
- In developing this proposed requirement, the overarching focus on "areas of significant auditor attention" is intended to assist the auditor in narrowing the matters communicated with those charged with governance to the key audit matters communicated in the auditor's report. To further guide the auditor's professional judgment in determining the key audit matters, the requirement includes factors that the IAASB anticipates would typically constitute such areas of attention, i.e., those that meet the threshold of "most significance" in the audit of the current period financial statements.
- 45

Further, there was a strong view in response to the ITC that appropriate guidance would be necessary to adequately inform the auditor's decision-making and foster consistency in auditor's reports across similar entities. The IAASB has therefore developed the related application material in paragraphs A1–A24 of proposed ISA 701 with this in mind, and is of the view that the proposed requirement and guidance, taken together, provide a sufficient basis for the auditor's decision-making process.

Communicating Key Audit Matters

- 46
- The requirement in paragraph 10 of proposed ISA 701 is intended to be sufficiently principles-based to allow for auditor judgment as to the level of detail to include in the auditor's report about individual key audit matters.
- 47

The IAASB believes, consistent with the examples included in the ITC, that it will be useful for the description of key audit matters to include a reference to the related disclosure(s), if any, in the financial statements. Doing so enables users to understand both management's and the auditor's perspectives on these matters. However, feedback from responses to the ITC indicated the description of key audit matters cannot merely reiterate what is disclosed in the financial statements or simply point to those disclosures without providing additional context from the auditor.

48

Accordingly, the IAASB agreed that, in order for the communication of key audit matters to have value to users, it is necessary for the auditor to explain more about why the auditor considered the matter to be one of most significance in the audit (i.e., to provide insight about why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter).

49

The IAASB had significant debate on whether it would be necessary, or appropriate, in all cases to require auditors to include a discussion of the auditor's procedures or the outcome of such procedures (e.g., findings or a conclusion) in the description of a key audit matter. Respondents to the ITC had raised concerns about the possibility of key audit matters being perceived as separate assurance or "piecemeal opinions," which they viewed as being inconsistent with the fact that the auditor's procedures are designed in the context of the audit of the financial statements as a whole. Challenges are also likely to exist in summarizing the auditor's procedures in complex areas in a clear and succinct manner auditors have expressed concern that users may incorrectly underestimate the work the auditor had actually performed, and investors have signaled that such information would be likely to become boilerplate over time. On balance, the IAASB believed it was necessary for proposed ISA 701 to allow for flexibility for the auditor to determine whether it may be necessary, in explaining why a matter was determined to be a key audit matter, for the auditor to describe its effect on the audit, rather than mandating a discussion of audit procedures or a conclusion in all cases.

In order for the communication of key audit matters to have value to users, it is necessary for the auditor to provide insight about why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter.

Paragraphs A30–A43 of proposed ISA 701 represent detailed application material to support the auditor's professional judgment about the nature and extent of the description of an individual key audit matter, including the sufficiency and appropriateness of the description and whether it is necessary to describe the effect of a key audit matter on the audit. Among other things, this application material addresses:

- Aspects that the auditor might include to enable the description of a key audit matter to be entity-specific, for example to explain factors that may have influenced the auditor's risk assessment or approach to the matter or highlight key communications with those charged with governance.
- How the factors and guidance relating to determining the key audit matters, as well as the underlying audit documentation, may assist the auditor in preparing the description of a key audit matter.
- Challenges in communicating key audit matters, for example in relation to key audit matters that are seen to be more sensitive, including key audit matters relating to fraud risks or significant deficiencies in internal control, or when the auditor may find it necessary to provide additional information about the entity.
- Potential approaches to describing the effect of a key audit matter on the audit, which may include a brief overview of procedures performed, the auditor's approach to the matter or an indication of the outcome of the auditor's procedures.
- How the description of the key audit matter may be influenced by the nature and extent of the entity's disclosures in the financial statements.

Illustrative Examples of Key Audit Matters

51

Illustrative examples of key audit matters are included in the illustrative auditor's report on pages 13–16. Different approaches have been taken intentionally in developing the illustrations of individual key audit matters. This has been done to show how an auditor's judgments about the nature and extent of the description, and the information to include, in explaining key audit matters may vary depending on the situation.

- The first example is intended to explain how certain entity-specific factors relating to countries and business lines affected the goodwill impairment test. It describes certain audit procedures and areas of focus and the use of a valuation expert, but does not include a conclusion or findings. Reference to particularly important aspects of management's disclosure has been made.
- The second example includes reference to entity-specific information expected to be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements relating to the type of model used in valuing the entity's financial instruments. It references key communications with those charged with governance, and describes certain audit procedures. The example also includes a conclusion in relation to the appropriateness of the use of an entity-developed model.
- The third example is intended to highlight that a significant acquisition was an area of difficulty in the audit, in light of the circumstances explained. No explicit mention of procedures or findings has been included; however, reference is made to the fact that amounts recorded as of the balance sheet date could change in the future, illustrating how the auditor may draw attention to key aspects of management's disclosures.

Proposed ISA 701 includes detailed guidance to support the auditor's professional judgment about how key audit matters should be communicated in the auditor's report.

- The fourth example includes reference to the risk of material misstatement due to fraud with respect to revenue recognition. This is likely to be a sensitive area because the reference to a risk of fraud is not likely to be disclosed in the financial statements. A conclusion has been included in this example to illustrate the outcome of the auditor's specific procedures to respond to this risk (i.e., confirmation of terms of contracts).
- In order for key audit matters to have the value that users are seeking, the IAASB believes it will be necessary in practice for auditors to describe key audit matters in a manner that is as specific as possible in the context of the current-period audit. In addition, auditors will need to take steps to try to avoid, over time, the descriptions of key audit matters becoming boilerplate.
- Information about the entity included in key audit matters is likely to highlight or summarize key aspects of the entity's disclosure about the matter. Further, in response to concerns about the auditor providing original information about the entity, proposed ISA 701 suggests that the auditor seek to avoid doing so (as this is the responsibility of the entity's management and those charged with governance) unless, in the auditor's judgment, the additional information that the auditor may provide is critical to the auditor's description of the key audit matter and providing such information is not prohibited by law or regulation.

QUESTIONS

- **1.** Do users of the audited financial statements believe that the introduction of a new section in the auditor's report describing the matters the auditor determined to be of most significance in the audit will enhance the usefulness of the auditor's report? If not, why?
- 2. Do respondents believe the proposed requirements and related application material in proposed ISA 701 provide an appropriate framework to guide the auditor's judgment in determining the key audit matters? If not, why? Do respondents believe the application of proposed ISA 701 will result in reasonably consistent auditor judgments about what matters are determined to be the key audit matters? If not, why?
- **3.** Do respondents believe the proposed requirements and related application material in proposed ISA 701 provide sufficient direction to enable the auditor to appropriately consider what should be included in the descriptions of individual key audit matters to be communicated in the auditor's report? If not, why?
- **4.** Which of the illustrative examples of key audit matters, or features of them, did respondents find most useful or informative, and why? Which examples, or features of them, were seen as less useful or lacking in informational value, and why? Respondents are invited to provide any additional feedback on the usefulness of the individual examples of key audit matters, including areas for improvement.

Applicability of Proposed ISA 701

It was suggested in the ITC that the concept of "auditor commentary" in the auditor's report could be made applicable to audits of public interest entities (PIEs). While noting the potential benefits of doing so, respondents to the ITC acknowledged the challenges of establishing a globally accepted definition of PIEs, and suggested it would be more appropriate for the IAASB to initially limit its proposals to audits of financial statements of listed entities. Furthermore, the definition of PIEs as currently used in the ISAs was conceived by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA) for independence purposes and not for differentiating auditor reporting requirements. The IAASB agrees, and believes the planned post-implementation review could inform the IAASB whether broader applicability of proposed ISA 701 to entities other than listed entities, including application to non-listed SMEs, might be appropriate in the future.

- Standards may require auditors of entities other than listed entities (e.g., PIEs, public sector entities, or all entities) in a particular jurisdiction to communicate key audit matters. It was also acknowledged by respondents to the ITC that auditors of financial statements of entities other than listed entities may wish to use the new mechanism of key audit matters on a voluntary basis. The IAASB therefore believes it is important, if key audit matters are communicated for audits of financial statements of entities other than listed entities (either voluntarily or when required by law or regulation), that such matters should be determined and communicated in the same manner as for listed entities (see paragraph 4 of proposed ISA 701 and paragraphs 30 and A30-A31 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised)).
- In light of the possibility of auditors of other than listed entities communicating key audit matters in the auditor's report, or being requested by management or those charged with governance to do so, the IAASB has proposed limited amendments to ISA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements. Specifically, if the auditor of the financial statements of an entity other than a listed entity is not required to communicate key audit matters but intends to do so, a new requirement has been established for the auditor to include a statement in the audit engagement letter regarding such intent. This is both a relevant practical consideration and one important to the principle that the form and content of the auditor's report is the sole responsibility of the auditor. In addition, application material clarifies that in certain jurisdictions it may be necessary for the auditor to include a reference to the possibility of communicating key audit matters in the terms of the audit engagement in order to retain the ability to do so (e.g., due to legal or regulatory requirements, including those relating to confidentiality).
 - Revisions are also proposed to the Appendix in ISA 210 that contains an example of an audit engagement letter to further align with changes to the description of the auditor's responsibilities in proposed ISA 700 (Revised) (see page 192).

QUESTION

57

5. Do respondents agree with the approach the IAASB has taken in relation to key audit matters for entities for which the auditor is not required to provide such communication – that is, key audit matters may be communicated on a voluntary basis but, if so, proposed ISA 701 must be followed and the auditor must signal this intent in the audit engagement letter? If not, why? Are there other practical considerations that may affect the auditor's ability to decide to communicate key audit matters when not otherwise required to do so that should be acknowledged by the IAASB in the proposed standards?

Application of Proposed ISA 701 in Particular Circumstances

- The Proposed ISAs also address other circumstances that are relevant to the application of proposed ISA 701, including:
 - When the auditor expresses a qualified or adverse opinion in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised). The IAASB determined that matters giving rise to a modification of the auditor's opinion are, by their nature, key audit matters, but are to be reported separately in the Basis for Qualified (or Adverse) Opinion section of the auditor's report. The IAASB agreed that a discussion of any other key audit matters would still be relevant to enhancing users' understanding of the audit and therefore the auditor should be required to communicate key

- audit matters. See paragraphs 11 and A44 of proposed ISA 701 and the illustrative examples in the Appendix of proposed ISA 705 (Revised), which address the presentation of the key audit matters in such circumstances.
- When the auditor disclaims an opinion in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised). Proposed ISA 705 (Revised) expressly prohibits the auditor from communicating key audit matters in such cases. The IAASB is of the view that any discussion of key audit matters other than the matter(s) giving rise to the disclaimer of opinion may suggest the financial statements are more credible in relation to those matters than would be appropriate in the circumstances, and would be inconsistent with the disclaimer of an opinion on the financial statements as a whole (see paragraphs 29 and A28 of proposed ISA 705 (Revised)).
- When law or regulation requires the auditor to provide information similar to key audit matters or requires those charged with governance to issue a report that includes similar information. Proposed ISA 700 (Revised) addresses such circumstances and provides guidance on how the Key Audit Matters section may need to be adapted (see paragraph 46(g) and A53-A54 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised)). The IAASB believes this will accommodate different national approaches to the communication of this information, for example, the approach required by the UK Financial Reporting Council (FRC) where reports of Audit Committees of listed entities will contain a description of the main issues discussed with their auditors. The IAASB will continue to monitor with interest the forthcoming proposals from the US Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) and the European Commission (EC) regulatory proposals affecting the auditor's report to further consider whether more is needed within the proposed ISAs to acknowledge diverse jurisdictional approaches.

Auditor Determination that There Are No Key Audit Matters

- Because key audit matters are matters "of most significance" in the audit of the financial statements of the current period, and therefore a relative concept, there are likely to always be one or more matters of "most significance" in an audit.
- Nevertheless, the IAASB accepts it is conceivable that there may be certain limited circumstances (e.g., a listed entity that has very limited operations or assets) in which, in the auditor's professional judgment, there are no key audit matters to communicate in the auditor's report.
- If the auditor concludes that there are no key audit matters to communicate, proposed ISA 701 requires the auditor to discuss this conclusion with the engagement quality control reviewer, where one has been appointed, and communicate this conclusion with those charged with governance. The IAASB believes these actions may provide an opportunity for those most familiar with the significant matters arising during the audit to provide input that may cause the auditor to re-evaluate the determination that there are no key audit matters. Such a conclusion also would be required to be documented (see paragraph 14 of proposed ISA 701).
- Further, proposed ISA 701 would require a statement in the auditor's report that there are no key audit matters to report (see paragraphs 13 and A47–A48 of proposed ISA 701). This requirement is consistent with feedback from some respondents to the ITC that there is a need to signal that the auditor was required to make this determination in accordance with proposed ISA 701. The IAASB recognizes, however, that such a statement may be confusing to users, as some may believe it is inconsistent with the relative concept of "matters of most significance."

The IAASB believes
the proposed ISAs will
accommodate different
national approaches to the
communication of information
similar to key audit matters.

QUESTION

- **6.** Do respondents believe it is appropriate for proposed ISA 701 to allow for the possibility that the auditor may determine that there are no key audit matters to communicate?
 - (a) If so, do respondents agree with the proposed requirements addressing such circumstances?
 - (b) If not, do respondents believe that auditors would be required to always communicate at least one key audit matter, or are there other actions that could be taken to ensure users of the financial statements are aware of the auditor's responsibilities under proposed ISA 701 and the determination, in the auditor's professional judgment, that there are no key audit matters to communicate?

The Determination of Key Audit Matters When Comparative Financial Information Is Presented



Key audit matters are defined as those matters of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period. Users are interested in the most recent information possible to make informed decisions, and therefore are more likely to value information from the auditor about the audit of the current period. Nevertheless, the IAASB acknowledges it may be useful for the auditor to consider whether a matter that was a key audit matter in the audit of the financial statements of the prior period continues to be a key audit matter (see paragraphs A8–A9 of proposed ISA 701).



The IAASB further believes that the determination of key audit matters should be limited to those matters of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period, even when comparative financial statements are presented (i.e., even when the auditor's opinion refers to each period for which financial statements are presented in accordance with ISA 710).⁹



The IAASB noted the view that there may be merit in including the auditor's description of key audit matters for all periods presented. However, there are likely practical challenges in doing so that could result in further lengthening the auditor's report and a presentation that could be potentially confusing to users, such as:

- The possible expectation that the auditor would update key audit matters from the prior period, for example to explain the matter's effect in the current period audit even if such matter was not determined to be a key audit matter in the current period.
- Whether the inclusion of a key audit matter in a subsequent period relating to a matter that existed in a prior period could call into question the validity of the auditor's judgment to exclude it as a key audit matter in the prior period.
- The potential consequences when the prior-period financial statements were audited by a predecessor auditor, because the determination of key audit matters in the prior period would have been made by another auditor.

⁹ In the case of corresponding figures, the auditor's opinion generally refers only to the financial statements of the current period. In the case of comparative financial statements, the auditor is required to report on both the current period financial statements and the prior period financial statements in connection with the current year's audit.

QUESTION

7. Do respondents agree that, when comparative financial information is presented, the auditor's communication of key audit matters should be limited to the audit of the most recent financial period in light of the practical challenges explained in paragraph 65? If not, how do respondents suggest these issues could be effectively addressed?

Audit Documentation

- Paragraph 14 of proposed ISA 701 includes a requirement for the auditor to document the matters that will be communicated as key audit matters, and the significant professional judgments made in reaching this determination, in accordance with ISA 230, *Audit Documentation*. Proposed ISA 701 explains that both the written communications with those charged with governance and other audit documentation may assist the auditor in developing a description of key audit matters that explains the significance of the matter (see paragraph A32 of proposed ISA 701).
- The proposed ISA also notes that the documentation of significant professional judgments made in determining the key audit matters draws upon this documentation and may also provide an indication that other matters communicated with those charged with governance are not key audit matters (see paragraph A49 of proposed ISA 701). However, the intent of the proposed documentation requirement is not to require the auditor's documentation to explain why each of the other matters communicated with those charged with governance was not determined to be a key audit matter.
- The documentation required by proposed ISA 701 also includes, where applicable, the rationale for the auditor's determination that there are no key audit matters to communicate in the auditor's report. The IAASB has also included proposed application material to assist the auditor's consideration of documentation of professional judgments, and proposed amendments to the application material in ISA 230 to support the documentation requirement in proposed ISA 701 (see changes to paragraph A10 of ISA 230).

Relationship between Key Audit Matters and Communications with Those Charged with Governance: Revisions to ISA 260 as a Result of Proposed ISA 701

- Key audit matters are selected from matters communicated with those charged with governance. Accordingly, the IAASB determined that limited amendments to the required auditor communications with those charged with governance were necessary in light of proposed ISA 701.
- The most significant proposed change to ISA 260 relates to the existing requirement for the auditor to communicate with those charged with governance an overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. The IAASB proposes to expand this requirement to include communicating about the significant risks identified by the auditor (see paragraph 15 of proposed ISA 260 (Revised)).

The IAASB is proposing to require that auditors of all entities communicate with those charged with governance about the significant risks the auditor has identified.

- In many audits, communication with those charged with governance about significant risks is likely already occurring, because an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs is risk-based and therefore significant risks are fundamental to the scope of the audit. Nevertheless, the IAASB is of the view that requiring such communication could enhance audit quality. In this regard, the IAASB believes the proposed requirement would further support effective two-way communication by providing those charged with governance insight into those areas for which the auditor determined special audit consideration was necessary, and thereby assist those charged with governance in fulfilling their responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process.
- The IAASB believes it is in the public interest to establish this requirement for audits of financial statements of all entities, not only for listed entities. It is not expected to result in a significant burden on auditors who are not required to communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report (e.g., auditors of entities other than listed entities), as proposed ISA 260 (Revised) remains flexible for such communication to be made orally.
- In addition, the IAASB proposes to require the auditor to communicate, as part of communicating the significant findings from the audit, circumstances that required significant modification of the auditor's planned approach to the audit, to align with the factors the auditor considers in determining key audit matters (see paragraph 16(c) of proposed ISA 260 (Revised)).

The following table illustrates the interaction between proposed ISA 260 (Revised) and proposed ISA 701, specifically in relation to the matters required to be communicated with those charged with governance and the factors the auditor is required to take into account in determining the key audit matters.

Proposed ISA 701

Reference to the Basis in Proposed ISA 260 (Revised) and Other ISAs that Require Specific Communications with Those Charged with Governance

In determining which of the matters communicated to those charged with governance are the key audit matters, proposed ISA 701 requires the auditor to take into account areas of significant auditor attention in performing the audit, including:

Areas identified as significant risks in accordance with ISA 315 (Revised)

Paragraph 15 of proposed ISA 260 (Revised), and also likely discussed as part of significant findings from the audit required by paragraph 16 of proposed ISA 260 (Revised)

Areas involving significant auditor judgment

Relates primarily to paragraph 16(a) of proposed ISA 260 (Revised), but also to any other matters communicated with those charged with governance that are relevant to their oversight responsibilities. See also Appendices 1 and 2 of proposed ISA 260 (Revised).

Areas in which the auditor encountered significant difficulty during the audit, including with respect to obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence

Paragraph 16(b) of proposed ISA 260 (Revised)

Circumstances that required significant modification of the auditor's planned approach to the audit, including as a result of the identification of a significant deficiency in internal control Paragraph 16(c) of proposed ISA 260 (Revised) and paragraph 9 of ISA 265, Communicating Deficiencies in Internal Control to Those Charged with Governance and Management

Relationship between Key Audit Matters and Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs: Revisions to ISA 706 as a Result of Proposed ISA 701

- Respondents to the ITC were of the view, broadly, that the mechanism of an Emphasis of Matter paragraph should be retained even when "auditor commentary" would be required, in order to alert users to matters that would not otherwise be considered key audit matters in the event the auditor judges it necessary to do so. Further, the IAASB believes it is necessary to retain this mechanism for audits of financial statements of entities for which the auditor is not required to communicate key audit matters. Similar considerations apply to Other Matter paragraphs.
- After considering and defining key audit matters, the IAASB specifically evaluated how Emphasis of Matter paragraphs and Other Matter paragraphs could best be retained in light of the requirement to communicate key audit matters for audits of financial statements of listed entities, and how the interaction of such communications should be articulated within the Proposed ISAs.
- The IAASB is not proposing any change to the underlying concepts in extant ISA 706, including the definition of Emphasis of Matter paragraphs and Other Matter paragraphs.
- The IAASB is proposing, however, certain clarifications in proposed ISA 706 (Revised) to:
 - Explain the relationship between proposed ISA 701 and proposed ISA 706 (Revised) (see paragraph 2 of proposed ISA 706 (Revised)).
 - ◆ Clarify that auditors should not use Emphasis of Matter paragraphs or Other Matter paragraphs for matters determined to be key audit matters in accordance with proposed ISA 701 when applicable (see paragraphs 8(b), 10(b) and A1-A2 of proposed ISA 706 (Revised)).
 - Facilitate users' understanding of the difference between Emphasis of Matter paragraphs and Key Audit Matters, when key audit matters are communicated in the auditor's report and the auditor judges it necessary to also include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph about another matter not determined to be a key audit matter, by:
 - Requiring a statement in the Emphasis of Matter paragraph in the auditor's report that explains that the matter being emphasized is separate from the key audit matters (see paragraph 9(b) of proposed ISA 706 (Revised)); and
 - Encouraging the use of the heading "Emphasis of Matter in the Financial Statements" (see paragraph 9(a) of proposed ISA 706 (Revised)).
 - Provide further guidance on the placement of the Key Audit Matters section and any Emphasis of Matter paragraphs (see paragraphs A15–A16 of proposed ISA 706 (Revised)).
- The IAASB understands that the most common use of Emphasis of Matter paragraphs currently is to highlight material uncertainties relating to going concern, which will now be replaced by a similar paragraph as part of a separate *Going Concern* section (see paragraph 87 below), and that use of Emphasis of Matter paragraphs for other matters is infrequent. When a *Key Audit Matters* section is included in the auditor's report, the IAASB believes Emphasis of Matter paragraphs will be rare, except when otherwise required by other ISAs or by law or regulation. Feedback from national standard setters supported this view.

Emphasis of Matter and Other Matter paragraphs will be retained. Proposed ISA 706 (Revised) clarifies the relationship between these paragraphs and key audit matters.

In relation to Other Matter paragraphs, the IAASB does not believe certain matters related to the planning and scoping of the audit (such as a description of the materiality applied to the engagement) would meet the definition of a key audit matter. In light of feedback from respondents to the ITC, the IAASB does not consider it appropriate to establish a requirement for the auditor to disclose such matters in the auditor's report. Nevertheless, the auditor may judge it appropriate, or be required by law or regulation, to do so in an Other Matter paragraph.¹⁰

QUESTION

8. Do respondents agree with the IAASB's decision to retain the concepts of Emphasis of Matter paragraphs and Other Matter paragraphs, even when the auditor is required to communicate key audit matters, and how such concepts have been differentiated in the Proposed ISAs? If not, why?

Going Concern

80

The IAASB continues to be of the view that auditor reporting related to going concern would be appropriate and in the public interest. Accordingly, proposed ISA 570 (Revised) includes the following requirement:

If the auditor concludes that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate in the circumstances and no material uncertainty [related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern (hereinafter referred to as "material uncertainty")] has been identified, the *Going Concern* section of the auditor's report shall include:

- (a) An explanation of the going concern basis of accounting in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework;
- (b) A statement that, as part of the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the entity's financial statements is appropriate;
- (c) A statement that, based on the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has not identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern; and
- (d) A statement that neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

These statements and how they are presented in the auditor's report would change if a material uncertainty was identified, including circumstances in which such an uncertainty was not adequately disclosed in the audited financial statements. See the illustrative reports in the Appendix of proposed ISA 570 (Revised).

Proposed ISA 706 (Revised) explains that law or regulation may require the auditor to communicate about planning and scoping matters in the auditor's report, or the auditor may consider it necessary to communicate about such matters in an Other Matter paragraph (see paragraph A8 of proposed ISA 706 (Revised)).

- Respondents to the ITC recognized the heightened attention on going concern, particularly in light of the global financial crisis and the EC proposals on audit reform. However, there were mixed views as to whether the proposed statements on going concern that were illustrated in the ITC would have sufficient value to users or be appropriate in light of the auditor's work effort under extant ISA 570. Many also acknowledged and emphasized the need for, or importance of, a more holistic approach to addressing going concern in financial reporting. There was also a concern that auditor statements on going concern could serve to widen the expectations gap if users did not understand that such statements were not a guarantee as to the entity's future viability, or if the meaning of the term "material uncertainty" and the requirements for disclosure of such uncertainties were not clearly defined across different financial reporting frameworks.
- An important part of the IAASB's work to date has therefore been active liaison with the accounting standard setters. There are some underlying accounting issues, including a lack of consistent understanding of certain concepts, for which clarification or additional guidance from the accounting standard setters may be necessary such that the IAASB's proposed statements about going concern in the auditor's report are not misunderstood or misinterpreted by users of the financial statements. Both the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the US Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) have active projects addressing going concern; however, the scheduled timelines to finalize and implement the revised accounting standards are still unclear. The IAASB intends to continue to liaise with these Boards, in part to ensure they are aware of the need to move forward on a timely basis to respond to stakeholders' concerns relating to the adequacy and timeliness of management's disclosures about going concern, and the related effect on the work effort and reporting by independent auditors.
- Notwithstanding these developments, there remains a possibility that the requirements of IFRSs and US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) ultimately may differ as to the definition of a material uncertainty or the threshold for such disclosures. This would potentially affect when disclosure in the notes to the financial statements of a material uncertainty would be required, as different accounting frameworks may take different approaches. As a result, as the accounting standards continue to develop, there may be a need for the IAASB to revisit the underlying concepts in proposed ISA 570 (Revised) and consider whether and, if so, when further amendment may be needed to the requirements addressing the auditor's work effort to ensure they are appropriate in light of the different financial reporting frameworks.

As noted above, the IAASB has been encouraged to work together with the accounting standard setters as part of a holistic approach to reporting on going concern. The IAASB acknowledges that it will therefore need to carefully consider the status and planned actions of the accounting standard setters when finalizing its auditor reporting proposals to determine the best course of action, which may involve deferring finalization of auditor reporting related to going concern. At this stage, however, in recognition of the importance that certain stakeholders place on having explicit auditor statements about going concern in the auditor's report, the IAASB believes it is appropriate to solicit feedback on the potential changes to ISA 570 that would be necessary to underpin the IAASB's proposed statements relating to going concern in the auditor's report.

The IAASB will need to carefully consider the status and planned actions of the accounting standard setters when finalizing its auditor reporting proposals.

88

- Within the context of the broader developments previously described, the IAASB has developed the auditor reporting proposals using extant ISA 570 as the base, which itself was drafted in light of requirements included in extant IAS 1.¹¹ This approach involved making minimal amendments to ISA 570, limited to those necessary to underpin auditor reporting on going concern, with the possibility of additional changes to proposed ISA 570 (Revised) once future amendments to the underlying accounting standards are known.
- In considering the nature and extent of changes to proposed ISA 570 (Revised), the IAASB acknowledged that there are a number of areas for potential improvement, but in view of the likely future accounting developments explained in paragraphs 82–84, has sought to limit the changes to the proposed new reporting requirements and replace the term "going concern assumption" with the concept of "going concern basis of accounting" included in IFRSs.
- The IAASB recognizes that the identification of a material uncertainty relating to going concern would, by its nature, be a key audit matter. However, it is of the view that information relating to the identification of a material uncertainty relating to going concern should be presented as part of the *Going Concern* section of the auditor's report to give it appropriate emphasis (see the illustrative reports included in the Appendix of proposed ISA 570 (Revised)). Accordingly, the identification of a material uncertainty relating to going concern will no longer be a required Emphasis of Matter paragraph (see paragraph 22 of proposed ISA 570 (Revised)).
 - Proposed ISA 570 (Revised) also includes a new Appendix to provide illustrative auditor's reports that include circumstances in which issues relating to going concern are present and how the required statements and their presentation in the auditor's report are to be modified. Of note, when a material uncertainty has been identified:
 - ◆ A subheading "Disclosures about a Material Uncertainty Identified" or other appropriate subheading would be required to alert users to these circumstances, and the IAASB believes it would be preferable for the statement about the material uncertainty to be presented before the statement about the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the *Going Concern* section.
 - When the auditor's opinion is modified because a material uncertainty has not been adequately disclosed, the auditor would be required to discuss this in the Basis for Qualified (or Adverse) Opinion section and include a cross-reference to that section in the Going Concern section rather than including the required statement about the material uncertainty.
 - The statement that neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the entity's ability to continue as a going concern is not required in the auditor's report in this situation, although the auditor would not be precluded from including this statement. The IAASB had mixed views on whether such a statement would be helpful in light of the fact that reference was made to material uncertainties that had been identified.

¹¹ International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements

QUESTIONS

- 9. Do respondents agree with the statements included in the illustrative auditor's reports relating to:
 - (a) The appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the entity's financial statements?
 - (b) Whether the auditor has identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to concern, including when such an uncertainty has been identified (see the Appendix of proposed ISA 570 (Revised)?
 - In this regard, the IAASB is particularly interested in views as to whether such reporting, and the potential implications thereof, will be misunderstood or misinterpreted by users of the financial statements.
- **10.** What are respondents' views as to whether an explicit statement that neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the entity's ability to continue as a going concern should be required in the auditor's report whether or not a material uncertainty has been identified?

Compliance with Independence and Other Relevant Ethical Requirements

- In light of the importance of compliance with ethical requirements as a basis for the audit and the increased focus on auditor independence, it was suggested in the ITC that the auditor include an explicit statement of compliance with relevant ethical requirements in the auditor's report. While broadly supporting this suggested enhancement, respondents and others believed further clarification was needed in relation to the meaning and scope of such a statement.
- Given this input, the IAASB reconsidered the wording of this statement and proposes that it be changed to a statement in the auditor's report that the auditor is independent of the entity within the meaning of the relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation and has fulfilled the auditor's other ethical responsibilities under those requirements (see paragraph 28(c) and related application material in proposed ISA 700 (Revised) and the *Basis for Opinion* section in the illustrative auditor's report).
- As part of this statement, the auditor would also be required to disclose the source(s) of the specific independence and other relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation. Paragraph 28(c) of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) acknowledges that the sources of such requirements may not be the same, in which case all relevant sources would be required to be named. Doing so provides additional transparency about the basis on which the audit has been conducted, in a manner similar to disclosing that the audit was conducted in accordance with ISAs or that the financial statements were prepared in accordance with IFRSs.
- The IAASB acknowledged, however, that such disclosure may have practical implications. For example, the list could become extensive and thereby lack value to users of the auditor's report, or considerations could exist in group audit situations that would make identifying all sources unduly complex or create confusion or misunderstanding among users.

- The IESBA has expressed support for the proposals in paragraphs 90–91 in light of the underlying requirements of the IESBA *Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants* (the IESBA Code). The IAASB intends to continue to consult with the IESBA in light of responses received to this Exposure Draft.
- The IAASB encourages national standard setters and audit firms to provide feedback on what such a disclosure would comprise in their national environments and in the context of complex group audit situations, respectively. For example, it would be helpful for the IAASB to understand whether such a disclosure might make reference to both the IESBA Code and other national requirements.

QUESTION

11. What are respondents' views as to the benefits and practical implications of the proposed requirement to disclose the source(s) of independence and other relevant ethical requirements in the auditor's report?

Public Reporting of Breaches of Independence

- The IESBA project addressing a breach of a requirement of the IESBA Code was noted in the ITC. At the time, the IAASB believed it would be premature to consider putting forth proposals relating to the disclosure of breaches of relevant ethical requirements in the auditor's report until such time as the outcome of this IESBA project work was known and the value and impediments of doing so have been fully considered. The IESBA has now finalized and released the changes to the IESBA Code arising from its project. These changes, which will be effective in 2014, do not require public disclosure of breaches of independence requirements by the auditor.
- While the IAASB acknowledged that some users, including some regulators, may wish to know more about breaches of independence requirements, the IAASB took the same view as the IESBA regarding public disclosure of breaches and agreed not to require such disclosure in the auditor's report. The IAASB believes that the impediments of doing so likely would outweigh the value, in particular because:
 - Reporting of all breaches would be impracticable, especially in the context of a large, global audit, as the IESBA Code does not establish thresholds for what may constitute either a minor or a significant breach of independence requirements and minor inadvertent breaches of independence requirements may have occurred that have been appropriately addressed.
 - Despite the perceived value of increased transparency about breaches, investors may draw incorrect conclusions about the auditor's ability to issue an auditor's report if all breaches were required to be communicated publicly, even when those charged with governance and the auditor had agreed that any breaches had been appropriately addressed.

- 97
- The IAASB believes that the proposed statement that the auditor is independent of the entity within the meaning of the relevant ethical requirements is therefore a more appropriate way of addressing transparency about independence, as the auditor's ability to make such a statement takes into account the interactions between the auditor and those charged with governance if breaches have been identified. The IAASB acknowledged that:
- Regulators or national standard setters in some jurisdictions require the auditor to publicly disclose breaches of independence requirements, which is likely more appropriate at the national level as such a requirement takes into account the specific local circumstances and reporting environment.
- There is an opportunity within the Proposed ISAs and the illustrative auditor's report to further reinforce the importance of communications with those charged with governance about independence.

Disclosure of the Name of the Engagement Partner

- 98
- Feedback received in response to the ITC indicated divergent views about the appropriateness of mandating disclosure of the name of the engagement partner in the auditor's report for audits of financial statements of all entities. There was generally more support from those jurisdictions where disclosure of the name of the engagement partner is already required by law or regulation, and less from those jurisdictions where it is not, especially when such a disclosure was thought to expose the named individual to possible litigation.
- 99
- Investors and analysts, regulators and oversight authorities, and others who supported disclosure of the engagement partner's name in the auditor's report were of the view that doing so:
- Improves transparency for users of the auditor's report; and
- Is believed to provide the engagement partner with a greater sense of personal responsibility and accountability, which they believe translates to improved audit quality.
- 100

While it was recognized this is already done in many jurisdictions, respondents cautioned against the IAASB establishing an international requirement without the ability to address the potential auditor liability implications or influence the establishment of "safe harbors" for individual auditors in the jurisdictions where such a requirement does not exist. Many respondents suggested the call for transparency could be most appropriately addressed at the national level in the context of the legal environment in the particular jurisdiction.

Investors and analysts, regulators and oversight authorities, and others have called for disclosure of the engagement partner's name in the auditor's report.

The IAASB believes it is important to respond to the public interest call for increased transparency. Accordingly, it is proposing in ISA 700 (Revised) that the name of the engagement partner be disclosed in the auditor's report. However:

- Rather than require disclosure of the name of the engagement partner for all entities as suggested in the ITC, the IAASB has concluded it would be appropriate to limit the requirement in proposed ISA 700 (Revised) to audits of financial statements of listed entities. This is because the demand for such transparency has primarily come from institutional investors and, for many non-listed entities, including SMEs, the engagement partner's name is already available or known to the users of the financial statements through other means, albeit informal in many circumstances.
- The IAASB proposes the inclusion of a "harm's way" exemption, consistent with what is done in some national jurisdictions.

See paragraph 42 and related application material in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).

QUESTION

12. What are respondents' views as to the proposal to require disclosure of the name of the engagement partner for audits of financial statements of listed entities and include a "harm's way exemption"? What difficulties, if any, may arise at the national level as a result of this requirement?

Other Improvements to Proposed ISA 700 (Revised)



In addition to changes described above, proposed ISA 700 (Revised) incorporates the following suggested improvements noted in the ITC and further enhancements:

- Improved description of the responsibilities of the auditor and key features of the audit (see paragraphs 35–38 and related application material of proposed ISA 700 (Revised)).
- Provision for the descriptions of the responsibilities of the auditor and key features of the audit to be relocated to an appendix in the auditor's report, or for reference to be made to such a description on the website of an appropriate authority. The wording in the illustrative report would effectively be mandated if included in the body of the auditor's report or in an Appendix, with some flexibility for a broader description of the auditor's responsibility on a website, provided it is not inconsistent with the wording prescribed by the requirements in proposed ISA 700 (Revised) (see paragraphs 39–40 and related application material of proposed ISA 700 (Revised)).
- Reference to whom in the entity is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process Inclusion of this reference in the auditor's report acknowledges this essential role in the financial reporting process. Proposed ISA 700 (Revised) allows for flexibility in jurisdictions where the roles of "management" and "those charged with governance" may not be as clearly differentiated or when other terms are used for those involved in the preparation and presentation of the financial statements or oversight of the financial reporting process (see paragraph 33 and related application material in proposed ISA 700 (Revised)).

- Other reporting responsibilities Under extant ISA 700, the auditor was prohibited from combining a discussion of other reporting responsibilities with reporting required by ISA 700 (i.e., such information was required to be presented in a separate section Report on Other Legal or Regulatory Requirements). Because the proposed new sections in the auditor's report (i.e., going concern, other information and key audit matters) relate to areas for which there may be additional reporting responsibilities, the IAASB believes it is appropriate to allow additional flexibility for national standard setters to determine how best to place the auditor's communication about such matters in the auditor's report in order to be meaningful to users. However, even if presented in the same section as ISA reporting requirements, these other reporting responsibilities will continue to be required to be clearly differentiated from reporting required by the ISAs (see paragraph 41 and related application material in proposed ISA 700 (Revised)).
- The IAASB is also proposing clarification to the requirements and guidance in ISA 700 addressing supplementary information (see paragraphs 49–50 and related application material in proposed ISA 700 (Revised)). Feedback from the ISA Implementation Monitoring project indicated that the intent of the existing requirements is unclear when supplemental information that is not required by the applicable financial reporting framework is presented with the audited financial statements, in particular in relation to when such information is "an integral part of the financial statements" or cannot be "clearly differentiated."

Degree of Prescription in Requirements of Proposed ISA 700 (Revised)

- It was suggested in the ITC that the IAASB would mandate the ordering and placement of the required elements in the auditor's report. As a result of feedback from respondents to the ITC, the IAASB reconsidered its position. This feedback included views that, in some countries, there are cultural reasons why placement of certain elements, for example the auditor's opinion at the end of the report, is preferred.
- The IAASB concluded that proposed ISA 700 (Revised) should not mandate the ordering of the elements of the auditor's report. With the exception of the requirement in extant ISA 700 for an introductory paragraph, this is largely consistent with extant ISAs 700, 705 and 706, and represents an important degree of flexibility in presentation.

106 However:

♣ The IAASB acknowledged that, in order to meet the objective of improving auditor reporting on a global basis, it was important that certain requirements be prescriptive to result in particular wording in the auditor's report in the absence of law, regulation or national auditing standards prescribing a specific form and content, and others be more principles-based to accommodate national circumstances (as further explained in paragraphs 107-109). Consequently, the IAASB determined it necessary to have relatively prescriptive requirements (other than ordering) in paragraphs 20-45 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) aimed at promoting a degree of consistency in the ISA auditor's report. The IAASB has agreed to require specific headings in the auditor's report to ensure the required reporting elements can be recognized in all reports for audits conducted in accordance with ISAs, even if they are presented in a different order from that of the illustrative auditor's reports.

The IAASB believes proposed ISA 700 (Revised) reflects an appropriate balance between consistency in auditor reporting globally and the need for flexibility to accommodate national reporting circumstances.

- The IAASB has intentionally presented the requirements in proposed ISA 700 (Revised) in a particular order that also aligns with the suggested presentation in the illustrative auditor's report. Further, the IAASB has not included any guidance or illustration in proposed ISA 700 (Revised) to suggest an alternative presentation of the elements in the auditor's report, so as to encourage consistency in presentation.
- The IAASB has also determined that it is necessary for proposed ISA 700 (Revised) to retain the level of flexibility in auditor reporting that exists in extant ISA 700, by allowing a departure from more detailed requirements in the following circumstances:
 - When an auditor claims compliance with the ISAs in performing the financial statement audit, and law or regulation prescribes a specific layout or wording of the auditor's report (see paragraph 46 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised)); or
 - When an auditor is required to conduct an audit in accordance with the auditing standards of a specific jurisdiction (the "national auditing standards") but may have additionally complied with the ISAs in the conduct of the audit and refers to both ISAs and the national auditing standards in the auditor's report (see paragraphs 47-48 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised)).
- The flexibility allowed by these paragraphs enables the auditor to tailor the wording of the auditor's report to meet the legal and regulatory requirements of a particular jurisdiction, or its national auditing standards, while still making reference to ISAs in the auditor's report and complying with proposed ISA 700 (Revised).
- The IAASB believes that the minimum required elements articulated in paragraphs 46–47 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) reflect an appropriate balance between consistency in auditor reporting globally when reference is made to the ISAs in the auditor's report, and the need for flexibility to accommodate national reporting circumstances.

QUESTIONS

- **13.** What are respondents' views as to the appropriateness of the changes to ISA 700 described in paragraph 102 and how the proposed requirements have been articulated?
- 14. What are respondents' views on the proposal not to mandate the ordering of sections of the auditor's report in any way, even when law, regulation or national auditing standards do not require a specific order? Do respondents believe the level of prescription within proposed ISA 700 (Revised) (both within the requirements in paragraphs 20–45 and the circumstances addressed in paragraphs 46–48 of the proposed ISA) reflects an appropriate balance between consistency in auditor reporting globally when reference is made to the ISAs in the auditor's report, and the need for flexibility to accommodate national reporting circumstances?

Revisions to ISA 705 as a Result of Proposed ISA 700 (Revised)

- 110
- Proposed ISA 705 (Revised) incorporates amendments to the requirements for modified auditor's reports necessary to reflect the proposals in ISA 700 (Revised) and ISA 701.
- 111

In addition to certain minor drafting changes, the amendments include reordering of the requirements relating to the form and content of the auditor's report when the auditor's opinion is modified. Further, the illustrative reports in the Appendix of proposed ISA 705 (Revised) highlight the IAASB's preferred presentation when modified opinions are issued.

112

Proposed ISA 705 (Revised) also clarifies the auditor's reporting responsibilities when the auditor disclaims an opinion on the financial statements. In particular, the proposed ISA:

- ◆ Prohibits the auditor from including additional information on going concern, key audit matters, and other information when the auditor disclaims an opinion. The IAASB is of the view that providing details about the audit, including addressing the auditor's responsibilities about going concern, other information, or providing an extensive description of the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements, may overshadow the disclaimer of opinion on the financial statements as a whole (see paragraphs 29 and A27-A28 of proposed ISA 705 (Revised)).
- Modifies the required words to be used in the auditor's report relating to the description of the auditor's responsibilities (see paragraph 28(a) of proposed ISA 705 (Revised)).
- Requires the statement relating to independence to be placed in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements* section rather than the *Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion* section (see paragraph 28(c) of proposed ISA 705 (Revised)).

See also Illustrations 4 and 5 of proposed ISA 705 (Revised)).

Effect on ISA 800 Series

113

The IAASB acknowledges the need to give due consideration to the potential effect on ISAs 800¹², 805¹³ and 810¹⁴ (the "ISA 800 Series") of changes arising from the Proposed ISAs. However, it concluded that this should be progressed after feedback is received on the Proposed ISAs in the ISA 700 Series. The IAASB intends to propose any necessary changes to the ISA 800 Series through a separate exposure draft, with the aim of having the effective dates of all of the ISA reporting standards aligned to the extent practicable.

114

Respondents are nevertheless welcome to raise initial views on potential necessary amendments to the ISA 800 Series arising from the Proposed ISAs to assist informing the IAASB's deliberations as they commence in 2014.

¹² ISA 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks

¹³ ISA 805, Special Considerations—Audits of Single Financial Statements and Specific Elements, Accounts or Items of a Financial Statement

¹⁴ ISA 810, Engagements to Report on Summary Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SPECIFIC QUESTIONS FOR RESPONDENTS



The following is a summary of all questions for respondents that have been included in the *Significant Proposals* section on pages 18–39. The IAASB welcomes responses, including an articulation of underlying reasoning for respondents' views, even if only some of the listed questions are addressed. When answering the specific questions for respondents and providing overall views on the Proposed ISAs, various stakeholders may find the considerations in paragraph 14 of the *Matters on Which Feedback Is Sought* section to be relevant and may wish to explicitly comment on these areas.

The IAASB also welcomes detailed comments on the wording of the Proposed ISAs. Comments are most helpful when they refer to specific paragraphs, include the reasons for the comments, and, where appropriate, make specific suggestions for any proposed changes to wording.

When a respondent agrees with proposals in this Exposure Draft (especially those calling for change in current practice), it will be helpful for the IAASB to be made aware of this view.

Finally, the IAASB is interested in respondents' views on an appropriate effective date for the Proposed ISAs (see paragraphs 23–26 of the *Matters on Which Feedback Is Sought* section).

Key Audit Matters

- Do users of the audited financial statements believe that the introduction of a new section in the auditor's report describing the matters the auditor determined to be of most significance in the audit will enhance the usefulness of the auditor's report? If not, why?
- 2. Do respondents believe the proposed requirements and related application material in proposed ISA 701 provide an appropriate framework to guide the auditor's judgment in determining the key audit matters? If not, why? Do respondents believe the application of proposed ISA 701 will result in reasonably consistent auditor judgments about what matters are determined to be the key audit matters? If not, why?
- 3. Do respondents believe the proposed requirements and related application material in proposed ISA 701 provide sufficient direction to enable the auditor to appropriately consider what should be included in the descriptions of individual key audit matters to be communicated in the auditor's report? If not, why?
- 4. Which of the illustrative examples of key audit matters, or features of them, did respondents find most useful or informative, and why? Which examples, or features of them, were seen as less useful or lacking in informational value, and why? Respondents are invited to provide any additional feedback on the usefulness of the individual examples of key audit matters, including areas for improvement.
- 5. Do respondents agree with the approach the IAASB has taken in relation to key audit matters for entities for which the auditor is not required to provide such communication that is, key audit matters may be communicated on a voluntary basis but, if so, proposed ISA 701 must be followed and the auditor must signal this intent in the audit engagement letter? If not, why? Are there other practical considerations that may affect the auditor's ability to decide to communicate key audit matters when not otherwise required to do so that should be acknowledged by the IAASB in the proposed standards?
- 6. Do respondents believe it is appropriate for proposed ISA 701 to allow for the possibility that the auditor may determine that there are no key audit matters to communicate?
 - (a) If so, do respondents agree with the proposed requirements addressing such circumstances?
 - (b) If not, do respondents believe that auditors would be required to always communicate at least one key audit matter, or are there other actions that could be taken to ensure users of the financial statements are aware of the auditor's responsibilities under proposed ISA 701 and the determination, in the auditor's professional judgment, that there are no key audit matters to communicate?
- 7. Do respondents agree that, when comparative financial information is presented, the auditor's communication of key audit matters should be limited to the audit of the most recent financial period in light of the practical challenges explained in paragraph 65? If not, how do respondents suggest these issues could be effectively addressed?
- 8. Do respondents agree with the IAASB's decision to retain the concepts of Emphasis of Matter paragraphs and Other Matter paragraphs, even when the auditor is required to communicate key audit matters, and how such concepts have been differentiated in the Proposed ISAs? If not, why?

Going Concern

- 9. Do respondents agree with the statements included in the illustrative auditor's reports relating to:
 - (a) The appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the entity's financial statements?
 - (b) Whether the auditor has identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to concern, including when such an uncertainty has been identified (see the Appendix of proposed ISA 570 (Revised)?

In this regard, the IAASB is particularly interested in views as to whether such reporting, and the potential implications thereof, will be misunderstood or misinterpreted by users of the financial statements.

10. What are respondents' views as to whether an explicit statement that neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the entity's ability to continue as a going concern should be required in the auditor's report whether or not a material uncertainty has been identified?

Compliance with Independence and Other Relevant Ethical Requirements

11. What are respondents' views as to the benefits and practical implications of the proposed requirement to disclose the source(s) of independence and other relevant ethical requirements in the auditor's report?

Disclosure of the Name of the Engagement Partner

12. What are respondents' views as to the proposal to require disclosure of the name of the engagement partner for audits of financial statements of listed entities and include a "harm's way exemption"? What difficulties, if any, may arise at the national level as a result of this requirement?

Other Improvements to Proposed ISA 700 (Revised)

- 13. What are respondents' views as to the appropriateness of the changes to ISA 700 described in paragraph 102 and how the proposed requirements have been articulated?
- 14. What are respondents' views on the proposal not to mandate the ordering of sections of the auditor's report in any way, even when law, regulation or national auditing standards do not require a specific order? Do respondents believe the level of prescription within proposed ISA 700 (Revised) (both within the requirements in paragraphs 20–45 and the circumstances addressed in paragraphs 46–48 of the proposed ISA) reflects an appropriate balance between consistency in auditor reporting globally when reference is made to the ISAs in the auditor's report, and the need for flexibility to accommodate national reporting circumstances?

Exposure Draft July 2013

Comments due: November 22, 2013

International Standards on Auditing

Reporting on Audited
Financial Statements:
Proposed New and Revised
International Standards on
Auditing (ISAs)



CONTENTS

	Page
Proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements	45
Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report	84
Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance	99
Proposed ISA 570 (Revised), Going Concern	121
Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report	148
Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the independent Auditor's Report	175
Proposed Conforming Amendments to Other ISAs	190

PROPOSED INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON AUDITING (ISA) 700 (REVISED)

FORMING AN OPINION AND REPORTING ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after date])

CONTENTS

	Paragraph
Introduction	
Scope of this ISA	1–4
Effective Date	5
Objectives	6
Definitions	7–9
Requirements	
Forming an Opinion on the Financial Statements	10–15
Form of Opinion	16–19
Auditor's Report	20–48
Supplementary Information Presented with the Financial Statements	49–50
Application and Other Explanatory Material	
Qualitative Aspects of the Entity's Accounting Practices	A1-A3
Disclosure of the Effect of Material Transactions and Events on the Information Conveyed in the Financial Statements	A4
Description of the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework	A5-A10
Form of Opinion	A11-A12
Auditor's Report	A13-A58
Supplementary Information Presented with the Financial Statements	A58-A65
Appendix: Illustrations of Independent Auditor's Reports on Financial Statements	

Proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements, should be read in conjunction with ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing.

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

- 1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's responsibility to form an opinion on the financial statements. It also deals with the form and content of the auditor's report issued as a result of an audit of financial statements.
- 2. Proposed ISA 701¹ deals with the auditor's responsibility to communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report. Proposed ISA 705² (Revised) and proposed ISA 706³ (Revised) deal with how the form and content of the auditor's report are affected when the auditor expresses a modified opinion or includes an Emphasis of Matter paragraph or an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor's report. Other ISAs including proposed ISA 570 (Revised)⁴ contain reporting requirements that are applicable when issuing an auditor's report.
- 3. This ISA is written in the context of a complete set of general purpose financial statements. ISA 800⁵ deals with special considerations when financial statements are prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework. ISA 805⁶ deals with special considerations relevant to an audit of a single financial statement or of a specific element, account or item of a financial statement.
- 4. The requirements of this ISA are aimed at addressing an appropriate balance between the need for consistency and comparability in auditor reporting globally and the need to increase the value of auditor reporting by making the information provided in the auditor's report more relevant to users. This ISA promotes consistency in the auditor's report, but recognizes the need for flexibility to accommodate particular circumstances of individual jurisdictions. Consistency in the auditor's report, when the audit has been conducted in accordance with ISAs, promotes credibility in the global marketplace by making more readily identifiable those audits that have been conducted in accordance with globally recognized standards. It also helps to promote the user's understanding and to identify unusual circumstances when they occur.

Effective Date

5. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after date].

Objectives

- 6. The objectives of the auditor are:
 - (a) To form an opinion on the financial statements based on an evaluation of the conclusions drawn from the audit evidence obtained; and
 - (b) To express clearly that opinion through a written report.

Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report

Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report

Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report

Proposed ISA 570 (Revised), Going Concern

⁵ ISA 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks

ISA 805, Special Considerations—Audits of Single Financial Statements and Specific Elements, Accounts or Items of a Financial Statement

Definitions

- 7. For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:
 - (a) General purpose financial statements Financial statements prepared in accordance with a general purpose framework.
 - (b) General purpose framework A financial reporting framework designed to meet the common financial information needs of a wide range of users. The financial reporting framework may be a fair presentation framework or a compliance framework.

The term "fair presentation framework" is used to refer to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the requirements of the framework and:

- Acknowledges explicitly or implicitly that, to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements, it may be necessary for management to provide disclosures beyond those specifically required by the framework; or
- (ii) Acknowledges explicitly that it may be necessary for management to depart from a requirement of the framework to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements. Such departures are expected to be necessary only in extremely rare circumstances.

The term "compliance framework" is used to refer to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the requirements of the framework, but does not contain the acknowledgements in (i) or (ii) above.⁷

- (c) Unmodified opinion The opinion expressed by the auditor when the auditor concludes that the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.⁸
- 8. Reference to "financial statements" in this ISA means "a complete set of general purpose financial statements, including the related notes." The related notes ordinarily comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework determine the form and content of the financial statements, and what constitutes a complete set of financial statements.
- 9. Reference to "International Financial Reporting Standards" in this ISA means the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and reference to "International Public Sector Accounting Standards" means the International Public Sector Accounting Standards issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board.

⁷ ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing, paragraph 13(a)

Paragraphs 24–25 deal with the phrases used to express this opinion in the case of a fair presentation framework and a compliance framework respectively.

Requirements

Forming an Opinion on the Financial Statements

- 10. The auditor shall form an opinion on whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. 9,10
- 11. In order to form that opinion, the auditor shall conclude as to whether the auditor has obtained reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. That conclusion shall take into account:
 - (a) The auditor's conclusion, in accordance with ISA 330, whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained;¹¹
 - (b) The auditor's conclusion, in accordance with ISA 450, whether uncorrected misstatements are material, individually or in aggregate; ¹² and
 - (c) The evaluations required by paragraphs 12–15.
- 12. The auditor shall evaluate whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework. This evaluation shall include consideration of the qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting practices, including indicators of possible bias in management's judgments. (Ref: Para. A1–A3)
- 13. In particular, the auditor shall evaluate whether, in view of the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework:
 - (a) The financial statements adequately disclose the significant accounting policies selected and applied;
 - (b) The accounting policies selected and applied are consistent with the applicable financial reporting framework and are appropriate;
 - (c) The accounting estimates made by management are reasonable;
 - (d) The information presented in the financial statements is relevant, reliable, comparable, and understandable:
 - (e) The financial statements provide adequate disclosures to enable the intended users to understand the effect of material transactions and events on the information conveyed in the financial statements; and (Ref: Para. A4)
 - (f) The terminology used in the financial statements, including the title of each financial statement, is appropriate.

.

ISA 200, paragraph 11

Paragraphs 24–25 deal with the phrases used to express this opinion in the case of a fair presentation framework and a compliance framework respectively.

¹¹ ISA 330, The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks, paragraph 26

¹² ISA 450, Evaluation of Misstatements Identified during the Audit, paragraph 11

- 14. When the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework, the evaluation required by paragraphs 12–13 shall also include whether the financial statements achieve fair presentation. The auditor's evaluation as to whether the financial statements achieve fair presentation shall include consideration of:
 - (a) The overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements; and
 - (b) Whether the financial statements, including the related notes, represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- 15. The auditor shall evaluate whether the financial statements adequately refer to or describe the applicable financial reporting framework. (Ref: Para. A5–A10)

Form of Opinion

- 16. The auditor shall express an unmodified opinion when the auditor concludes that the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
- 17. If the auditor:
 - (a) concludes that, based on the audit evidence obtained, the financial statements as a whole are not free from material misstatement; or
 - (b) is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to conclude that the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,

the auditor shall modify the opinion in the auditor's report in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised).

- 18. If financial statements prepared in accordance with the requirements of a fair presentation framework do not achieve fair presentation, the auditor shall discuss the matter with management and, depending on the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework and how the matter is resolved, shall determine whether it is necessary to modify the opinion in the auditor's report in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised). (Ref: Para. A11)
- 19. When the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a compliance framework, the auditor is not required to evaluate whether the financial statements achieve fair presentation. However, if in extremely rare circumstances the auditor concludes that such financial statements are misleading, the auditor shall discuss the matter with management and, depending on how it is resolved, shall determine whether, and how, to communicate it in the auditor's report. (Ref: Para. A12)

Auditor's Report

20. The auditor's report shall be in writing. (Ref: Para. A13–A14)

Auditor's Report for Audits Conducted in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing

Title

21. The auditor's report shall have a title that clearly indicates that it is the report of an independent auditor. (Ref: Para. A15)

Addressee

22. The auditor's report shall be addressed, as appropriate, based on the circumstances of the engagement. (Ref: Para. A16)

Auditor's Opinion

- 23. The auditor's report shall include a section with the heading "Opinion." (Ref: Para. A17)
- 24. When expressing an unmodified opinion on financial statements prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework, the auditor's opinion shall, unless otherwise required by law or regulation, use one of the following phrases, which are regarded as being equivalent:
 - (a) In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, [...] in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework]; or
 - (b) In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of [...] in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework]. (Ref: Para. A18–A25)
- 25. When expressing an unmodified opinion on financial statements prepared in accordance with a compliance framework, the auditor's opinion shall be that the accompanying financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework]. (Ref: Para. A22–A25)
- 26. If the reference to the applicable financial reporting framework in the auditor's opinion is not to International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board or International Public Sector Accounting Standards issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board, the auditor's opinion shall identify the jurisdiction of origin of the framework.
- 27. The auditor's report shall:
 - (a) Identify the entity whose financial statements have been audited;
 - (b) State that the financial statements have been audited:
 - (c) Identify the title of each statement comprising the financial statements;
 - (d) Refer to the notes, including the summary of significant accounting policies; and
 - (e) Specify the date of, or period covered by, each financial statement comprising the financial statements. (Ref: Para. A26–A27)

Basis for Opinion

- 28. The auditor's report shall include a section with the heading "Basis for Opinion" that:
 - (a) States that the audit was conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing; (Ref: Para. A28)
 - (b) Refers to the section of the auditor's report that describes the auditor's responsibilities under the ISAs;
 - (c) Includes a statement that the auditor is independent of the entity within the meaning of the [relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and has fulfilled the auditor's other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. If the independence and other ethical

- responsibilities are established by different sources, then the second part of the statement shall also specify the source of the other relevant ethical requirements; and (Ref: Para. A29)
- (d) States whether the auditor believes that the audit evidence the auditor has obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor's opinion.

Going Concern

29. The auditor shall report in accordance with proposed ISA 570 (Revised).

Key Audit Matters

30. For audits of complete sets of general purpose financial statements of a listed entity, the auditor shall communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report in accordance with proposed ISA 701. When the auditor of a complete set of general purpose financial statements of an entity other than a listed entity is required by law or regulation to communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report or otherwise decides to do so, the auditor shall apply proposed ISA 701. (Ref: Para. A30–A31)

Other Information

31. The auditor shall report in accordance with proposed ISA 720 (Revised). 13

Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

- 32. The auditor's report shall include a section with a heading using the appropriate term to describe those responsible for the preparation of the financial statements. This heading need not refer specifically to "management," but shall use the term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction. (Ref: Para. A32)
- 33. This section of the auditor's report shall describe the respective responsibilities of those in the organization that are responsible for: (Ref: Para. A33–A35)
 - (a) The preparation of the financial statements and for such internal control as they determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
 - (b) Oversight of the financial reporting process, where those responsible for oversight are different from those in (a).
- 34. Where the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework, the description of responsibilities for the financial statements in the auditor's report shall refer to "the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements" or "the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view," as appropriate in the circumstances.

Exposure Draft, Proposed ISA 720 (Revised), The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing or Accompanying Audited Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report Thereon

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

- 35. The auditor's report shall include a section with the heading "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements."
- 36. The auditor's report shall state that:
 - (a) The objectives of the audit are to:
 - (i) Obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
 - (ii) Issue an auditor's report that includes an opinion. (Ref: Para. A36)
 - (b) Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists; and
 - (c) Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
- 37. The auditor's report shall further: (Ref: Para. A37)
 - (a) State that, as part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, the auditor exercises professional judgment and maintains professional skepticism throughout the planning and performance of the audit; and
 - (b) Describe an audit by stating that the auditor's responsibilities are:
 - (i) To identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor's opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
 - (ii) To obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. In circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements, the auditor shall omit the phrase that the auditor's consideration of internal control is not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.
 - (iii) To evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
 - (iv) When the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework, to evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- (c) In circumstances where ISA 600¹⁴ applies, further describe an audit by stating that the auditor's responsibilities in a group audit are:
 - (i) To obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business activities within the group to express an opinion on the group financial statements;
 - (ii) For the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit; and
 - (iii) To remain solely responsible for the auditor's opinion.
- 38. The auditor's report shall also state that the auditor is required to:
 - (a) Communicate with [those charged with governance] regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that the auditor identifies during the audit; and
 - (b) For audits of financial statements of listed entities, provide [those charged with governance] with a statement that the auditor has complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on the auditor's independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Location of the description of the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

- 39. The description of the auditor's responsibilities required by paragraphs 37–38 shall be included within the body of the auditor's report or in an Appendix to the auditor's report. When the auditor's responsibilities are included in an Appendix, the body of the auditor's report shall make reference to the location of that Appendix. (Ref: Para. A38–A39)
- 40. Law, regulation or national auditing standards may expressly permit the auditor to refer to a website of an appropriate authority that contains a description of the auditor's responsibilities. When:
 - (a) That description is not inconsistent with the requirements set out in paragraphs 37–38; and
 - (b) The auditor decides to refer to that website rather than include the description of the auditor's responsibilities in the auditor's report;

the auditor shall include a reference in the auditor's report to clearly indicate where this description is located. (Ref: Para. A38, A40–A41)

Other Reporting Responsibilities

41. If the auditor addresses other reporting responsibilities in the auditor's report on the financial statements that are in addition to the auditor's responsibilities under the ISAs, these other reporting responsibilities shall be clearly differentiated from reporting required by the ISAs. (Ref: Para. A42–A44)

Name of the Engagement Partner

42. The name of the engagement partner's shall be included in the auditor's report for audits of financial statements of listed entities unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure is reasonably expected to lead to a significant security threat to the individual. (Ref: Para. A45)

¹⁴ ISA 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)

Signature of the Auditor

43. The auditor's report shall be signed. (Ref: Para. A46–A47)

Auditor's Address

44. The auditor's report shall name the location in the jurisdiction where the auditor practices.

Date of the Auditor's Report

- 45. The auditor's report shall be dated no earlier than the date on which the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the auditor's opinion on the financial statements, including evidence that: (Ref: Para. A48–A51)
 - (a) All the statements that comprise the financial statements, including the related notes, have been prepared; and
 - (b) Those with the recognized authority have asserted that they have taken responsibility for those financial statements.

Auditor's Report Prescribed by Law or Regulation

- 46. If the auditor is required by law or regulation of a specific jurisdiction to use a specific layout or wording of the auditor's report, the auditor's report shall refer to International Standards on Auditing only if the auditor's report includes, at a minimum, each of the following elements: (Ref: Para. A52–A56)
 - (a) A title.
 - (b) An addressee, as required by the circumstances of the engagement.
 - (c) An Opinion section containing an expression of opinion on the financial statements and a reference to the applicable financial reporting framework used to prepare the financial statements (including identifying the jurisdiction of origin of the financial reporting framework that is not International Financial Reporting Standards or International Public Sector Accounting Standards, see paragraph 26).
 - (d) An identification of the entity's financial statements that have been audited.
 - (e) A statement that the auditor is independent of the entity within the meaning of the [relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and has fulfilled the auditor's other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. If the independence and other ethical responsibilities are established by different sources, then the second part of the statement shall also specify the source of the other relevant ethical requirements.
 - (f) A section that addresses the reporting requirements in proposed ISA 570 (Revised) relating to going concern.
 - (g) Where applicable, a section that includes the information required by proposed ISA 701, or additional information about the audit that is prescribed by law or regulation and that is not inconsistent with the reporting requirements in that ISA. In circumstances where law or regulation either requires or permits the auditor or those charged with governance to prepare a separate report including a description of such information, this section either includes a

Proposed ISA 701, paragraphs 9–11

- description of the key audit matters, or refers to such a description in a report issued by those charged with governance, or in a supplementary report of the auditor. (Ref: Para. A53–A55)
- (h) A section that addresses the reporting requirements in proposed ISA 720 (Revised).
- (i) A description of the responsibilities of those responsible for the preparation of the financial statements.
- (j) A reference to International Standards on Auditing and the law or regulation and a description of the auditor's responsibilities for an audit of the financial statements in a manner that is not inconsistent with paragraphs 36–38.
- (k) For audits of financial statements of listed entities, the name of the engagement partner unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure is reasonably expected to lead to a significant security threat to the individual.
- (I) The auditor's signature.
- (m) The auditor's address.
- (n) The date of the auditor's report.

Auditor's Report for Audits Conducted in Accordance with Both Auditing Standards of a Specific Jurisdiction and International Standards on Auditing

- 47. An auditor may be required to conduct an audit in accordance with the auditing standards of a specific jurisdiction (the "national auditing standards"), but may additionally have complied with the ISAs in the conduct of the audit. If this is the case, the auditor's report may refer to International Standards on Auditing in addition to the national auditing standards, but the auditor shall do so only if: (Ref: Para. A57–A58)
 - (a) There is no conflict between the requirements in the national auditing standards and those in ISAs that would lead the auditor (i) to form a different opinion, or (ii) not to include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph that, in the particular circumstances, is required by ISAs; and
 - (b) The auditor's report includes, at a minimum, each of the elements set out in paragraph 46(a)–(n) above when the auditor uses the layout or wording specified by the national auditing standards. However, reference to "law or regulation" in paragraph 46(j) shall be read as reference to the national auditing standards. The auditor's report shall thereby identify such national auditing standards.
- 48. When the auditor's report refers to both the national auditing standards and International Standards on Auditing, the auditor's report shall identify the jurisdiction of origin of the national auditing standards.

Supplementary Information Presented with the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. A59–A65)

- 49. If supplementary information that is not required by the applicable financial reporting framework is presented with the audited financial statements, the auditor shall evaluate whether, in the auditor's professional judgment, supplementary information is nevertheless an integral part of the financial statements due to either its nature or how it is presented. Where it is an integral part of the financial statements, the supplementary information shall be covered by the auditor's opinion.
- 50. If supplementary information that is not required by the applicable financial reporting framework is not considered an integral part of the audited financial statements, the auditor shall evaluate

whether such supplementary information is presented in a way that sufficiently and clearly differentiates it from the audited financial statements. If this is not the case, then the auditor shall ask management to change how the unaudited supplementary information is presented. If management refuses to do so, the auditor shall identify the unaudited supplementary information and explain in the auditor's report that such supplementary information has not been audited.

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity's Accounting Practices (Ref: Para. 12)

- Management makes a number of judgments about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- A2. Proposed ISA 260 (Revised) contains a discussion of the qualitative aspects of accounting practices. 16 In considering the qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting practices, the auditor may become aware of possible bias in management's judgments. The auditor may conclude that the cumulative effect of a lack of neutrality, together with the effect of uncorrected misstatements, causes the financial statements as a whole to be materially misstated. Indicators of a lack of neutrality that may affect the auditor's evaluation of whether the financial statements as a whole are materially misstated include the following:
 - The selective correction of misstatements brought to management's attention during the audit (for example, correcting misstatements with the effect of increasing reported earnings, but not correcting misstatements that have the effect of decreasing reported earnings).
 - Possible management bias in the making of accounting estimates.
- ISA 540 addresses possible management bias in making accounting estimates. 17 Indicators of possible management bias do not constitute misstatements for purposes of drawing conclusions on the reasonableness of individual accounting estimates. They may, however, affect the auditor's evaluation of whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement.

Disclosure of the Effect of Material Transactions and Events on the Information Conveyed in the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 13(e))

It is common for financial statements prepared in accordance with a general purpose framework to present an entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows. In such circumstances, the auditor evaluates whether the financial statements provide adequate disclosures to enable the intended users to understand the effect of material transactions and events on the entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

Description of the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework (Ref: Para. 15)

As explained in ISA 200, the preparation of the financial statements by management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance requires the inclusion of an adequate description of the applicable financial reporting framework in the financial statements. 18 That description is

Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance, Appendix 2

ISA 540, Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting Estimates, and Related Disclosures, paragraph 21

important because it advises users of the financial statements of the framework on which the financial statements are based.

- A6. A description that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a particular applicable financial reporting framework is appropriate only if the financial statements comply with all the requirements of that framework that are effective during the period covered by the financial statements.
- A7. A description of the applicable financial reporting framework that contains imprecise qualifying or limiting language (for example, "the financial statements are in substantial compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards") is not an adequate description of that framework as it may mislead users of the financial statements.

Reference to More than One Financial Reporting Framework

- A8. In some cases, the financial statements may represent that they are prepared in accordance with two financial reporting frameworks (for example, the national framework and International Financial Reporting Standards). This may be because management is required, or has chosen, to prepare the financial statements in accordance with both frameworks, in which case both are applicable financial reporting frameworks. Such description is appropriate only if the financial statements comply with each of the frameworks individually. To be regarded as being prepared in accordance with both frameworks, the financial statements need to comply with both frameworks simultaneously and without any need for reconciling statements. In practice, simultaneous compliance is unlikely unless the jurisdiction has adopted the other framework (for example, International Financial Reporting Standards) as its own national framework, or has eliminated all barriers to compliance with it.
- A9. Financial statements that are prepared in accordance with one financial reporting framework and that contain a note or supplementary statement reconciling the results to those that would be shown under another framework, are not prepared in accordance with that other framework. This is because the financial statements do not include all the information in the manner required by that other framework.
- A10. The financial statements may, however, be prepared in accordance with one applicable financial reporting framework and, in addition, describe in the notes to the financial statements the extent to which the financial statements comply with another framework (for example, financial statements prepared in accordance with the national framework that also describe the extent to which they comply with International Financial Reporting Standards). Such description is supplementary financial information and, as discussed in paragraph 49, is considered an integral part of the financial statements and, accordingly, is covered by the auditor's opinion.

Form of Opinion (Ref: Para. 18–19)

A11. There may be cases where the financial statements, although prepared in accordance with the requirements of a fair presentation framework, do not achieve fair presentation. Where this is the case, it may be possible for management to include additional disclosures in the financial statements beyond those specifically required by the framework or, in extremely rare circumstances, to depart from a requirement in the framework in order to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements.

¹⁸ ISA 200, paragraphs A2–A3

A12. It will be extremely rare for the auditor to consider financial statements that are prepared in accordance with a compliance framework to be misleading if, in accordance with ISA 210, the auditor determined that the framework is acceptable. 19

Auditor's Report (Ref: Para. 20)

- A13. A written report encompasses reports issued in hard copy and those using an electronic medium.
- A14. The Appendix contains illustrations of auditor's reports on financial statements, incorporating the elements set forth in paragraphs 21–45.

Auditor's Report for Audits Conducted in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing

Title (Ref: Para. 21)

A15. A title indicating the report is the report of an independent auditor, for example, "Independent Auditor's Report," distinguishes the independent auditor's report from reports issued by others.

Addressee (Ref: Para. 22)

A16. Law, regulation or the terms of the engagement may specify to whom the auditor's report is to be addressed in that particular jurisdiction. The auditor's report is normally addressed to those for whom the report is prepared, often either to the shareholders or to those charged with governance of the entity whose financial statements are being audited.

Auditor's Opinion (Ref. Para. 23–27)

Placement of the opinion section

A17. The placement of the Opinion section at the beginning of the auditor's report (as illustrated in the Appendix) makes it more prominent to users of the financial statements.

"Present fairly, in all material respects" or "give a true and fair view"

- A18. The phrases "present fairly, in all material respects," and "give a true and fair view" are regarded as being equivalent. Whether the phrase "present fairly, in all material respects," or the phrase "give a true and fair view" is used in any particular jurisdiction is determined by the law or regulation governing the audit of financial statements in that jurisdiction, or by generally accepted practice in that jurisdiction. Where law or regulation requires the use of different wording, this does not affect the requirement in paragraph 14 of this ISA for the auditor to evaluate the fair presentation of financial statements prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework.
- A19. When the auditor expresses an unmodified opinion, it is not appropriate to use phrases such as "with the foregoing explanation" or "subject to" in relation to the opinion as these suggest a conditional opinion or a weakening or modification of opinion.

Description of the financial statements and the matters they present

A20. The auditor's opinion covers the complete set of financial statements as defined by the applicable financial reporting framework. For example, in the case of many general purpose frameworks, the financial statements include: a balance sheet, an income statement, a statement of changes in

¹⁹ ISA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements, paragraph 6(a)

- equity, a cash flow statement, and related notes, which ordinarily comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. In some jurisdictions, additional information may also be considered to be an integral part of the financial statements.
- A21. In the case of financial statements prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework, the auditor's opinion states that the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, or give a true and fair view of, the matters that the financial statements are designed to present. For example, in the case of financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, these matters are the financial position of the entity as at the end of the period and the entity's financial performance and cash flows for the period then ended.

Description of the applicable financial reporting framework and how it may affect the auditor's opinion

- A22. The identification of the applicable financial reporting framework in the auditor's opinion is intended to advise users of the auditor's report of the context in which the auditor's opinion is expressed; it is not intended to limit the evaluation required in paragraph 14. The applicable financial reporting framework is identified in such terms as:
 - "... in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards" or
 - "... in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Jurisdiction X ..."
- A23. When the applicable financial reporting framework encompasses financial reporting standards and legal or regulatory requirements, the framework is identified in such terms as "... in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of Jurisdiction X Corporations Act." ISA 210 deals with circumstances where there are conflicts between the financial reporting standards and the legislative or regulatory requirements.²⁰
- A24. As indicated in paragraph A8, the financial statements may be prepared in accordance with two financial reporting frameworks, which are therefore both applicable financial reporting frameworks. Accordingly, each framework is considered separately when forming the auditor's opinion on the financial statements, and the auditor's opinion in accordance with paragraphs 24–25 refers to both frameworks as follows:
 - (a) If the financial statements comply with each of the frameworks individually, two opinions are expressed: that is, that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with one of the applicable financial reporting frameworks (for example, the national framework) and an opinion that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the other applicable financial reporting framework (for example, International Financial Reporting Standards). These opinions may be expressed separately or in a single sentence (for example, the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Jurisdiction X and with International Financial Reporting Standards).
 - (b) If the financial statements comply with one of the frameworks but fail to comply with the other framework, an unmodified opinion can be given that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the one framework (for example, the national framework) but a modified opinion given with regard to the other framework (for example, International Financial Reporting Standards) in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised).

-

²⁰ ISA 210, paragraph 18

- A25. As indicated in paragraph A10, the financial statements may represent compliance with the applicable financial reporting framework and, in addition, disclose the extent of compliance with another financial reporting framework. Such supplementary information is covered by the auditor's opinion if it cannot be clearly differentiated from the financial statements (see paragraphs 49–50 and related application material in paragraphs A59–A65). Accordingly,
 - (a) If the disclosure as to the compliance with the other framework is misleading, a modified opinion is expressed in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised).
 - (b) If the disclosure is not misleading, but the auditor judges it to be of such importance that it is fundamental to the users' understanding of the financial statements, an Emphasis of Matter paragraph is added in accordance with proposed ISA 706 (Revised), drawing attention to the disclosure.

Reference to the financial statements that have been audited

- A26. The auditor's report states, for example, that the auditor has audited the financial statements of the entity, which comprise [state the title of each financial statement comprising the complete set of financial statements required by the applicable financial reporting framework, specifying the date or period covered by each financial statement] and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
- A27. When the auditor is aware that the audited financial statements will be included in a document that contains other information, such as an annual report, the auditor may consider, if the form of presentation allows, identifying the page numbers on which the audited financial statements are presented. This helps users to identify the financial statements to which the auditor's report relates.

Basis for Opinion (Ref: Para. 28)

- A28. The reference to the standards used conveys to the users of the auditor's report that the audit has been conducted in accordance with established standards.
- A29. ISA 200 indicates that the auditor shall not represent compliance with ISAs in the auditor's report unless the auditor has complied with the requirements of ISA 200 and all other ISAs relevant to the audit. This includes complying with relevant ethical requirements, including those pertaining to independence, relating to financial statement audit engagements. Although independence requirements in a group audit situation may be complex, ISA 600²² establishes requirements for auditors in performing work on the financial information of a component for a group audit, including those situations where the component auditor does not meet the independence requirements that are relevant to the group audit. However, the ISAs do not establish specific independence or ethical requirements for auditors, or component auditors, and thus do not extend, or otherwise override, the independence requirements of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) or other ethical requirements to which the group engagement team is subject, nor do the ISAs require that the component auditor in all cases be subject to the same specific independence rules applicable to the group engagement team.

²¹ ISA 200, paragraphs 14 and 20

²² ISA 600, paragraphs 19–20

Key Audit Matters (Ref: Para. 30)

A30. ISA 210 requires the auditor to agree the terms of the audit engagement with management and those charged with governance, as appropriate, and notes that the roles of management and those charged with governance in agreeing the terms of the audit engagement for the entity depend on the governance arrangements of the entity and relevant law or regulation. When agreeing the terms of engagement, if the auditor of an entity other than a listed entity intends to communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report, ISA 210 requires the auditor to acknowledge this in the terms of the audit engagement in order to inform management and those charged with governance of the auditor's intent. 4

Considerations specific to public sector entities

A31. Public sector entities may be significant due to size, complexity or public interest aspects, and may have a wide range of stakeholders. In such cases, an auditor of such an entity may be required by law or regulation, or otherwise intend to communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report.

Responsibilities for the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 32–34)

- A32. ISA 200 explains the premise, relating to the responsibilities of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, on which an audit in accordance with ISAs is conducted. Management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance accept responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, including, where relevant, their fair presentation. Management also accepts responsibility for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The description of management's responsibilities in the auditor's report includes reference to both responsibilities as it helps to explain to users the premise on which an audit is conducted. Proposed ISA 260 (Revised) uses the term those charged with governance to describe the person(s) or organization(s) with responsibility for overseeing the entity, and provides a discussion about the diversity of governance structures across jurisdictions and by entity.
- A33. There may be circumstances when it is appropriate for the auditor to add to the descriptions of the responsibilities of management and those charged with governance in paragraph 33 to reflect additional responsibilities that are relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in the context of the particular jurisdiction or the nature of the entity.
- A34. Paragraph 33 is consistent with the form in which the responsibilities are agreed in the engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement, as required by ISA 210. ²⁶ ISA 210 provides some flexibility by explaining that, if law or regulation prescribes the responsibilities of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance in relation to financial reporting, the auditor may determine that the law or regulation includes responsibilities that, in the auditor's judgment, are equivalent in effect to those set out in ISA 210. For such responsibilities that are equivalent, the auditor may use the wording of the law or regulation to describe them in the engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement. In such cases, this wording may also be used in the

lSA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements, paragraphs 9 and A21

²⁴ ISA 210, paragraphs 10(e) and A23a

²⁵ ISA 200, paragraph 13(j)

²⁶ ISA 210, paragraph 6(b)(i)–(ii)

auditor's report to describe the responsibilities as required by paragraph 33. In other circumstances, including where the auditor decides not to use the wording of law or regulation as incorporated in the engagement letter; the wording of paragraph 33 is used. Where not prohibited, the auditor may elect to refer to a more detailed description of these responsibilities by including a reference to where such information may be obtained (for example, in the annual report of the entity or a website of an appropriate authority).

A35. In some jurisdictions, law or regulation prescribing management's responsibilities may specifically refer to a responsibility for the adequacy of accounting books and records, or accounting system. As books, records and systems are an integral part of internal control (as defined in ISA 315 (Revised)²⁷), the descriptions in ISA 210 and in paragraph 33 do not make specific reference to them.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 35-40)

A36. The auditor's report explains that the objective of an audit is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement to contrast it to management's responsibilities for the preparation for the financial statements.

Relocation of the description of the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (Ref: Para. 39–40)

- A37. The description of the auditor's responsibilities as required by paragraphs 37(b) and (c) of this ISA may be tailored to reflect the specific nature of the entity (for example, when the auditor's report addresses consolidated financial statements).
- A38. Relocating certain information to an Appendix to the auditor's report, or a website of an appropriate authority, may be a useful way of streamlining the content of the auditor's report. However, because the description of the auditor's responsibilities contains information that is necessary to inform users' expectations of an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs, reference is to be made to where such information can be accessed.
- A39. For example, paragraph 39 permits the auditor to relocate the statements required by paragraphs 37–38 describing the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements to an Appendix to the auditor's report, provided that appropriate reference is made within the body of the auditor's report to the location of the Appendix. The following is an illustration of how such a reference to an Appendix could be made in the auditor's report:

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

-

²⁷ ISA 315 (Revised), Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement through Understanding the Entity and Its Environment, paragraph 4(c)

A further discussion of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in Appendix X of this auditor's report, which is located at [indicate page number or other reference to location].

- A40. The auditor may only refer to the description of the auditor's responsibilities located on a website of an appropriate authority if the requirements of paragraph 40 are met. The information included on the website may describe the auditor's work or the audit process in accordance with ISAs more broadly, but cannot be inconsistent with the description required by paragraphs 37–38 of this ISA.
- A41. An appropriate authority could be a national auditing standard setter, regulator, or an audit oversight body. Such organizations are well-placed to ensure the accuracy, completeness and continued availability of the standardized information. It would not be appropriate for the auditor to maintain such a website. The following is an illustration of how such a reference to a website could be made in the auditor's report:

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements that is part of this auditor's report is located at [*Organization's*] website at: [website link].

Other Reporting Responsibilities (Ref: Para. 41)

- A42. In some jurisdictions, the auditor may have additional responsibilities to report on other matters that are supplementary to the auditor's responsibilities under the ISAs. For example, the auditor may be asked to report certain matters if they come to the auditor's attention during the course of the audit of the financial statements. Alternatively, the auditor may be asked to perform and report on additional specified procedures, or to express an opinion on specific matters, such as the adequacy of accounting books and records, internal control over financial reporting or other information. Auditing standards in the specific jurisdiction often provide guidance on the auditor's responsibilities with respect to specific additional reporting responsibilities in that jurisdiction.
- A43. In some cases, the relevant law or regulation may require or permit the auditor to report on these other responsibilities within the auditor's report on the financial statements. In other cases, the auditor may be required or permitted to report on them in a separate report.
- A44. Distinguishing other reporting responsibilities from the auditor's responsibilities under the ISAs may be done in different ways, for example:
 - By including a separate section in the auditor's report with a heading "Report on Other Legal
 and Regulatory Requirements," or otherwise as appropriate to the content of the section. In
 such cases, the auditor may consider it necessary to include a heading "Report on the Audit
 of the Financial Statements."

• In the same section where reporting on the matter in accordance with ISAs is presented, with wording in the auditor's report that clearly distinguishes between reporting required by the ISAs and other reporting required by law or regulation.

Name of the Engagement Partner (Ref: Para. 42)

A45. Law or regulation may require that the name of the engagement partner responsible for audits of financial statements of entities other than listed entities be included in the auditor's report.

Signature of the Auditor (Ref: Para. 43)

- A46. The auditor's signature is either in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction. In addition to the auditor's signature, in certain jurisdictions, the auditor may be required to declare in the auditor's report the auditor's professional accountancy designation or the fact that the auditor or firm, as appropriate, has been recognized by the appropriate licensing authority in that jurisdiction.
- A47. In some cases, law or regulation may allow for the use of electronic signatures in the auditor's report.

Date of the Auditor's Report (Ref: Para. 45)

- A48. The date of the auditor's report informs the user of the auditor's report that the auditor has considered the effect of events and transactions of which the auditor became aware and that occurred up to that date. The auditor's responsibility for events and transactions after the date of the auditor's report is addressed in ISA 560.²⁸
- A49. Since the auditor's opinion is provided on the financial statements and the financial statements are the responsibility of management, the auditor is not in a position to conclude that sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained until evidence is obtained that all the statements that comprise the financial statements, including the related notes, have been prepared and management has accepted responsibility for them.
- A50. In some jurisdictions, the law or regulation identifies the individuals or bodies (for example, the directors) that are responsible for concluding that all the statements that comprise the financial statements, including the related notes, have been prepared, and specifies the necessary approval process. In such cases, evidence is obtained of that approval before dating the report on the financial statements. In other jurisdictions, however, the approval process is not prescribed in law or regulation. In such cases, the procedures the entity follows in preparing and finalizing its financial statements in view of its management and governance structures are considered in order to identify the individuals or body with the authority to conclude that all the statements that comprise the financial statements, including the related notes, have been prepared. In some cases, law or regulation identifies the point in the financial statement reporting process at which the audit is expected to be complete.
- A51. In some jurisdictions, final approval of the financial statements by shareholders is required before the financial statements are issued publicly. In these jurisdictions, final approval by shareholders is not necessary for the auditor to conclude that sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained. The date of approval of the financial statements for purposes of ISAs is the earlier date

.

²⁸ ISA 560, Subsequent Events, paragraphs 10–17

on which those with the recognized authority determine that all the statements that comprise the financial statements, including the related notes, have been prepared and that those with the recognized authority have asserted that they have taken responsibility for them.

Auditor's Report Prescribed by Law or Regulation (Ref: Para. 46)

- A52. ISA 200 explains that the auditor may be required to comply with legal or regulatory requirements in addition to ISAs. ²⁹ Where this is the case, the auditor may be obliged to use a layout or wording in the auditor's report that differs from that described in paragraphs 20–45 of this ISA. As explained in paragraph 4, consistency in the auditor's report, when the audit has been conducted in accordance with ISAs, promotes credibility in the global marketplace by making more readily identifiable those audits that have been conducted in accordance with globally recognized standards. When the differences between the legal or regulatory requirements and ISAs relate only to the layout and wording of the auditor's report and, at a minimum, each of the elements identified in paragraph 46(a)–(n) are included in the auditor's report, the auditor's report may refer to International Standards on Auditing. Accordingly, in such circumstances the auditor is considered to have complied with the requirements of ISAs, even when the layout and wording used in the auditor's report are specified by legal or regulatory reporting requirements. Where specific requirements in a particular jurisdiction do not conflict with ISAs, adoption of the layout and wording, including the use of the titles of section headings, used in this ISA assists users of the auditor's report in more readily recognizing the auditor's report as a report of an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs.
- A53. Law or regulation may require the auditor to provide additional information about the audit that was performed, which may include information that is consistent with the objectives of proposed ISA 701, or may prescribe the nature and extent of communication about such matters. Alternatively, law or regulation may require those charged with governance (for example, an entity's Board of Directors or Audit Committee) to issue a report including a description of certain matters communicated to them by the auditor in connection with their oversight responsibilities. The auditor may then be required to report by exception when the report of those charged with governance does not appropriately address matters communicated by the auditor to those charged with governance, and to remedy such a deficiency by communicating the matter in the auditor's report.
- A54. The ISAs do not override law or regulation that governs an audit of financial statements. When proposed ISA 701 is applicable, reference can only be made to ISAs in the auditor's report if, in applying the law or regulation, the section required by paragraph 46(g) of this ISA is not inconsistent with the reporting requirements in proposed ISA 701. In such circumstances, the auditor may need to tailor certain aspects of the communication of key audit matters in the auditor's report required by proposed ISA 701, for example by:
 - Modifying the heading "Key Audit Matters", if law or regulation prescribes a specific heading;
 - Explaining why the information required by law or regulation is being provided in the auditor's report, for example by making a reference to the relevant law or regulation and describing how that information relates to the key audit matters;
 - Where applicable, including a cross-reference in the auditor's report to a description of the matter included in the report of those charged with governance; or

-

²⁹ ISA 200, paragraph A55

- Where law or regulation prescribes the nature and extent of the description, supplementing
 the prescribed information to achieve an overall description of each key audit matter that is
 consistent with the requirement of paragraph 10 of proposed ISA 701.
- A55. ISA 210 deals with circumstances where law or regulation of the relevant jurisdiction prescribes the layout or wording of the auditor's report in terms that are significantly different from the requirements of ISAs, which in particular includes the auditor's opinion. In these circumstances, ISA 210 requires the auditor to evaluate:
 - (a) Whether users might misunderstand the assurance obtained from the audit of the financial statements and, if so,
 - (b) Whether additional explanation in the auditor's report can mitigate possible misunderstanding.

If the auditor concludes that additional explanation in the auditor's report cannot mitigate possible misunderstanding, ISA 210 requires the auditor not to accept the audit engagement, unless required by law or regulation to do so. In accordance with ISA 210, an audit conducted in accordance with such law or regulation does not comply with ISAs. Accordingly, the auditor does not include any reference in the auditor's report to the audit having been conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.³⁰

Considerations specific to public sector entities

A56. Auditors of public sector entities may also have the ability according to law or regulation to report publicly on certain matters, either in the auditor's report or in a supplementary report, which may include information that is consistent with the objectives of proposed ISA 701. In such circumstances, the auditor may need to tailor certain aspects of the communication of key audit matters in the auditor's report required by proposed ISA 701 or include a reference in the auditor's report to a description of the matter in the supplementary report.

Auditor's Report for Audits Conducted in Accordance with Both Auditing Standards of a Specific Jurisdiction and International Standards on Auditing (Ref: Para. 47)

- A57. The auditor may refer in the auditor's report to the audit having been conducted in accordance with both International Standards on Auditing as well as the national auditing standards when, in addition to complying with the relevant national auditing standards, the auditor complies with each of the ISAs relevant to the audit.³¹
- A58. A reference to both International Standards on Auditing and the national auditing standards is not appropriate if there is a conflict between the requirements in ISAs and those in the national auditing standards that would lead the auditor to form a different opinion or not to include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph that, in the particular circumstances, is required by ISAs. In such a case, the auditor's report refers only to the auditing standards (either International Standards on Auditing or the national auditing standards) in accordance with which the auditor's report has been prepared.

³⁰ ISA 210, paragraph 21

³¹ ISA 200, paragraph A56

Supplementary Information Presented with the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 49–50)

- A59. In some circumstances, the entity may be required by law, regulation or standards, or may voluntarily choose, to present together with the financial statements supplementary information that is not required by the applicable financial reporting framework. For example, supplementary information might be presented to enhance a user's understanding of the applicable financial reporting framework or to provide further explanation of specific financial statement items. Such information is normally presented in either supplementary schedules or as additional notes.
- A60. Paragraph 49 of this ISA explains that the auditor's opinion covers supplementary information that is an integral part of the financial statements because of its nature and how it is presented. This evaluation is a matter of professional judgment. To illustrate:
 - When the notes to the financial statements include an explanation or the reconciliation of the
 extent to which the financial statements comply with another financial reporting framework,
 the auditor may consider this to be supplementary information that cannot be clearly
 differentiated from the financial statements. The auditor's opinion would also cover notes or
 supplementary schedules that are cross-referenced from the financial statements.
 - When an additional profit and loss account that discloses specific items of expenditure is
 disclosed as a separate schedule included as an Appendix to the financial statements, the
 auditor may consider this to be supplementary information that can be clearly differentiated
 from the financial statements.
- A61. Supplementary information that is covered by the auditor's opinion does not need to be specifically referred to in the auditor's report when the reference to the notes in the description of the statements that comprise the financial statements in the auditor's report is sufficient.
- A62. Law or regulation may not require that the supplementary information be audited, and management may decide not to ask the auditor to include the supplementary information within the scope of the audit of the financial statements.
- A63. The auditor's evaluation whether unaudited supplementary information is presented in a manner that could be construed as being covered by the auditor's opinion includes, for example, where that information is presented in relation to the financial statements and any audited supplementary information, and whether it is clearly labeled as "unaudited."
- A64. Management could change the presentation of unaudited supplementary information that could be construed as being covered by the auditor's opinion, for example, by:
 - Removing any cross-references from the financial statements to unaudited supplementary schedules or unaudited notes so that the demarcation between the audited and unaudited information is sufficiently clear.
 - Placing the unaudited supplementary information outside of the financial statements or, if that
 is not possible in the circumstances, at a minimum placing the unaudited notes together at
 the end of the required notes to the financial statements and clearly labeling them as
 unaudited. Unaudited notes that are intermingled with the audited notes can be
 misinterpreted as being audited.
- A65. The fact that supplementary information is unaudited does not relieve the auditor of the responsibility to read that information to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial

statements. The auditor's responsibilities with respect to unaudited supplementary information are consistent with those described in proposed ISA 720 (Revised).

.

Conforming amendments to this paragraph were proposed in the Exposure Draft of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). The IAASB will consider feedback from that consultation in determining whether this change continues to be appropriate as it finalizes both proposed ISA 700 (Revised) and proposed ISA 720 (Revised).

Appendix

(Ref: Para. A14)

Illustrations of Independent Auditor's Reports on Financial Statements

- Illustration 1: An auditor's report on financial statements of a listed entity prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework
- Illustration 2: An auditor's report on consolidated financial statements of a listed entity prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework
- Illustration 3: An auditor's report on financial statements of an entity other than a listed entity prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework (where reference is made to material that is located on a website of an appropriate authority)
- Illustration 4: An auditor's report on financial statements of an entity other than a listed entity prepared in accordance with a general purpose compliance framework

<u>Illustration 1 – Auditor's Report on Financial Statements of a Listed Entity Prepared in Accordance</u> with a Fair Presentation Framework

For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a listed entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit conducted in accordance with ISA 600.
- The financial statements are prepared for a general purpose by management of the entity in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the financial statements in ISA 210.
- The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., "clean") opinion is appropriate based on the audit evidence obtained.
- Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with proposed ISA 701.
- No material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern has been identified in accordance with proposed ISA 570.
- In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.

Paragraph references below are to the relevant requirements in this ISA.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (para. 21)

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee] (para. 22)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements³²

Opinion (paras. 23–27)

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or *give a true and fair view of*) the financial position of ABC Company (the Company) as at December 31, 20X1, and (*of*) its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the financial statements of the Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion (para. 28)

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Company within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

Key Audit Matters (para. 30 and paras. 9–11 of proposed ISA 701)

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements. Key audit matters are selected from the matters communicated with [those charged with governance], but are not intended to represent all matters that were discussed with them. Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. Our opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters described below, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

The two specific topics and content presented below are purely for illustrative purposes. This section would be tailored to the facts and circumstances of the individual audit engagement and the entity. Accordingly, the IAASB has intentionally drafted these examples in a manner that illustrates that Key Audit Matters will vary in terms of the number and selection of topics addressed and the nature in which they may be described, and are intended to be consistent with the disclosures in the entity's financial statements.

Valuation of Financial Instruments

The Company's disclosures about its structured financial instruments are included in Note 5. The Company's investments in structured financial instruments represent [x%] of the total amount of its financial instruments. Because the valuation of the Company's structured financial instruments is not based on quoted prices in active markets, there is significant measurement uncertainty involved in this valuation. As a result, the valuation of these instruments was significant to our audit. The Company has determined it is necessary to use an entity-developed model to value these instruments, due to their unique structure and terms. We challenged management's rationale for using an entity-developed model, and discussed this with [those charged with governance], and we concluded the use of such a model was appropriate. Our audit procedures also included, among others, testing management's controls related to the development and calibration of the model and confirming that management had determined it was not necessary to make any adjustments to the output of the model to reflect the assumptions that marketplace participants would use in similar circumstances.

Revenue Recognition Relating to Long-Term Contracts

The terms and conditions of the Company's long-term contracts in its [name of segmenf] affect the revenue that the Company recognizes in a period, and the revenue from such contracts represents a material amount of the Company's total revenue. The process to measure the amount of revenue to recognize in the [name of industry], including the determination of the appropriate timing of recognition, involves significant management judgment. We identified revenue recognition of long-term contracts as a significant risk requiring special audit consideration. This is because side agreements may exist that effectively amend the original contracts, and such side agreements may be inadvertently unrecorded or deliberately concealed and therefore present a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. In addition to testing the controls the Company has put in place over its process to enter into and record long-term contracts and other audit procedures, we considered it necessary to confirm the terms of these contracts directly with customers and testing journal entries made by management related to revenue recognition. Based on the audit procedures performed, we did not find evidence of the existence of side agreements. The Company's disclosures about revenue recognition are included in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 1, as well as Note 4.

Going Concern (para. 29 and paras. 19–25 of proposed ISA 570 (Revised))

The Company's financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting. The use of this basis of accounting is appropriate unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. As part of our audit of the financial statements, we

have concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Company's financial statements is appropriate.

Management has not identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, and accordingly none is disclosed in the financial statements. Based on our audit of the financial statements, we also have not identified such a material uncertainty. However, neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Other Information (para. 31)

[The illustrative wording for this section is subject to the IAASB's finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). The content of this section may include, among other matters: (a) a description of the auditor's responsibilities with respect to other information; (b) identification of the document(s) available at the date of the auditor's report that contain the other information to which the auditor's responsibilities apply; (c) a statement addressing the outcome of the auditor's work on the other information; and (d) a statement that the auditor has not audited or reviewed the other information and, accordingly, does not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion on it.]

Responsibilities of [Management³³ and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Financial Statements (paras. 32–34)

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with IFRSs,³⁴ and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. [*Those charged with governance*] are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (paras. 35–40)

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

The shaded material below can be located in an Appendix to the auditor's report (see paragraph 39 of this ISA). When law, regulation or national auditing standards expressly permits, reference can be made to a website of an appropriate authority that contains the description of the auditor's responsibilities, rather than including this material in the auditor's report (see paragraph 40 of this ISA).

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the planning and performance of the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit

3

Throughout the illustrative auditor's reports in the Proposed ISAs, the term management may need to be replaced by another term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction. For example, those charged with governance, rather than management, may have these responsibilities.

Where management's responsibility is to prepare financial statements that give a true and fair view, this may read: "Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs, and for such ..."

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.³⁵
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We are required to communicate with [those charged with governance] regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We are also required to provide [those charged with governance] with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (para. 41)

[The form and content of this section of the auditor's report would vary depending on the nature of the auditor's other reporting responsibilities prescribed by local law, regulation, or national auditing standards. Depending on the matters addressed by other law, regulation or national auditing standards, national standard setters may choose to combine reporting on these matters with reporting as required by the ISAs (shown in the Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements section), with wording in the auditor's report that clearly distinguishes between reporting required by the ISAs and other reporting required by law or regulation.]

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name]. (para. 42)

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction] (para. 43)

[Auditor Address] (para. 44)

[Date] (para. 45)

This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.

<u>Illustration 2 – Auditor's Report on Consolidated Financial Statements of a Listed Entity Prepared in</u> Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework

For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of a listed entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is a group audit of an entity with subsidiaries conducted in accordance with ISA 600.
- The consolidated financial statements are prepared for a general purpose by management of the entity in accordance with IFRSs.
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements in ISA 210.
- The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., "clean") opinion is appropriate based on the audit evidence obtained.
- Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with proposed ISA 701.
- No material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern has been identified in accordance with proposed ISA 570.
- In addition to the audit of the consolidated financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements³⁶

Opinion

Opinion .

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or give a true and fair view of) the consolidated financial position of ABC Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) their consolidated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Group, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Group within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate

The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements. Key audit matters are selected from the matters communicated with [those charged with governance], but are not intended to represent all matters that were discussed with them. Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters described below, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

The four specific topics and content presented below are purely for illustrative purposes. This section would be tailored to the facts and circumstances of the individual audit engagement and the entity. Accordingly, the IAASB has intentionally drafted these examples in a manner that illustrates that Key Audit Matters will vary in terms of the number and selection of topics addressed and the nature in which they may be described, and are intended to be consistent with the disclosures in the entity's consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill

Under IFRSs, the Group is required to annually test the amount of goodwill for impairment. This annual impairment test was significant to our audit because the assessment process is complex and highly judgmental and is based on assumptions that are affected by expected future market or economic conditions, particularly those in [Countries X and Y]. As a result, our audit procedures included, among others, using a valuation expert to assist us in evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used by the Group, in particular those relating to the forecasted revenue growth and profit margins for [name of business lines]. We also focused on the adequacy of the Group's disclosures about those assumptions to which the outcome of the impairment test is most sensitive, that is, those that have the most significant effect on the determination of the recoverable amount of goodwill. The Group's disclosures about goodwill are included in Note 3, which specifically explains that small changes in the key assumptions used could give rise to an impairment of the goodwill balance in the future.

Valuation of Financial Instruments

The Group's disclosures about its structured financial instruments are included in Note 5. The Group's investments in structured financial instruments represent [x%] of the total amount of its financial instruments. Because the valuation of the Group's structured financial instruments is not based on quoted prices in active markets, there is significant measurement uncertainty involved in this valuation. As a result, the valuation of these instruments was significant to our audit. The Group has determined it is necessary to use an entity-developed model to value these instruments, due to their unique structure and terms. We challenged management's rationale for using an entity-developed model, and discussed this with $[those\ charged\ with\ governance]$, and we concluded the use of such a model was appropriate. Our audit procedures also included, among others, testing management's controls related to the development and calibration of the model and confirming that management had determined it was not necessary to make any adjustments to the output of the model to reflect the assumptions that marketplace participants would use in similar circumstances.

Acquisition of XYZ Business

As described in Note 2, in December 20X1, the Group completed the acquisition of XYZ Business. XYZ Business was a division of a large private company. As of December 31, 20X1 the Group has completed the

initial acquisition accounting on a preliminary basis. The Group will finalize the initial acquisition accounting during 20X2, and the amounts recorded as of December 31, 20X1 could change. We focused on this transaction because it is material to the consolidated financial statements as a whole and the fact that values had not previously been assigned to the division as a standalone operation. In addition, determining the assumptions that underlie the initial acquisition accounting and the useful lives associated with the acquired intangible assets involves significant management judgment given the nature of the [name of industry].

Revenue Recognition Relating to Long-Term Contracts

The terms and conditions of the Group's long-term contracts in its [name of segment] affect the revenue that the Group recognizes in a period, and the revenue from such contracts represents a material amount of the Group's total revenue. The process to measure the amount of revenue to recognize in the [name of industry], including the determination of the appropriate timing of recognition, involves significant management judgment. We identified revenue recognition of long-term contracts as a significant risk requiring special audit consideration. This is because side agreements may exist that effectively amend the original contracts, and such side agreements may be inadvertently unrecorded or deliberately concealed and therefore present a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. In addition to testing the controls the Group has put in place over its process to enter into and record long-term contracts and other audit procedures, we considered it necessary to confirm the terms of these contracts directly with customers and testing journal entries made by management related to revenue recognition. Based on the audit procedures performed, we did not find evidence of the existence of side agreements. The Group's disclosures about revenue recognition are included in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 1, as well as Note 4.

Going Concern

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting. The use of this basis of accounting is appropriate unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. As part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we have concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements is appropriate.

Management has not identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, and accordingly none is disclosed in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Based on our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group, we also have not identified such a material uncertainty. However, neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Other Information

[The illustrative wording for this section is subject to the IAASB's finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). The content of this section may include, among other matters: (a) a description of the auditor's responsibilities with respect to other information; (b) identification of the document(s) available at the date of the auditor's report that contain the other information to which the auditor's responsibilities apply; (c) a statement addressing the outcome of the auditor's work on the other information; and (d) a statement that the auditor has not audited or reviewed the other information and, accordingly, does not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion on it.]

Responsibilities of [Management³⁷ and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs,³⁸ and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. [*Those charged with governance*] are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

The shaded material below can be located in an Appendix to the auditor's report (see paragraph 39 of this ISA). When law, regulation or national auditing standards expressly permits, reference can be made to a website of an appropriate authority that contains the description of the auditor's responsibilities, rather than including this material in the auditor's report (see paragraph 40 of this ISA).

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the planning and performance of the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
 that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
 effectiveness of the entity's internal control.³⁹
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction

Where management's responsibility is to prepare financial statements that give a true and fair view, this may read: "Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs, and for such ..."

This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has responsibility to issue an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the consolidated financial statements.

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We are required to communicate with [those charged with governance] regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We are also required to provide [those charged with governance] with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1.]

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

Illustration 3 – Auditor's Report on Financial Statements of an Entity Other than a Listed Entity Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework

For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than a listed entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit conducted in accordance with ISA 600.
- The financial statements are prepared for a general purpose by management of the entity in accordance with IFRSs.
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the financial statements in ISA 210.
- The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., "clean") opinion is appropriate based on the audit evidence obtained.
- No material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern has been identified in accordance with proposed ISA 570.
- The auditor is not required, and otherwise has not decided, to include key audit matters in accordance with proposed ISA 701.
- No other information is included with audited financial statements (i.e., proposed ISA 720 (Revised) does not apply).
- The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law.
- The auditor elects to refer to the description of the auditor's responsibility included on a website of an appropriate authority.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or *give a true and fair view of*) the financial position of ABC Company (the Company) as at December 31, 20X1, and (*of*) its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the financial statements of the Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Company within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Going Concern

The Company's financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting. The use of this basis of accounting is appropriate unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. As part of our audit of the financial statements, we have concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Company's financial statements is appropriate.

Management has not identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, and accordingly none is disclosed in the financial statements. Based on our audit of the financial statements, we also have not identified such a material uncertainty. However, neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Responsibilities of [Management⁴⁰ and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, ⁴¹ and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. [*Those charged with governance*] are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements that is part of this auditor's report is located at [Organization's] website at: [website link].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction

Where management's responsibility is to prepare financial statements that give a true and fair view, this may read: "Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs, and for such..."

Illustration 4 – Auditor's Report on Financial Statements of an Entity Other than a Listed Entity Prepared in Accordance with a General Purpose Compliance Framework

For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than a listed entity required by law or regulation. The audit is not a group audit conducted in accordance with ISA 600.
- The financial statements are prepared for a general purpose by management of the entity in accordance with the Financial Reporting Framework (XYZ Law) of Jurisdiction X (that is, a financial reporting framework, encompassing law or regulation, designed to meet the common financial information needs of a wide range of users, but which is not a fair presentation framework).
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the financial statements in ISA 210.
- The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., "clean") opinion is appropriate based on the audit evidence obtained.
- No material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern has been identified in accordance with proposed ISA 570.
- The auditor is not required, and otherwise has not decided, to include key audit matters in accordance with proposed ISA 701.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

[Appropriate Addressee]

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of ABC Company (the Company) are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with XYZ Law of Jurisdiction X.

We have audited the financial statements of the Company, which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 20X1, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Company within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those relevant ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Going Concern

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 570 (Revised) – see Illustration 1]

Other Information

[The illustrative wording for this section is subject to the IAASB's finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). The content of this section may include, among other matters: (a) a description of the auditor's responsibilities

with respect to other information; (b) identification of the document(s) available at the date of the auditor's report that contain the other information to which the auditor's responsibilities apply; (c) a statement addressing the outcome of the auditor's work on the other information; and (d) a statement that the auditor has not audited or reviewed the other information and, accordingly, does not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion on it.]

Responsibilities of [Management⁴² and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with XYZ Law of Jurisdiction X, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. [Those charged with governance] are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

The shaded material below can be located in an Appendix to the auditor's report (see paragraph 39 of this ISA). When law, regulation or national auditing standards expressly permits, reference can be made to a website of an appropriate authority that contains the description of the auditor's responsibilities, rather than including this material in the auditor's report (see paragraph 40 of this ISA).

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the planning and performance of the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.⁴³
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

We are required to communicate with [those charged with governance] regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

_

⁴² Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction

This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has responsibility to issue an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.

PROPOSED ISA 700 (REVISED), FORMING AN OPINION AND REPORTING ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

PROPOSED INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON AUDITING (ISA) 701

COMMUNICATING KEY AUDIT MATTERS IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

(Effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after date])

CONTENTS

	Paragraph
Introduction	
Scope of this ISA	1–4
Effective Date	5
Objectives	6
Definition	7
Requirements	
Determining Key Audit Matters	8
Communicating Key Audit Matters	9–12
Circumstances in which the Auditor Has Determined There Are No Key Audit Matters	13
Documentation	14
Application and Other Explanatory Material	
Determining Key Audit Matters	A1-A24
Communicating Key Audit Matters	A25-A46
Circumstances in which the Auditor Has Determined There Are No Key Audit Matters	A47-A48
Documentation	A49

Proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report, should be read in conjunction with ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing.

Scope of this ISA

- 1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's responsibility to communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report.
- 2. Communicating key audit matters provides additional information to users of the financial statements to assist them in understanding those matters that, in the auditor's professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period. Communicating key audit matters may also assist users of the financial statements in understanding the entity and areas of significant management judgment in the audited financial statements, as such matters are areas of focus in performing the audit.
- 3. The communication of key audit matters in the auditor's report may also provide users of the financial statements a basis to further engage with management and those charged with governance about certain matters relating to the entity and the audited financial statements.
- 4. This ISA applies to audits of complete sets of general purpose financial statements of listed entities. It is intended to address both the auditor's judgment as to what to communicate in the auditor's report and the form and content of such communication. This ISA also applies when auditors of financial statements of entities other than listed entities communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report.

Effective Date

5. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after date].

Objectives

6. The objectives of the auditor are to determine key audit matters and, having formed an opinion on the financial statements, communicate those matters by describing them in the auditor's report.

Definition

7. For purposes of the ISAs, the following term has the meaning attributed below:

Key audit matters—Those matters that, in the auditor's professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters are selected from matters communicated with those charged with governance.

Requirements

Determining Key Audit Matters

- 8. The auditor shall determine which of the matters communicated with those charged with governance are the key audit matters. In making this determination, the auditor shall take into account areas of significant auditor attention in performing the audit, including: (Ref: Para. A1–A14, A24)
 - (a) Areas identified as significant risks in accordance with ISA 315 (Revised)¹ or involving significant auditor judgment. (Ref: Para. A15–A19)
 - (b) Areas in which the auditor encountered significant difficulty during the audit, including with respect to obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence. (Ref: Para. A20–A21)
 - (c) Circumstances that required significant modification of the auditor's planned approach to the audit, including as a result of the identification of a significant deficiency in internal control. (Ref: Para. A22–A23)

Communicating Key Audit Matters

- 9. The auditor shall communicate the key audit matters determined in accordance with paragraph 8 in a separate section of the auditor's report under the heading "Key Audit Matters." The auditor's report shall state that:
 - (a) Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditor's professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements [of the current period];
 - (b) Key audit matters are selected from matters communicated with [those charged with governance], but are not intended to represent all matters that were discussed with them;
 - (c) The auditor's procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of the audit of the financial statements as a whole; and
 - (d) The auditor's opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters, and the auditor does not express an opinion on these individual matters. (Ref: Para. A25–A29)
- 10. The auditor shall describe each key audit matter in the Key Audit Matters section using an appropriate subheading, except in the circumstances explained in paragraph 11. The description of each key audit matter shall include: (Ref: Para. A30)
 - (a) An explanation of why the auditor considered the matter to be one of most significance in the audit and, to the extent the auditor considers it necessary as part of this explanation, its effect on the audit; and (Ref: Para. A31–A41)
 - (b) A reference to the related disclosure(s), if any, in the financial statements. (Ref: Para. A42–A43)

ISA 315 (Revised), Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement through Understanding the Entity and Its Environment

Interaction between Descriptions of Key Audit Matters and Other Elements Required to Be Included in the Auditor's Report

- 11. A matter giving rise to a qualified or adverse opinion in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised),² or the existence of a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern (hereinafter referred to as "material uncertainty") in accordance with proposed ISA 570 (Revised),³ is by its nature a key audit matter. However, the auditor shall:
 - (a) Report on these matter(s) in accordance with the applicable ISA(s);
 - (b) Not describe these matter(s) in the Key Audit Matters section of the auditor's report; and
 - (c) Include a reference to the Basis for Qualified (or Adverse) Opinion or the Going Concern section(s) in the introductory language of the Key Audit Matters section. (Ref: Para. A44–A45)

Communication with Those Charged with Governance

12. The auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance those matters the auditor has determined are the key audit matters to be included in the auditor's report. (Ref: Para. A46)

Circumstances in which the Auditor Has Determined There Are No Key Audit Matters

- 13. If the auditor determines that there are no key audit matters to communicate in the auditor's report, the auditor shall:
 - (a) Discuss this conclusion with the engagement quality control reviewer, for those engagements where one has been appointed;
 - (b) Communicate this conclusion with those charged with governance; and
 - (c) Explain in the auditor's report that this section of the auditor's report is intended to describe the matters communicated with those charged with governance that the auditor has determined, in the auditor's professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements and the auditor has determined that there are no matters to report. (Ref: Para. A47–A48)

Documentation

14. The auditor shall document the matters that will be communicated as key audit matters, and the significant professional judgments made in reaching this determination, in accordance with ISA 230.⁴ This includes, where applicable, the rationale for the auditor's determination that there are no key audit matters to communicate in the auditor's report. (Ref: Para. A49)

-

Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report, paragraphs 7–8

Proposed ISA 570 (Revised), Going Concern, paragraphs 21–23

⁴ ISA 230, Audit Documentation, paragraphs 8(c) and A10

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Determining Key Audit Matters

The Auditor's Decision-Making Process to Determine Key Audit Matters (Ref: Para. 8)

- A1. Determining the key audit matters to communicate in the auditor's report is a matter of the auditor's professional judgment. The auditor's decision-making process in determining key audit matters is designed to select a smaller number of matters, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, based on the auditor's judgment about which matters were of most significance in the audit.
- A2. Significance can be described as the relative importance of a matter, taken in context. The significance of a matter is judged by the auditor in the context in which it is being considered. Significance can be considered in the context of quantitative and qualitative factors, such as relative magnitude, the nature and effect on the subject matter and the expressed interests of intended users or recipients. This involves an objective analysis of the facts and circumstances, including the nature and extent of communication with those charged with governance. For example, the auditor may have had more in-depth and frequent communications with those charged with governance on more difficult and complex matters.
- A3. ISA 320⁵ notes that it is reasonable for the auditor to assume that users of the financial statements:
 - (a) Have a reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and accounting and a willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence;
 - (b) Understand that the financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of materiality;
 - (c) Recognize the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of estimates, judgment and the consideration of future events; and
 - (d) Make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial statements.

Because the auditor's report accompanies the audited financial statements, the users of the auditor's report are considered to be the same as the users of the financial statements.

- A4. Users of the financial statements have expressed an interest in those matters about which the auditor and those charged with governance had the most robust dialogue as part of the two-way communication required by proposed ISA 260 (Revised)⁶ and have called for additional transparency about those communications. Therefore, a focus on "matters of most significance in the audit" and the application of the requirement in paragraph 8 of this ISA is intended to result in the auditor reporting on matters that are likely to be of interest to users.
- A5. Of the matters communicated with those charged with governance, users have expressed particular interest in understanding areas of significant auditor attention in performing the audit because they are often related to the areas of significant management judgment in preparing the financial statements. Users have also called for greater transparency about significant judgments made by the auditor in forming the opinion on the financial statements as a whole.

.

⁵ ISA 320, Materiality in Planning and Performing the Audit

⁶ Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance

- A6. The auditor may develop a preliminary view at the planning stage about matters that are likely to be the key audit matters in the audit and may communicate this with those charged with governance when discussing the planned scope and timing of the audit in accordance with proposed ISA 260 (Revised).
- A7. The number of key audit matters to be included in the auditor's report may be affected by the size and complexity of the entity, the nature of its business and environment, and the facts and circumstances of the audit engagement. In general, the greater the number of key audit matters, the less useful the auditor's communication of key audit matters may be. When the auditor has determined a long list of key audit matters, the auditor may need to reconsider whether each of these matters meets the definition of a key audit matter.
- A8. The auditor's determination of key audit matters is limited to those matters of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period, even when comparative financial statements are presented (i.e., even when the auditor's opinion refers to each period for which financial statements are presented). When comparative financial information is presented, as required by paragraph 9(a) the introductory language of the Key Audit Matters section is tailored to draw attention to the fact that the key audit matters described relate to only the audit of the financial statements of the current period, and may include reference to the specific period covered by those financial statements (e.g., "for the year ended December 31, 20X1").
- A9. Notwithstanding that the auditor's communication of key audit matters is for the audit of the financial statements of the current period, it may nevertheless be useful for the auditor to consider whether a matter that was a key audit matter in the audit of the financial statements of the previous period continues to be a key audit matter in the audit of the financial statements of the current period. For example, the auditor may consider whether any economic conditions or entity-specific circumstances that led to a matter being determined as a key audit matter in the prior period continue to exist. It may also be appropriate for the auditor to consider whether the significance of a key audit matter in the prior period has diminished, for example if the effects of a significant unusual transaction in the prior period are not material in the current period. Finally, it may be the case that, while a matter communicated as a key audit matter in the prior period continues to affect the financial statements of the current period, other matters arising during the current period audit may be considered to be relatively more significant and the prior period key audit matter may not, in the auditor's judgment, be considered to be among those of most significance in the current period's audit.

Relationship between Key Audit Matters and the Auditor's Opinion (Ref: Para. 8)

- A10. As explained in paragraph 11, matters giving rise to a modification of the auditor's opinion are, by their nature, key audit matters, notwithstanding that such matters are not presented in the Key Audit Matters section of the auditor's report.
- A11. When the auditor is expressing a qualified or adverse opinion, a discussion of any other key audit matters would still be relevant to enhancing users' understanding of the audit and therefore the requirement in paragraph 8 applies. However, proposed ISA 705 (Revised) prohibits the auditor from communicating key audit matters when the auditor disclaims an opinion on the financial statements.⁸

-

See ISA 710, Comparative Information—Corresponding Figures and Comparative Financial Statements.

⁸ Proposed ISA 705, paragraph 29

Areas of Significant Auditor Attention (Ref: Para. 8)

- A12. The concept of significant auditor attention relates to the fact that an audit is risk-based and focuses on areas of higher assessed risks of material misstatement, including significant risks, and areas of complexity. This affects the allocation of resources or extent of audit effort in relation to such matters, in particular in relation to the extent of involvement of senior personnel on the audit engagement. The auditor may also have considered it necessary to involve persons with expertise in a specialized area of accounting or auditing, whether engaged or employed by the firm, on the engagement, to address these areas. Matters that required significant hours by the engagement partner, or an auditor's expert, may be key audit matters.
- A13. ISA 220 establishes requirements for the engagement partner in relation to undertaking appropriate consultation on difficult or contentious matters. The auditor may have consulted with others within the firm or outside the firm on a significant technical matter, which may be an indicator that it is a key audit matter. The engagement partner is also required to discuss, among other things, significant matters arising during the audit engagement with the engagement quality control reviewer. Key audit matters are likely to have been discussed with, or evaluated by, the engagement quality control reviewer, in particular those involving consultation.
- A14. Paragraph 8 includes certain areas of significant auditor attention that may be indicative of key audit matters. As the areas may be interrelated, the applicability of more than one of them in the context of a particular matter communicated with those charged with governance may increase the likelihood of the auditor identifying that matter as a key audit matter.

Significant risks (Ref: Para. 8(a))

- A15. Proposed ISA 260 (Revised) requires the auditor to communicate with those charged with governance an overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit, which includes communicating about the significant risks identified by the auditor. Areas of significant management judgment and significant unusual transactions may often be identified as significant risks. However, the identification of a matter as a significant risk, including a matter identified as a significant risk due to fraud, does not necessarily mean that such a matter will be determined to be a key audit matter.
- A16. In determining whether significant risks are key audit matters, it is likely that the auditor will give greater consideration to significant risks that have been specifically identified in the context of the entity, rather than to those that have been so identified only because they are presumed in the ISAs to be significant risks. For example, ISA 240 presumes that there are risks of fraud in revenue recognition and requires the auditor to treat those assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud as significant risks.¹³ In addition, ISA 240 indicates that, due to the unpredictable way in which management override of controls could occur, it is a risk of material misstatement due to fraud and thus a significant risk.¹⁴

⁹ ISA 220, Quality Control for an Audit of Financial Statements, paragraph 18

¹⁰ ISA 220, paragraph 19

¹¹ ISA 220, paragraph 20

¹² Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), paragraph 15

¹³ ISA 240, The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Financial Statements, paragraphs 26–27

¹⁴ ISA 240, paragraph 31

- A17. Proposed ISA 260 (Revised) requires the auditor to communicate with those charged with governance the auditor's views about significant qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting practices, including accounting policies, accounting estimates, and financial statement disclosures. ¹⁵ In many cases, this relates to critical accounting estimates and related disclosures, which are likely to be areas of significant auditor attention, and therefore may be identified as significant risks. Accounting estimates with high estimation uncertainty are of interest to users of the financial statements because, among other things, they are highly dependent on judgment, may require the involvement of both a management's expert and an auditor's expert, and may be identified as significant risks. ¹⁶ As a result, these areas of the audit may be considered key audit matters.
- A18. Significant unusual transactions, including significant transactions with related parties, and the auditor's response to them, also may be key audit matters about which communication in the auditor's report would be useful. When such a transaction exists, management or those charged with governance may have communicated the matter with the auditor prior to undertaking the transaction and at various stages throughout the audit. The auditor may have assessed the transaction as a significant risk and there may have been difficult judgments both by management and the auditor in relation to recognition, measurement, presentation or disclosure of the transaction.
- A19. Paragraph A12 of proposed ISA 260 (Revised) explains that the auditor may also communicate with those charged with governance about assessed risks of material misstatement other than identified significant risks that are anticipated to have the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy or on the audit plan, including on the efforts of the engagement team. Such matters may also be determined to be key audit matters.

Significant difficulty during the audit (Ref: Para. 8(b))

- A20. Proposed ISA 260 (Revised) requires the auditor to communicate significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit with those charged with governance. The ISAs acknowledge potential difficulties in relation to, for example:
 - Related party transactions, ¹⁸ in particular limitations on the auditor's ability to obtain audit evidence that all other aspects of a related party transaction (other than price) are equivalent to those of a similar arm's length transaction.
 - Limitations on the group audit, for example, where the group engagement's team's access to information may have been restricted.¹⁹
 - Extensive unexpected effort required to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. 20

¹⁵ Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), paragraph 16(a)

See paragraph 11 of ISA 540, Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting Estimates, and Related Disclosures.

¹⁷ Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), paragraph 16(b)

¹⁸ ISA 550, *Related Parties*, paragraph A42

¹⁹ ISA 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors), paragraph 49(d)

²⁰ Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), paragraph A18

The auditor may also communicate with those charged with governance about significant difficulties encountered when obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence relating to critical accounting estimates made by management or a management's expert.

A21. In some circumstances, difficulties encountered during the audit may constitute a scope limitation that requires a modification of the auditor's opinion.²¹ As explained in paragraph A10, a matter giving rise to a modification of the auditor's opinion is, by its nature, a key audit matter. However, because of the importance of communicating to users the reasons for the modifications of the opinion, the description of the key audit matter leading to the modified opinion is presented in the Basis for Qualified (or Adverse) Opinion section of the auditor's report instead of the Key Audit Matters section (see paragraph 11).

Circumstances that required significant modification of the auditor's planned approach to the audit (Ref: Para. 8(c))

- A22. Revision to the auditor's risk assessment and reevaluation of the planned audit procedures with respect to a particular area of the financial statements (i.e., a significant change in the audit approach, for example, when a significant deficiency in internal control has been identified) may lead the auditor to determine that area to be a key audit matter. ISA 315 (Revised) notes that the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstatement at the assertion level may change during the course of the audit as additional audit evidence is obtained. Difficulties in obtaining audit evidence, as contemplated by paragraph 8(b), may cause the auditor to reevaluate the planned audit approach. Further, if during the audit the auditor's risk assessment is significantly revised, the auditor may consider the facts and circumstances giving rise to the changed assessment to be a key audit matter. In particular, if the auditor encounters circumstances that cause the auditor significant difficulty in applying necessary audit procedures, the auditor may need to obtain audit evidence by performing additional audit procedures beyond those originally contemplated.
- A23. ISA 265 requires the auditor to communicate in writing significant deficiencies in internal control identified during the audit to those charged with governance on a timely basis.²³ The auditor is not required by the ISAs to report externally on significant deficiencies in internal control identified during the audit. However, the identification of a significant deficiency may be an indicator of a key audit matter relating to the area(s) of the financial statements affected by the significant deficiency.

Other considerations relevant to determining the significance of individual matters

- A24. In addition to the factors included in paragraph 8 and others that may be indicative of an area of significant auditor attention (see paragraph A14), considerations that may be relevant to determining the significance of a matter communicated with those charged with governance and whether such a matter is a key audit matter include:
 - The industry in which the entity operates. There may be areas of complexity in financial reporting that are specific to a particular industry, or accounting policies unique to that industry.

See paragraph A8 of proposed ISA 705 (Revised).

²² ISA 315 (Revised), paragraph 31

²³ ISA 265, Communicating Deficiencies in Internal Control to Those Charged with Governance and Management, paragraph 9

- Recent significant economic, accounting, regulatory or other developments. For example, significant changes to the economic environment that affected management's assumptions or judgments, or the auditor's approach, may cause the auditor to determine that a matter is a key audit matter.
- Whether the matter involved a number of separate, but related, auditing considerations. For example, long-term contracts may involve significant auditor attention with respect to revenue recognition, litigation or other contingencies, and may have an effect on other accounting estimates.
- Whether the auditor determined it was necessary to obtain written representation from management to support other audit evidence relevant to the matter or one or more specific assertions in the financial statements relating to the matter.²⁴ For example, such written representations may include representations about plans or intentions that may affect the carrying value or classification of assets and liabilities.

Communicating Key Audit Matters (Ref: Para. 9–12)

- A25. The objective of communicating key audit matters in the auditor's report is in the context of the auditor having formed an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. Communicating key audit matters in the auditor's report is not intended to:
 - (a) Express an opinion on individual matters; or
 - (b) Be a substitute for the auditor expressing a qualified opinion or an adverse opinion when required by the circumstances of a specific audit engagement (see proposed ISA 705 (Revised)).
- A26. Proposed ISA 706 (Revised)²⁵ establishes mechanisms for auditors of financial statements of all entities to include additional communication in the auditor's report through the use of Emphasis of Matter and Other Matter paragraphs when the auditor considers it necessary to do so. The use of such paragraphs is not a substitute for a description of individual matters as key audit matters determined in accordance with paragraph 8 of this ISA.²⁶
- A27. Illustrations 1 and 2 of the Appendix to proposed ISA 700 (Revised)²⁷ include descriptions of key audit matters in the auditor's report when the auditor of financial statements of a listed entity expresses an unmodified opinion on the financial statements.

Placement of the Key Audit Matters Section in the Auditor's Report

- A28. Placement of the Key Audit Matters section in close proximity to the auditor's opinion is intended to give prominence to such information, and to acknowledge the perceived value of engagement-specific information to users.
- A29. The order of presentation of individual matters within the Key Audit Matters section is a matter of professional judgment. Such information may be best organized in order of relative importance,

See ISA 580, Written Representations.

Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report

²⁶ Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), paragraphs 8(b) and 10(b)

Proposed ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements

based on the auditor's judgment, and the requirement in paragraph 10 to include subheadings is intended to further differentiate the matters.

Nature and Extent of the Description of a Key Audit Matter in the Auditor's Report (Ref: Para. 10)

A30. The sufficiency and appropriateness of the description of a key audit matter is a matter of professional judgment, but the description is intended to provide a succinct explanation to enable users of the financial statements to understand why the matter was one of most significance in the audit and, to the extent the auditor considers it necessary, its effect on the audit. Limiting the use of highly technical auditing terms helps to enable users who do not have a reasonable knowledge of auditing to understand the basis for the auditor's focus on particular matters during the audit.

Explaining Why the Auditor Considered the Matter to Be One of Most Significance in the Audit (Ref: Para. 10(a))

- A31. The description of a key audit matter in the auditor's report is intended to provide insight as to why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter. The description may make reference to the following:
 - Factors that may have influenced the auditor's risk assessment, for example:
 - o High estimation uncertainty.
 - Economic conditions that affected the auditor's ability to obtain audit evidence, for example illiquid markets for certain financial instruments.
 - New or emerging accounting policies, for example entity-specific or industry-specific matters on which the engagement team consulted within the firm.
 - o Changes in the entity's strategy or business model that had a material effect on the financial statements.
 - The auditor's approach to the matter, for example whether the auditor used an expert to obtain audit evidence, for example the use of actuaries or other experts to evaluate management's assumptions.
 - Whether the matter involved significant management judgment.
 - Key communications with those charged with governance.
- A32. Written communications, or the auditor's documentation of oral communications, with those charged with governance and other audit documentation provides a useful basis for the auditor's communication in the auditor's report. This is because audit documentation in accordance with ISA 230 is intended to address the significant matters arising during the audit, the conclusions reached thereon, and significant professional judgments made in reaching those conclusions, and serves as a record of the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures performed, the results of those procedures, and the audit evidence obtained. Such documentation may assist the auditor in developing a description of key audit matters that explains the significance of the matter and also in applying the requirement in paragraph 14.
- A33. The factors in paragraph 8 and the related guidance in paragraphs A12–A24 related to determining key audit matters may also be helpful for the auditor in considering how such matters are to be communicated in the auditor's report. For example, explaining the factors that led the auditor to

conclude that a particular matter was the subject of significant auditor attention and therefore a key audit matter is likely to be of interest to users.

- A34. The discussion of key audit matters is not a substitute for disclosures in the financial statements that the applicable financial reporting framework requires management to make, or a remedy for material misstatement of the financial statements relating to non-disclosure of information required to be disclosed. In such cases, the auditor is required to express a modified opinion in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised).
- A35. In addition, law, regulation or ethical standards may restrict the auditor's ability to communicate key audit matters because of investigations, auditor confidentiality or data protection requirements. The ISAs do not override law or regulation that governs an audit of financial statements or relevant ethical requirements, but potential conflicts between the auditor's legal and ethical obligations and obligations to communicate in accordance with this ISA may be complex. In such cases, the auditor may consider discussing the situation with those charged with governance and may consider obtaining legal advice.
- A36. Some matters that are determined to be key audit matters may be viewed as sensitive, because of their nature and the fact that such matters may not be disclosed in the financial statements, for example:
 - A fraud risk specifically identified in the context of the entity.
 - A significant deficiency in internal control.

In such cases, the auditor may need to consider how best to describe the key audit matter in order to explain why the matter was one of most significance in the audit.

A37. It is appropriate for the auditor to seek to avoid the description of key audit matters inappropriately providing original information about the entity that is the responsibility of the entity's management and those charged with governance unless, in the auditor's judgment, the additional information that the auditor may provide is critical to the auditor's description of the key audit matter and providing such information is not prohibited by law or regulation. In such circumstances, the auditor may encourage management or those charged with governance to make relevant disclosures in the financial statements that include such other information, so that reference can be made to those disclosures within the description of the key audit matters in the auditor's report, rather than the auditor providing original information.

The effect on the audit

- A38. In explaining why the auditor considered a matter to be one of most significance in the audit, the auditor may consider it necessary to describe its effect on the audit. This may include a brief overview of procedures performed or the auditor's approach to the matter, or may include an indication of the outcome of the auditor's procedures with respect to the matter.
- A39. There may be challenges in describing the auditor's procedures, particularly in complex, judgmental areas of the audit. In particular, it may be difficult to summarize the procedures performed in a succinct way that adequately communicates the nature and extent of the auditor's response to the assessed risks of material misstatement, and the significant auditor judgments involved. Nonetheless, the auditor may consider it necessary, or may be required to, describe certain procedures performed to appropriately communicate to users why the auditor considered the

matter to be of most significance in the audit. Such description typically would be at a high level, rather than include a detailed description of procedures.

- A40. Describing the audit approach in relation to a matter, in particular when the audit approach required significant tailoring to the facts and circumstances of the entity, may assist users in understanding unusual circumstances and significant auditor judgment required to address the risk of material misstatement. This may be appropriate, for example, when the auditor employed or engaged an auditor's expert or the auditor consulted on complex matters within or outside the firm. In addition, the audit approach in a particular period may have been influenced by entity-specific circumstances, economic conditions, or industry-developments (see paragraph A24). Noting these types of circumstances in the auditor's report and their effect on the audit assists users in understanding why matters were key audit matters in the audit.
- A41. In order to avoid creating uncertainty as to whether the matter was satisfactorily resolved, the auditor may also consider it necessary to address the specific outcome of the auditor's response in the description of the key audit matter in the auditor's report. However, if in explaining the effect on the audit, the auditor considers it necessary to indicate findings or a conclusion in relation to a matter, there is also a need for the auditor to avoid giving the impression that the discussion about key audit matters in the auditor's report is intended to convey an opinion on individual matters (see paragraph 9(d)).

Reference to Where the Matter Is Disclosed in the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 10(b))

- A42. Paragraph 10 requires the description of each key audit matter to explain why the auditor considered the matter to be one of most significance in the audit. Accordingly, the description of key audit matters cannot merely reiterate what is disclosed in the financial statements. However, a reference to any related disclosures enables users to understand both management's and the auditor's perspectives on these matters.
- A43. In addition to referring to related disclosure(s), the auditor may draw attention to key aspects of them. More robust disclosure by management about specific aspects or factors in relation to how a particular matter is affecting the financial statements of the current period may help the auditor in pinpointing particular aspects of how the matter was addressed in the audit such that users can understand why the matter is a key audit matter. For example, when an entity includes robust disclosure about accounting estimates, the auditor may draw attention to the disclosure of key assumptions and other sources of estimation uncertainty, the disclosure of the range of possible outcomes, and other qualitative and quantitative disclosures relating to key sources of estimation uncertainty or critical accounting estimates, as part of explaining why the matter was one of most significance in the audit.

Interaction between Descriptions of Key Audit Matters and Other Elements Required to Be Included in the Auditor's Report (Ref: Para. 11)

A44. Presenting the description of matters for which the auditor has concluded it is necessary to modify the opinion separately in the Basis for Qualified (or Adverse) Opinion section helps to promote users' understanding and to identify such circumstances when they occur. Separating the discussion of these matters from other key audit matters therefore gives them the appropriate prominence in the auditor's report. The Appendix in proposed ISA 705 (Revised) includes illustrative examples of how the introductory language in the Key Audit Matters section is affected in such circumstances.

A45. The existence of a material uncertainty relating to going concern is, by its nature, a key audit matter. However, the auditor's statements relating to going concern are required to be presented in a separate section of the auditor's report under the heading "Going Concern." When a material uncertainty has been identified and adequate disclosure is made in the financial statements, proposed ISA 570 (Revised) requires the auditor to include a statement in the auditor's report to draw attention to the note in the financial statements that discloses a material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. When a material uncertainty has been identified and adequate disclosure is not made in the financial statements, proposed ISA 570 (Revised) requires the auditor to modify the auditor's opinion and describe this in the Basis for Qualified (or Adverse) Opinion paragraph as well as the Going Concern section of the auditor's report. The Appendix in proposed ISA 570 (Revised) includes illustrative examples of how the introductory language in the Key Audit Matters section is affected in such circumstances.

Communication with Those Charged with Governance (Ref: Para. 12)

A46. The communication required by paragraph 12 enables those charged with governance to be made aware of the key audit matters that the auditor intends to communicate in the auditor's report, and provides them with an opportunity to obtain further clarification where necessary. As explained in paragraph A37, in some cases, management or those charged with governance may decide to include new or enhanced disclosures in the financial statements relating to the key audit matter, for example to provide more robust disclosures about sensitivity of key assumptions used in accounting estimates or the entity's rationale for a particular accounting practice or policy when acceptable alternatives exist under the applicable financial reporting framework.

Circumstances in which the Auditor Has Determined There Are No Key Audit Matters (Ref: Para. 13)

- A47. Except in certain limited circumstances (e.g., a listed entity that has very limited operations or assets), it is expected to be rare that the auditor of financial statements of a listed entity would not determine at least one key audit matter from the matters communicated with those charged with governance. In addition, the requirements in paragraph 13(a)–(b) may provide an opportunity for those most familiar with the significant matters arising during the audit to provide input that may cause the auditor to re-evaluate the auditor's determination that there are no key audit matters.
- A48. The following illustrates the presentation in the auditor's report if the auditor has determined there are no key audit matters to report:

Key Audit Matters

This section of our auditor's report is intended to describe the matters selected from those communicated with [those charged with governance] that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements. [Except for the matter described in the Basis for Qualified (or Adverse) Opinion section and the material uncertainty described in the Going Concern section,] We have determined that there are no such matters to report.

Proposed ISA 570 (Revised), paragraph 19

²⁹ Proposed ISA 570 (Revised), paragraph 22

Proposed ISA 570 (Revised), paragraph 23

Documentation (Ref: Para. 14)

A49. The professional judgments for the matters determined to be key audit matters are likely to be supported by the documentation of the auditor's communications with those charged with governance and the audit documentation relating to each individual key audit matter (see paragraph A32), as well as certain other audit documentation of the significant matters arising during the audit (e.g., a completion memorandum). The documentation of the significant professional judgments made in determining the key audit matters draws upon this documentation. Such documentation also may provide an indication that other matters communicated with those charged with governance are not key audit matters.

PROPOSED INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON AUDITING (ISA) 260 (REVISED)

COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE

(Effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after date December 15, 2009])

CONTENTS

[MARKED FROM EXTANT ISA 260]

	Paragraph
Introduction	
Scope of this ISA	1–3
The Role of Communication	4–7
Effective Date	8
Objectives	9
Definitions	10
Requirements	
Those Charged with Governance	11–13
Matters to Be Communicated	14–17
The Communication Process	18–22
Documentation	23
Application and Other Explanatory Material	
Those Charged with Governance	A1-A8
Matters to Be Communicated	A9-A27
The Communication Process	A28-A44
Documentation	A45
Appendix 1: Specific Requirements in ISQC 1 and Other ISAs that Refer to Communications with Those Charged with Governance	
Appendix 2: Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices	

Proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance, should be read in conjunction with ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing.

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

- This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's responsibility to communicate with those charged with governance in an audit of financial statements. Although this ISA applies irrespective of an entity's governance structure or size, particular considerations apply where all of those charged with governance are involved in managing an entity, and for listed entities. This ISA does not establish requirements regarding the auditor's communication with an entity's management or owners unless they are also charged with a governance role.
- 2. This ISA is written in the context of an audit of financial statements, but may also be applicable, adapted as necessary in the circumstances, to audits of other historical financial information when those charged with governance have a responsibility to oversee the preparation of the other historical financial information.
- 3. Recognizing the importance of effective two-way communication in an audit of financial statements, this ISA provides an overarching framework for the auditor's communication with those charged with governance, and identifies some specific matters to be communicated with them. Additional matters to be communicated, which complement the requirements of this ISA, are identified in other ISAs (see Appendix 1). In addition, ISA 265¹ establishes specific requirements regarding the communication of significant deficiencies in internal control the auditor has identified during the audit to those charged with governance. Further matters, not required by this or other ISAs, may be required to be communicated by law or regulation, by agreement with the entity, or by additional requirements applicable to the engagement, for example, the standards of a national professional accountancy body. Nothing in this ISA precludes the auditor from communicating any other matters to those charged with governance. (Ref: Para. A24–A27)

The Role of Communication

- 4. This ISA focuses primarily on communications from the auditor to those charged with governance. Nevertheless, effective two-way communication is important in assisting:
 - (a) The auditor and those charged with governance in understanding matters related to the audit in context, and in developing a constructive working relationship. This relationship is developed while maintaining the auditor's independence and objectivity;
 - (b) The auditor in obtaining from those charged with governance information relevant to the audit. For example, those charged with governance may assist the auditor in understanding the entity and its environment, in identifying appropriate sources of audit evidence, and in providing information about specific transactions or events; and
 - (c) Those charged with governance in fulfilling their responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process, thereby reducing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements.
- 5. Although the auditor is responsible for communicating matters required by this ISA, management also has a responsibility to communicate matters of governance interest to those charged with governance. Communication by the auditor does not relieve management of this responsibility.

¹ ISA 265, Communicating Deficiencies in Internal Control to Those Charged with Governance and Management

Similarly, communication by management with those charged with governance of matters that the auditor is required to communicate does not relieve the auditor of the responsibility to also communicate them. Communication of these matters by management may, however, affect the form or timing of the auditor's communication with those charged with governance.

- Clear communication of specific matters required to be communicated by ISAs is an integral part of
 every audit. ISAs do not, however, require the auditor to perform procedures specifically to identify
 any other matters to communicate with those charged with governance.
- 7. Law or regulation may restrict the auditor's communication of certain matters with those charged with governance. For example, laws or regulations may specifically prohibit a communication, or other action, that might prejudice an investigation by an appropriate authority into an actual, or suspected, illegal act. In some circumstances, potential conflicts between the auditor's obligations of confidentiality and obligations to communicate may be complex. In such cases, the auditor may consider obtaining legal advice.

Effective Date

8. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after dateDecember 15, 2009].

Objectives

- 9. The objectives of the auditor are:
 - (a) To communicate clearly with those charged with governance the responsibilities of the auditor in relation to the financial statement audit, and an overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit;
 - (b) To obtain from those charged with governance information relevant to the audit;
 - (c) To provide those charged with governance with timely observations arising from the audit that are significant and relevant to their responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process; and
 - (d) To promote effective two-way communication between the auditor and those charged with governance.

Definitions

- 10. For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:
 - (a) Those charged with governance The person(s) or organization(s) (for example, a corporate trustee) with responsibility for overseeing the strategic direction of the entity and obligations related to the accountability of the entity. This includes overseeing the financial reporting process. For some entities in some jurisdictions, those charged with governance may include management personnel, for example, executive members of a governance board of a private or public sector entity, or an owner-manager. For discussion of the diversity of governance structures, see paragraphs A1–A8.
 - (b) Management The person(s) with executive responsibility for the conduct of the entity's operations. For some entities in some jurisdictions, management includes some or all of

those charged with governance, for example, executive members of a governance board, or an owner-manager.

Requirements

Those Charged with Governance

11. The auditor shall determine the appropriate person(s) within the entity's governance structure with whom to communicate. (Ref: Para. A1–A4)

Communication with a Subgroup of Those Charged with Governance

12. If the auditor communicates with a subgroup of those charged with governance, for example, an audit committee, or an individual, the auditor shall determine whether the auditor also needs to communicate with the governing body. (Ref: Para. A5–A7)

When All of Those Charged with Governance Are Involved in Managing the Entity

13. In some cases, all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity, for example, a small business where a single owner manages the entity and no one else has a governance role. In these cases, if matters required by this ISA are communicated with person(s) with management responsibilities, and those person(s) also have governance responsibilities, the matters need not be communicated again with those same person(s) in their governance role. These matters are noted in paragraph 16(de). The auditor shall nonetheless be satisfied that communication with person(s) with management responsibilities adequately informs all of those with whom the auditor would otherwise communicate in their governance capacity. (Ref: Para. A8)

Matters to Be Communicated

The Auditor's Responsibilities in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit

- 14. The auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance the responsibilities of the auditor in relation to the financial statement audit, including that:
 - (a) The auditor is responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance; and
 - (b) The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities. (Ref: Para. A9–A10)

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

15. The auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance an overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit, which includes communicating about the significant risks identified by the auditor. (Ref: Para. A11–A15)

Significant Findings from the Audit

- 16. The auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance: (Ref: Para. A16)
 - (a) The auditor's views about significant qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting practices, including accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures. When applicable, the auditor shall explain to those charged with governance why the auditor

considers a significant accounting practice, that is acceptable under the applicable financial reporting framework, not to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the entity; (Ref: Para. A17_A17a)

- (b) Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit; (Ref: Para. A18)
- (c) Circumstances that required significant modification of the auditor's planned approach to the audit; (Ref: Para. A18a–A18b)
- (de) Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity:
 - (i) Significant matters, if any, arising duringfrom the audit that were discussed, or subject to correspondence, with management; and (Ref: Para. A19)
 - (ii) Written representations the auditor is requesting; and
- (ed) Any Oother significant matters, if any, arising from during the audit that, in the auditor's professional judgment, are relevant significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process. (Ref: Para. A20–A20a)

Auditor Independence

- 17. In the case of listed entities, the auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance:
 - (a) A statement that the engagement team and others in the firm as appropriate, the firm and, when applicable, network firms have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence; and
 - (i) All relationships and other matters between the firm, network firms, and the entity that, in the auditor's professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on independence. This shall include total fees charged during the period covered by the financial statements for audit and non-audit services provided by the firm and network firms to the entity and components controlled by the entity. These fees shall be allocated to categories that are appropriate to assist those charged with governance in assessing the effect of services on the independence of the auditor; and
 - (ii) The related safeguards that have been applied to eliminate identified threats to independence or reduce them to an acceptable level. (Ref: Para. A21–A23)

The Communication Process

Establishing the Communication Process

18. The auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance the form, timing and expected general content of communications. (Ref: Para. A28–A36)

Forms of Communication

- 19. The auditor shall communicate in writing with those charged with governance regarding significant findings from the audit if, in the auditor's professional judgment, oral communication would not be adequate. Written communications need not include all matters that arose during the course of the audit. (Ref: Para. A37–A39)
- 20. The auditor shall communicate in writing with those charged with governance regarding auditor independence when required by paragraph 17.

Timing of Communications

21. The auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance on a timely basis. (Ref: Para. A40–A41)

Adequacy of the Communication Process

22. The auditor shall evaluate whether the two-way communication between the auditor and those charged with governance has been adequate for the purpose of the audit. If it has not, the auditor shall evaluate the effect, if any, on the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstatement and ability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, and shall take appropriate action. (Ref: Para. A42–A44)

Documentation

23. Where matters required by this ISA to be communicated are communicated orally, the auditor shall include them in the audit documentation, and when and to whom they were communicated. Where matters have been communicated in writing, the auditor shall retain a copy of the communication as part of the audit documentation.² (Ref: Para. A45)

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Those Charged with Governance (Ref: Para. 11)

- A1. Governance structures vary by jurisdiction and by entity, reflecting influences such as different cultural and legal backgrounds, and size and ownership characteristics. For example:
 - In some jurisdictions, a supervisory (wholly or mainly non-executive) board exists that is legally separate from an executive (management) board (a "two-tier board" structure). In other jurisdictions, both the supervisory and executive functions are the legal responsibility of a single, or unitary, board (a "one-tier board" structure).
 - In some entities, those charged with governance hold positions that are an integral part of the entity's legal structure, for example, company directors. In others, for example, some government entities, a body that is not part of the entity is charged with governance.
 - In some cases, some or all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity. In others, those charged with governance and management comprise different persons.
 - In some cases, those charged with governance are responsible for approving³ the entity's financial statements (in other cases management has this responsibility).
- A2. In most entities, governance is the collective responsibility of a governing body, such as a board of directors, a supervisory board, partners, proprietors, a committee of management, a council of governors, trustees, or equivalent persons. In some smaller entities, however, one person may be charged with governance, for example, the owner-manager where there are no other owners, or a

² ISA 230, Audit Documentation, paragraphs 8–11, and A6

As described <u>inat</u> paragraph <u>A50A40</u> of <u>proposed ISA 700 (Revised)</u>, *Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements*, having responsibility for approving in this context means having the authority to conclude that all the statements that comprise the financial statements, including the related notes, have been prepared.

sole trustee. When governance is a collective responsibility, a subgroup such as an audit committee or even an individual, may be charged with specific tasks to assist the governing body in meeting its responsibilities. Alternatively, a subgroup or individual may have specific, legally identified responsibilities that differ from those of the governing body.

- A3. Such diversity means that it is not possible for this ISA to specify for all audits the person(s) with whom the auditor is to communicate particular matters. Also, in some cases, the appropriate person(s) with whom to communicate may not be clearly identifiable from the applicable legal framework or other engagement circumstances, for example, entities where the governance structure is not formally defined, such as some family-owned entities, some not-for-profit organizations, and some government entities. In such cases, the auditor may need to discuss and agree with the engaging party the relevant person(s) with whom to communicate. In deciding with whom to communicate, the auditor's understanding of an entity's governance structure and processes obtained in accordance with ISA 315 (Revised)⁴ is relevant. The appropriate person(s) with whom to communicate may vary depending on the matter to be communicated.
- A4. ISA 600 includes specific matters to be communicated by group auditors with those charged with governance. When the entity is a component of a group, the appropriate person(s) with whom the component auditor communicates depends on the engagement circumstances and the matter to be communicated. In some cases, a number of components may be conducting the same businesses within the same system of internal control and using the same accounting practices. Where those charged with governance of those components are the same (for example, common board of directors), duplication may be avoided by dealing with these components concurrently for the purpose of communication.

Communication with a Subgroup of Those Charged with Governance (Ref: Para. 12)

- A5. When considering communicating with a subgroup of those charged with governance, the auditor may take into account such matters as:
 - The respective responsibilities of the subgroup and the governing body.
 - The nature of the matter to be communicated.
 - Relevant legal or regulatory requirements.
 - Whether the subgroup has the authority to take action in relation to the information communicated, and can provide further information and explanations the auditor may need.
- A6. When deciding whether there is also a need to communicate information, in full or in summary form, with the governing body, the auditor may be influenced by the auditor's assessment of how effectively and appropriately the subgroup communicates relevant information with the governing body. The auditor may make explicit in agreeing the terms of engagement that, unless prohibited by law or regulation, the auditor retains the right to communicate directly with the governing body.
- A7. Audit committees (or similar subgroups with different names) exist in many jurisdictions. Although their specific authority and functions may differ, communication with the audit committee, where one

⁴ ISA 315 (Revised), Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement through Understanding the Entity and Its Environment

⁵ ISA 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors), paragraphs 46–49

exists, has become a key element in the auditor's communication with those charged with governance. Good governance principles suggest that:

- The auditor will be invited to regularly attend meetings of the audit committee.
- The chair of the audit committee and, when relevant, the other members of the audit committee, will liaise with the auditor periodically.
- The audit committee will meet the auditor without management present at least annually.

When All of Those Charged with Governance Are Involved in Managing the Entity (Ref: Para.13)

A8. In some cases, all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity, and the application of communication requirements is modified to recognize this position. In such cases, communication with person(s) with management responsibilities may not adequately inform all of those with whom the auditor would otherwise communicate in their governance capacity. For example, in a company where all directors are involved in managing the entity, some of those directors (for example, one responsible for marketing) may be unaware of significant matters discussed with another director (for example, one responsible for the preparation of the financial statements).

Matters to Be Communicated

The Auditor's Responsibilities in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit (Ref: Para. 14)

- A9. The auditor's responsibilities in relation to the financial statement audit are often included in the engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement that records the agreed terms of the engagement. Law, regulation or the governance structure of the entity may require those charged with governance to agree the terms of the audit with the auditor. When this is not the case, Pproviding those charged with governance with a copy of that engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement may be an appropriate way to communicate with them regarding such matters as:
 - The auditor's responsibility for performing the audit in accordance with ISAs, which is
 directed towards the expression of an opinion on the financial statements. The matters that
 ISAs require to be communicated, therefore, include significant matters arising from during
 the audit of the financial statements that are relevant to those charged with governance in
 overseeing the financial reporting process.
 - The fact that ISAs do not require the auditor to design procedures for the purpose of identifying supplementary matters to communicate with those charged with governance.
 - When applicable, the auditor's responsibilities to determine and communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report in accordance with proposed ISA 701.⁶
 - When applicable, the auditor's responsibility for communicating particular matters required by law or regulation, by agreement with the entity or by additional requirements applicable to the engagement, for example, the standards of a national professional accountancy body.
- A10. Law or regulation, an agreement with the entity or additional requirements applicable to the engagement may provide for broader communication with those charged with governance. For

Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report

example, (a) an agreement with the entity may provide for particular matters to be communicated when they arise from services provided by a firm or network firm other than the financial statement audit; or (b) the mandate of a public sector auditor may provide for matters to be communicated that come to the auditor's attention as a result of other work, such as performance audits.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit (Ref: Para. 15)

- A11. Communication regarding the planned scope and timing of the audit may:
 - (a) Assist those charged with governance to understand better the consequences of the auditor's work, to discuss issues of risk and the concept of materiality with the auditor, and to identify any areas in which they may request the auditor to undertake additional procedures; and
 - (b) Assist the auditor to understand better the entity and its environment.
- A11a.Communicating significant risks identified by the auditor helps those charged with governance understand those matters and why they require special audit consideration. The communication about significant risks may assist those charged with governance in fulfilling their responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process.*
- A12. Matters communicated may include:
 - How the auditor proposes to address the significant risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
 - Assessed risks of material misstatement other than identified significant risks that are anticipated to have the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy or on the audit plan, including on the efforts of the engagement team.
 - The auditor's approach to internal control relevant to the audit.
 - The application of the concept of materiality in the context of an audit.
 - The nature and extent of specialized skill or knowledge needed to perform the planned audit procedures or evaluate the audit results, including the use of an auditor's expert.⁸
- A13. Other planning matters that it may be appropriate to discuss with those charged with governance include:
 - Where the entity has an internal audit function, the extent to which how the external auditor will use the work of internal audit, and how the external and internal auditors can best work together in a constructive and complementary manner, including any planned use of the work

When the final standard is issued, this paragraph will become paragraph A12 and all subsequent paragraphs will be renumbered accordingly.

[^] Conforming amendments to this paragraph also were proposed in the Exposure Draft, Proposed ISA 720 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing or Accompanying Audited Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report Thereon.* The IAASB will consider feedback from that consultation in determining whether such changes continue to be appropriate as it finalizes both proposed ISA 260 (Revised) and proposed ISA 720 (Revised).

⁷ ISA 320, Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit

See ISA 620, Using the Work of an Auditor's Expert.

of the internal audit function, and the nature and extent of any planned use of internal auditors to provide direct assistance. $\frac{9}{}$

- The views of those charged with governance of:
 - The appropriate person(s) in the entity's governance structure with whom to communicate.
 - The allocation of responsibilities between those charged with governance and management.
 - The entity's objectives and strategies, and the related business risks that may result in material misstatements.
 - Matters those charged with governance consider warrant particular attention during the audit, and any areas where they request additional procedures to be undertaken.
 - Significant communications with regulators.
 - Other matters those charged with governance consider may influence the audit of the financial statements.
- The attitudes, awareness, and actions of those charged with governance concerning (a) the
 entity's internal control and its importance in the entity, including how those charged with
 governance oversee the effectiveness of internal control, and (b) the detection or possibility
 of fraud.
- The actions of those charged with governance in response to developments in accounting standards, corporate governance practices, exchange listing rules, and related matters.
- The responses of those charged with governance to previous communications with the auditor.
- A14. While communication with those charged with governance may assist the auditor to plan the scope and timing of the audit, it does not change the auditor's sole responsibility to establish the overall audit strategy and the audit plan, including the nature, timing and extent of procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.
- A15. Care is necessary required when communicating with those charged with governance about the planned scope and timing of the audit so as not to compromise the effectiveness of the audit, particularly where some or all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity. For example, communicating the nature and timing of detailed audit procedures may reduce the effectiveness of those procedures by making them too predictable.

Significant Findings from the Audit (Ref: Para. 16)

A16. The communication of findings from the audit may include requesting further information from those charged with governance in order to complete the audit evidence obtained. For example, the auditor may confirm that those charged with governance have the same understanding of the facts and circumstances relevant to specific transactions or events.

SA 610 (Revised), Using the Work of Internal Auditors, paragraph 18, and ISA 610 (Revised 2013), Using the Work of Internal Auditors, paragraph 31

Significant Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices (Ref: Para. 16(a))

- A17. Financial reporting frameworks ordinarily allow for the entity to make accounting estimates, and judgments about accounting policies and financial statement disclosures, for example, in relation to the use of key assumptions in the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement uncertainty. In addition, law, regulation or financial reporting frameworks may require disclosure of a summary of significant accounting policies or make reference to "critical accounting estimates" or "critical accounting policies and practices" to identify and provide additional information to users about the most difficult, subjective or complex judgments made by management in preparing the financial statements.
- A17a.As a result, the auditor's views on the subjective aspects of the financial statements may be particularly relevant to those charged with governance in discharging their responsibilities for oversight of the financial reporting process. For example, in relation to the matters described in paragraph A17, those charged with governance may be interested in the auditor's evaluation of the adequacy of disclosures of the estimation uncertainty relating to accounting estimates that give rise to significant risks. Open and constructive communication about significant qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting practices also may include comment on the acceptability of significant accounting practices. Appendix 2 identifies matters that may be included in this communication.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit (Ref: Para. 16(b))

A18. Significant difficulties encountered during the audit may include such matters as:

- Significant delays <u>by management, the unavailability of entity personnel, or an unwillingness inby</u> management <u>to provideing required information necessary for the auditor to perform the auditor's procedures.</u>
- An unreasonably unnecessarily brief time within which to complete the audit.
- Extensive unexpected effort required to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.
- The unavailability of expected information.
- Restrictions imposed on the auditor by management.
- Management's unwillingness to make or extend its assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern when requested.

In some circumstances, such difficulties may constitute a scope limitation that leads to a modification of the auditor's opinion. ¹⁰

<u>Circumstances that Required Significant Modification of the Auditor's Planned Approach to the Audit (Ref:</u> Para. 16(c))

A18a.ISA 300¹¹ notes that, as a result of unexpected events, changes in conditions, or the audit evidence obtained from the results of audit procedures, the auditor may need to modify the overall audit strategy and audit plan and thereby the resulting planned nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures, based on the revised consideration of risks. Timely communication about significant changes to the planned audit strategy, the audit plan or the significant risks identified (i.e., updates

Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report

¹¹ ISA 300, Planning an Audit of Financial Statements, paragraph A13

to the matters required to be communicated by paragraph 15) and the reasons for such changes as they arise during the audit is also likely to be relevant to the responsibilities of those charged with governance to oversee the financial reporting process.

A18b.Modification of the auditor's planned approach to the audit may be necessary when a significant deficiency in internal control has been identified in accordance with ISA 265. 12 For example, when deviations from controls upon which the auditor intends to rely are detected, ISA 330 13 requires the auditor to understand these matters and their potential consequences and determine whether, among other things, additional tests of controls may be necessary or the potential risks of misstatement need to be addressed using substantive procedures.

Significant Matters Discussed, or Subject to Correspondence with Management (Ref: Para. 16(de)(i))

- A19. Significant matters discussed, or subject to correspondence with management may include such matters as:
 - Business conditions affecting the entity, and business plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement.
 - Concerns about management's consultations with other accountants on accounting or auditing matters.
 - Discussions or correspondence in connection with the initial or recurring appointment of the auditor regarding accounting practices, the application of auditing standards, or fees for audit or other services.
 - Significant matters on which there was disagreement with management, except for initial differences of opinion because of incomplete facts or preliminary information that are later resolved by the auditor obtaining additional relevant facts or information.

Other Significant Matters Relevant to the Financial Reporting Process (Ref: Para. 16(ed))

- A20. Other significant matters arising <u>duringfrom</u> the audit that are directly relevant to those charged with governance in overseeing the financial reporting process may include such matters as material misstatements of fact or material inconsistencies in information accompanying the audited financial statements that have been corrected.[^]
- A20a.To the extent not already addressed by the requirements in paragraphs 16(a)–(e) and related application material, the auditor may consider communicating about other matters discussed with, or considered by, the engagement quality control reviewer, if one has been appointed, in accordance with ISA 220.¹⁴

¹² ISA 265, paragraph 9

¹³ ISA 330, The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks, paragraph 17

[^] Conforming amendments to this paragraph are likely to be needed in light of the Exposure Draft of proposed ISA 720 (Revised).

See paragraphs 19–22 and A23–A31 of ISA 220, Quality Control for an Audit of Financial Statements.

Auditor Independence (Ref: Para. 17)

- A21. The auditor is required to comply with relevant ethical requirements, including those pertaining to independence, relating to financial statement audit engagements.¹⁵
- A22. The relationships and other matters, and safeguards to be communicated, vary with the circumstances of the engagement, but generally address:
 - (a) Threats to independence, which may be categorized as: self-interest threats, self-review threats, advocacy threats, familiarity threats, and intimidation threats; and
 - (b) Safeguards created by the profession, legislation or regulation, safeguards within the entity, and safeguards within the firm's own systems and procedures.

The communication required by paragraph 17(a) may include an inadvertent violation of relevant ethical requirements as they relate to auditor independence, and any remedial action taken or proposed.

- A22a.Relevant ethical requirements or law or regulation may also specify particular communications to those charged with governance in circumstances where breaches of independence requirements have been identified. For example, the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) requires the auditor to communicate with those charged with governance in writing about any breach and the action the firm has taken or proposes to take. ¹⁶
- A23. The communication requirements relating to auditor independence that apply in the case of listed entities may also be relevant in the case of some other entities, particularly those that may be of significant public interest because, as a result of their business, their size or their corporate status, they have a wide range of stakeholders. Examples of entities that are not listed entities, but where communication of auditor independence may be appropriate, include public sector entities, credit institutions, insurance companies, and retirement benefit funds. On the other hand, there may be situations where communications regarding independence may not be relevant, for example, where all of those charged with governance have been informed of relevant facts through their management activities. This is particularly likely where the entity is owner-managed, and the auditor's firm and network firms have little involvement with the entity beyond a financial statement audit.

Supplementary Matters (Ref: Para. 3)

- A24. The oversight of management by those charged with governance includes ensuring that the entity designs, implements and maintains appropriate internal control with regard to reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
- A25. The auditor may become aware of supplementary matters that do not necessarily relate to the oversight of the financial reporting process but which are, nevertheless, likely to be significant to the responsibilities of those charged with governance in overseeing the strategic direction of the entity or the entity's obligations related to accountability. Such matters may include, for example,

¹⁵ ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing, paragraph 14

See Section 290.39–49 of the IESBA Code, which addresses breaches of independence.

- significant issues regarding governance structures or processes, and significant decisions or actions by senior management that lack appropriate authorization.
- A26. In determining whether to communicate supplementary matters with those charged with governance, the auditor may discuss matters of this kind of which the auditor has become aware with the appropriate level of management, unless it is inappropriate to do so in the circumstances.
- A27. If a supplementary matter is communicated, it may be appropriate for the auditor to make those charged with governance aware that:
 - (a) Identification and communication of such matters is incidental to the purpose of the audit, which is to form an opinion on the financial statements;
 - (b) No procedures were carried out with respect to the matter other than any that were necessary to form an opinion on the financial statements; and
 - (c) No procedures were carried out to determine whether other such matters exist.

The Communication Process

Establishing the Communication Process (Ref: Para. 18)

- A28. Clear communication of the auditor's responsibilities, the planned scope and timing of the audit, and the expected general content of communications helps establish the basis for effective two-way communication.
- A29. Matters that may also contribute to effective two-way communication include discussion of:
 - The purpose of communications. When the purpose is clear, the auditor and those charged with governance are better placed to have a mutual understanding of relevant issues and the expected actions arising from the communication process.
 - The form in which communications will be made.
 - The person(s) in the engagement team and amongst those charged with governance who will communicate regarding particular matters.
 - The auditor's expectation that communication will be two-way, and that those charged with governance will communicate with the auditor matters they consider relevant to the audit, for example, strategic decisions that may significantly affect the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures, the suspicion or the detection of fraud, and concerns with the integrity or competence of senior management.
 - The process for taking action and reporting back on matters communicated by the auditor.
 - The process for taking action and reporting back on matters communicated by those charged with governance.
- A30. The communication process will vary with the circumstances, including the size and governance structure of the entity, how those charged with governance operate, and the auditor's view of the significance of matters to be communicated. Difficulty in establishing effective two-way communication may indicate that the communication between the auditor and those charged with governance is not adequate for the purpose of the audit (see paragraph A44).

Considerations Specific to Smaller Entities

A31. In the case of audits of smaller entities, the auditor may communicate in a less structured manner with those charged with governance than in the case of listed or larger entities.

Communication with Management

- A32. Many matters may be discussed with management in the ordinary course of an audit, including matters required by this ISA to be communicated with those charged with governance. Such discussions recognize management's executive responsibility for the conduct of the entity's operations and, in particular, management's responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements.
- A33. Before communicating matters with those charged with governance, the auditor may discuss them with management, unless that is inappropriate. For example, it may not be appropriate to discuss questions of management's competence or integrity with management. In addition to recognizing management's executive responsibility, these initial discussions may clarify facts and issues, and give management an opportunity to provide further information and explanations. Similarly, when the entity has an internal audit function, the auditor may discuss matters with the internal auditor before communicating with those charged with governance.

Communication with Third Parties

- A34. Those charged with governance <u>may be required by law or regulation, or may wish,</u> to provide third parties, for example, bankers or certain regulatory authorities, with copies of a written communication from the auditor. In some cases, disclosure to third parties may be illegal or otherwise inappropriate. When a written communication prepared for those charged with governance is provided to third parties, it may be important in the circumstances that the third parties be informed that the communication was not prepared with them in mind, for example, by stating in written communications with those charged with governance:
 - (a) That the communication has been prepared for the sole use of those charged with governance and, where applicable, the group management and the group auditor, and should not be relied upon by third parties;
 - (b) That no responsibility is assumed by the auditor to third parties; and
 - (c) Any restrictions on disclosure or distribution to third parties.

A35. In some jurisdictions the auditor may be required by law or regulation to, for example:

- Notify a regulatory or enforcement body of certain matters communicated with those charged with governance. For example, in some countries the auditor has a duty to report misstatements to authorities where management and those charged with governance fail to take corrective action;
- Submit copies of certain reports prepared for those charged with governance to relevant regulatory or funding bodies, or other bodies such as a central authority in the case of some public sector entities; or
- Make reports prepared for those charged with governance publicly available.

A36. Unless required by law or regulation to provide a third party with a copy of the auditor's written communications with those charged with governance, the auditor may need the prior consent of those charged with governance before doing so.

Forms of Communication (Ref: Para. 19–20)

- A37. Effective communication may involve structured presentations and written reports as well as less structured communications, including discussions. The auditor may communicate matters other than those identified in paragraphs 19—and 20 either orally or in writing. Written communications may include an engagement letter that is provided to those charged with governance.
- A38. In addition to the significance of a particular matter, the form of communication (for example, whether to communicate orally or in writing, the extent of detail or summarization in the communication, and whether to communicate in a structured or unstructured manner) may be affected by such factors as:
 - Whether a discussion of the matter will be included in the auditor's report.
 - Whether the matter has been satisfactorily resolved.
 - Whether management has previously communicated the matter.
 - The size, operating structure, control environment, and legal structure of the entity.
 - In the case of an audit of special purpose financial statements, whether the auditor also audits the entity's general purpose financial statements.
 - Legal requirements. In some jurisdictions, a written communication with those charged with governance is required in a prescribed form by local law.
 - The expectations of those charged with governance, including arrangements made for periodic meetings or communications with the auditor.
 - The amount of ongoing contact and dialogue the auditor has with those charged with governance.
 - Whether there have been significant changes in the membership of a governing body.
- A39. When a significant matter is discussed with an individual member of those charged with governance, for example, the chair of an audit committee, it may be appropriate for the auditor to summarize the matter in later communications so that all of those charged with governance have full and balanced information.

Timing of Communications (Ref: Para. 21)

- A40. The appropriate timing for communications will vary with the circumstances of the engagement. Relevant circumstances include the significance and nature of the matter, and the action expected to be taken by those charged with governance. For example:
 - Communications regarding planning matters may often be made early in the audit engagement and, for an initial engagement, may be made as part of agreeing the terms of the engagement.
 - It may be appropriate to communicate a significant difficulty encountered during the audit as soon as practicable if those charged with governance are able to assist the auditor to overcome the difficulty, or if it is likely to lead to a modified opinion. Similarly, the auditor may

communicate orally to those charged with governance as soon as practicable significant deficiencies in internal control that the auditor has identified, prior to communicating these in writing as required by ISA 265.¹⁷

- Communications regarding independence may be appropriate whenever significant judgments are made about threats to independence and related safeguards, for example, when accepting an engagement to provide non-audit services, and at a concluding discussion. A concluding discussion may also be an appropriate time to communicate findings from the audit, including the auditor's views about the qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting practices.
- When auditing both general purpose and special purpose financial statements, it may be appropriate to coordinate the timing of communications.

A41. Other factors that may be relevant to the timing of communications include:

- The size, operating structure, control environment, and legal structure of the entity being audited.
- Any legal obligation to communicate certain matters within a specified timeframe.
- The expectations of those charged with governance, including arrangements made for periodic meetings or communications with the auditor.
- The time at which the auditor identifies certain matters, for example, the auditor may not identify a particular matter (for example, noncompliance with a law) in time for preventive action to be taken, but communication of the matter may enable remedial action to be taken.

Adequacy of the Communication Process (Ref: Para. 22)

- A42. The auditor need not design specific procedures to support the evaluation of the two-way communication between the auditor and those charged with governance; rather, that evaluation may be based on observations resulting from audit procedures performed for other purposes. Such observations may include:
 - The appropriateness and timeliness of actions taken by those charged with governance in response to matters raised by the auditor. Where significant matters raised in previous communications have not been dealt with effectively, it may be appropriate for the auditor to inquire as to why appropriate action has not been taken, and to consider raising the point again. This avoids the risk of giving an impression that the auditor is satisfied that the matter has been adequately addressed or is no longer significant.
 - The apparent openness of those charged with governance in their communications with the auditor.
 - The willingness and capacity of those charged with governance to meet with the auditor without management present.
 - The apparent ability of those charged with governance to fully comprehend matters raised by the auditor, for example, the extent to which those charged with governance probe issues, and question recommendations made to them.

¹⁷ ISA 265, paragraphs 9 and A14

- Difficulty in establishing with those charged with governance a mutual understanding of the form, timing and expected general content of communications.
- Where all or some of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity, their apparent awareness of how matters discussed with the auditor affect their broader governance responsibilities, as well as their management responsibilities.
- Whether the two-way communication between the auditor and those charged with governance meets applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
- A43. As noted in paragraph 4, effective two-way communication assists both the auditor and those charged with governance. Further, ISA 315 (Revised) identifies participation by those charged with governance, including their interaction with internal audit, if any, and external auditors, as an element of the entity's control environment. In landequate two-way communication may indicate an unsatisfactory control environment and influence the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstatements. There is also a risk that the auditor may not have obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to form an opinion on the financial statements.
- A44. If the two-way communication between the auditor and those charged with governance is not adequate and the situation cannot be resolved, the auditor may take such actions as:
 - Modifying the auditor's opinion on the basis of a scope limitation.
 - Obtaining legal advice about the consequences of different courses of action.
 - Communicating with third parties (for example, a regulator), or a higher authority in the
 governance structure that is outside the entity, such as the owners of a business (for
 example, shareholders in a general meeting), or the responsible government minister or
 parliament in the public sector.
 - Withdrawing from the engagement, where withdrawal is possible under applicable law or regulation.

Documentation (Ref: Para. 23)

A45. Documentation of oral communication may include a copy of minutes prepared by the entity retained as part of the audit documentation where those minutes are an appropriate record of the communication.

¹⁸ ISA 315 (Revised), paragraph A77A70

Appendix 1

(Ref: Para. 3)

Specific Requirements in ISQC 1 and Other ISAs that Refer to Communications with Those Charged With Governance

This appendix identifies paragraphs in ISQC 1¹⁹ and other ISAs in effect for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after <u>dateDecember 15, 2009</u>] that require communication of specific matters with those charged with governance. The list is not a substitute for considering the requirements and related application and other explanatory material in ISAs.

- ISQC 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance and Related Services Engagements paragraph 30(a)
- ISA 240, The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Financial Statements –
 paragraphs 21, 38(c)(i) and 40-42
- ISA 250, Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements paragraphs 14, 19 and 22–24
- ISA 265, Communicating Deficiencies in Internal Control to Those Charged with Governance and Management paragraph 9
- ISA 450, Evaluation of Misstatements Identified during the Audit paragraphs 12-13
- ISA 505, External Confirmations paragraph 9
- ISA 510, Initial Audit Engagements—Opening Balances paragraph 7
- ISA 550, Related Parties paragraph 27
- ISA 560, Subsequent Events paragraphs 7(b)-(c), 10(a), 13(b), 14(a) and 17
- <u>Proposed ISA 570 (Revised)</u>, Going Concern paragraph <u>2723</u>
- ISA 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors) paragraph 49
- ISA 610 (Revised), Using the Work of Internal Auditors paragraph 18; ISA 610 (Revised 2013),
 Using the Work of Internal Auditors paragraphs 20 and 31
- Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report paragraph 12 and 13(b)
- Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report –
 paragraphs 12, 14, 2319(a) and 3028
- Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report – paragraph 129
- ISA 710, Comparative Information—Corresponding Figures and Comparative Financial Statements
 paragraph 18

-

¹⁹ ISQC 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance and Related Services Engagements

• ISA 720, The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements – paragraphs 10, 13 and 16 [to be updated when proposed ISA 720 (Revised) is finalized]

Appendix 2

(Ref: Para. 16(a), A17-A17a)

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

The communication required by paragraph 16(a), and discussed in paragraphs A17-A17a, may include such matters as:

Accounting Policies

- The appropriateness of the accounting policies to the particular circumstances of the entity, having regard to the need to balance the cost of providing information with the likely benefit to users of the entity's financial statements. Where acceptable alternative accounting policies exist, the communication may include identification of the financial statement items that are affected by the choice of significant accounting policies as well as information on accounting policies used by similar entities.
- The initial selection of, and changes in, significant accounting policies, including the application of new accounting pronouncements. The communication may include: the effect of the timing and method of adoption of a change in accounting policy on the current and future earnings of the entity; and the timing of a change in accounting policies in relation to expected new accounting pronouncements.
- The effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas (or those unique to an industry, particularly when there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus).
- The effect of the timing of transactions in relation to the period in which they are recorded.

Accounting Estimates

- For items for which estimates are significant, issues discussed in ISA 540, 20 including, for example:
 - How Mmanagement's identification of accounting estimates identifies those transactions, events and conditions that may give rise to the need for accounting estimates to be recognized or disclosed in the financial statements.
 - Changes in circumstances that may give rise to new, or the need to revise existing, accounting estimates.
 - Whether management's decision to recognize, or to not recognize, the accounting estimates in the financial statements is in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
 - Whether there has been or ought to have been a change from the prior period in the methods for making the accounting estimates and, if so, why, as well as the outcome of accounting estimates in prior periods.
 - Management's process for making accounting estimates (e.g., when management has used a model), including whether the selected measurement basis for the accounting estimate is in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
 - Whether the significant assumptions used by management in developing the accounting estimate are reasonable.

²⁰ ISA 540, Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting Estimates, and Related Disclosures

- Where relevant to the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management or the appropriate application of the applicable financial reporting framework, management's intent to carry out specific courses of action and its ability to do so.
- Risks of material misstatement.
- Indicators of possible management bias.
- O How management has considered alternative assumptions or outcomes and why it has rejected them, or how management has otherwise addressed estimation uncertainty in making the accounting estimate.
- The adequacy of dDisclosure of estimation uncertainty in the financial statements.

Financial Statement Disclosures

- The issues involved, and related judgments made, in formulating particularly sensitive financial statement disclosures (for example, disclosures related to revenue recognition, remuneration, going concern, subsequent events, and contingency issues).
- The overall neutrality, consistency and clarity of the disclosures in the financial statements.

Related Matters

- The potential effect on the financial statements of significant risks, exposures and uncertainties, such as pending litigation, that are disclosed in the financial statements.
- The extent to which the financial statements are affected by <u>significant non-routine</u>unusual transactions, including <u>transactions</u> that are unusual, due either to size or nature, or are not in the <u>ordinary course</u> of business. This communication may highlight:
 - The non-recurring amounts recognized during the period, and.
 - tThe extent to which such transactions are separately disclosed in the financial statements.
 - Whether any such transactions appear to have been designed to have a particular accounting treatment or tax, legal or regulatory transaction.
 - Whether the form of such transactions appears overly complex or where extensive advice regarding the structuring of the transaction has been taken.
 - Where management is placing more emphasis on the need for a particular accounting treatment than on the underlying economics of the transaction.
- The factors affecting asset and liability carrying values, including the entity's bases for determining
 useful lives assigned to tangible and intangible assets. The communication may explain how
 factors affecting carrying values were selected and how alternative selections would have affected
 the financial statements.
- The selective correction of misstatements, for example, correcting misstatements with the effect of increasing reported earnings, but not those that have the effect of decreasing reported earnings.

PROPOSED INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON AUDITING 570 (REVISED)

GOING CONCERN

(Effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after December 15, 2009)date])

CONTENTS

[MARKED FROM EXTANT ISA 570]

	Paragraph
Introduction	
Scope of this ISA	1
Going Concern Assumption Basis of Accounting	2
Responsibility for Assessment of the Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern	3–7
Effective Date	8
Objectives	9
Requirements	
Risk Assessment Procedures and Related Activities	10–11
Evaluating Management's Assessment	12–14
Period beyond Management's Assessment	15
Additional Audit Procedures When Events or Conditions Are Identified	16
Auditor Conclusions and Reporting	17 <u>–26</u>
Use of Going Concern Assumption Appropriate but a Material Uncertainty Exists	18-20
Use of Going Concern Assumption Inappropriate	21
Management Unwilling to Make or Extend Its Assessment	22
Communication with Those Charged with Governance	23 27
Significant Delay in the Approval of Financial Statements	2 4 <u>28</u>
Application and Other Explanatory Material	
Going Concern AssumptionBasis of Accounting	A1
Risk Assessment Procedures and Related Activities	A2-A6
Evaluating Management's Assessment	A7-12
Period beyond Management's Assessment	A13-A14
Additional Audit Procedures When Events or Conditions Are Identified	A15-A18
Auditor Conclusions and Reporting	A19 <u>–A30</u>
Use of Going Concern Assumption Appropriate but a Material Uncertainty Exists	A20 A24

PROPOSED ISA 570 (REVISED), GOING CONCERN

Use of Going Concern Assumption Inappropriate	A25-A26
Management Unwilling to Make or Extend Its Assessment	A27
Appendix: Illustrations of Auditor's Reports Relating to Going Concern	

Proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 570 (Revised), *Going Concern*, should be read in conjunction with ISA 200, *Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing*.

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

 This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's responsibilities in the audit of financial statements relating to management's use of the going concern-assumption in the preparation of the financial statements.

Going Concern Assumption Basis of Accounting

2. Under the going concern <u>basis of accounting, the financial statements are prepared on the assumptions and that the entity is viewed as continuing in businessa going concern and will continue its operations for the foreseeable future. General purpose financial statements are prepared on ausing the going concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Special purpose financial statements may or may not be prepared in accordance with a financial reporting framework for which the going concern basis of accounting is relevant (for example, the going concern basis of accounting is not relevant for some financial statements prepared on a tax basis in particular jurisdictions). When the use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting is appropriate, assets and liabilities are recorded on the basis that the entity will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. (Ref: Para. A1)</u>

Responsibility for Assessment of the Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

- 3. Some financial reporting frameworks contain an explicit requirement for management to make a specific assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, and standards regarding matters to be considered and disclosures to be made in connection with going concern. For example, International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 requires management to make an assessment of an entity's ability to continue as a going concern. The detailed requirements regarding management's responsibility to assess the entity's ability to continue as a going concern and related financial statement disclosures may also be set out in law or regulation.
- 4. In other financial reporting frameworks, there may be no explicit requirement for management to make a specific assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. Nevertheless, since the going concern assumption basis of accounting is a fundamental principle in the preparation of financial statements as discussed in paragraph 2, the preparation of the financial statements requires management to assess the entity's ability to continue as a going concern even if the financial reporting framework does not include an explicit requirement to do so.
- 5. Management's assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern involves making a judgment, at a particular point in time, about inherently uncertain future outcomes of events or conditions. The following factors are relevant to that judgment:
 - The degree of uncertainty associated with the outcome of an event or condition increases significantly the further into the future an event or condition or the outcome occurs. For that reason, most financial reporting frameworks that require an explicit management assessment

123

¹ IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, as at 1 January 2009, paragraphs 25–26

- specify the period for which management is required to take into account all available information.
- The size and complexity of the entity, the nature and condition of its business and the degree to
 which it is affected by external factors affect the judgment regarding the outcome of events or
 conditions.
- Any judgment about the future is based on information available at the time at which the
 judgment is made. Subsequent events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with
 judgments that were reasonable at the time they were made.

Responsibilities of the Auditor

- 6. The auditor's responsibility responsibilities is are to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and conclude about the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements, and to conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there is a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. This These responsibility responsibilities exists even if the financial reporting framework used in the preparation of the financial statements does not include an explicit requirement for management to make a specific assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.
- 7. However, as described in ISA 200,² the potential effects of inherent limitations on the auditor's ability to detect material misstatements are greater for future events or conditions that may cause an entity to cease to continue as a going concern. The auditor cannot predict such future events or conditions. Accordingly, the absence of any reference to going concern uncertainty in an auditor's report cannot be viewed as a guarantee as to the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

Effective Date

8. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after December 15, 2009date].

Objectives

- 9. The objectives of the auditor are:
 - (a) To obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence <u>and conclude</u> regarding the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern <u>assumption</u> <u>basis</u> of <u>accounting</u> in the preparation of the financial statements;
 - (b) To conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern; and
 - (c) To determine the implications for the auditor's report in accordance with this ISA.

² ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing, paragraphs A51–A52

Requirements

Risk Assessment Procedures and Related Activities

- 10. When performing risk assessment procedures as required by ISA 315 (Revised)³ the auditor shall consider whether there are events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. In so doing, the auditor shall determine whether management has already performed a preliminary assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, and: (Ref: Para. A2–A5)
 - (a) If such an assessment has been performed, the auditor shall discuss the assessment with management and determine whether management has identified events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern and, if so, management's plans to address them; or
 - (b) If such an assessment has not yet been performed, the auditor shall discuss with management the basis for the intended use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting, and inquire of management whether events or conditions exist that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.
- 11. The auditor shall remain alert throughout the audit for audit evidence of events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. (Ref: Para. A6)

Evaluating Management's Assessment

- 12. The auditor shall evaluate management's assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. (Ref: Para.A7–A9, A11–A12)
- 13. In evaluating management's assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the auditor shall cover the same period as that used by management to make its assessment as required by the applicable financial reporting framework, or by law or regulation if it specifies a longer period. If management's assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern covers less than twelve months from the date of the financial statements as defined in ISA 560, the auditor shall request management to extend its assessment period to at least twelve months from that date. (Ref: Para. A10–A12)
- 14. In evaluating management's assessment, the auditor shall consider whether management's assessment includes all relevant information of which the auditor is aware as a result of the audit.

Period beyond Management's Assessment

15. The auditor shall inquire of management as to its knowledge of events or conditions beyond the period of management's assessment that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. (Ref: Para. A13–A14)

ISA 315 (Revised), Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement through Understanding the Entity and Its Environment, paragraph 5

⁴ ISA 560, Subsequent Events, paragraph 5(a)

Additional Audit Procedures When Events or Conditions Are Identified

- 16. If events or conditions have been identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the auditor shall obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to determine whether or not a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern (hereinafter referred to as "material uncertainty") exists through performing additional audit procedures, including consideration of mitigating factors. These procedures shall include: (Ref: Para. A15)
 - (a) Where management has not yet performed an assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, requesting management to make its assessment.
 - (b) Evaluating management's plans for future actions in relation to its going concern assessment, whether the outcome of these plans is likely to improve the situation and whether management's plans are feasible in the circumstances. (Ref: Para. A16)
 - (c) Where the entity has prepared a cash flow forecast, and analysis of the forecast is a significant factor in considering the future outcome of events or conditions in the evaluation of management's plans for future action: (Ref: Para. A17–A18)
 - (i) Evaluating the reliability of the underlying data generated to prepare the forecast; and
 - (ii) Determining whether there is adequate support for the assumptions underlying the forecast.
 - (d) Considering whether any additional facts or information have become available since the date on which management made its assessment.
 - (e) Requesting written representations from management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, regarding their plans for future action and the feasibility of these plans.

Auditor Conclusions and Reporting

Auditor Conclusions

- 17. The auditor shall evaluate whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained and conclude regarding the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements.
- 47.18. Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor shall conclude whether, in the auditor's judgment, a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. A material uncertainty exists when the magnitude of its potential impact and likelihood of occurrence is such that, in the auditor's judgment, appropriate disclosure of the nature and implications of the uncertainty is necessary for: (Ref: Para. A19)
 - (a) In the case of a fair presentation financial reporting framework, the fair presentation of the financial statements, or
 - (b) In the case of a compliance framework, the financial statements not to be misleading.

Auditor Reporting

- 19. The auditor's report shall include a separate section under the heading "Going Concern" and address the matters described within paragraphs 20, 22 and 23 of this ISA unless: (Ref: Para. A20–A21)
 - (a) The auditor disclaims an opinion in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised); 5 or
 - (b) The auditor determines that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is inappropriate and the auditor expresses an adverse opinion in accordance with paragraph 24 of this ISA.

<u>Auditor Reporting When the Use of the Going Concern Basis of Accounting Is Appropriate and No</u> Material Uncertainty Has Been Identified

- 20. If the auditor concludes that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate in the circumstances and no material uncertainty has been identified, the Going Concern section of the auditor's report shall include:
 - (a) An explanation of the going concern basis of accounting in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework;
 - (b) A statement that, as part of the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the entity's financial statements is appropriate;
 - (c) A statement that, based on the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has not identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern; and
 - (d) A statement that neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. (Ref: Para. A22)

<u>Auditor Reporting When the Use of Going Concern Assumption Basis of Accounting Is</u> Appropriate but a Material Uncertainty Exists Has Been Identified

- 18.21. If the auditor concludes that the management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting is appropriate in the circumstances but a material uncertainty exists has been identified, the auditor shall determine whether the financial statements:
 - (a) Adequately <u>describedisclose</u> the principal events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern and management's plans to deal with these events or conditions; and
 - (b) Disclose clearly that there is a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. (Ref: Para. A20A23-A25)

5

Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report, paragraph 29

Adequate disclosure of a material uncertainty is made in the financial statements

- 19.22. If adequate disclosure about the material uncertainty is made in the financial statements, the auditor shall express an unmodified opinion and include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in the Going Concern section of the auditor's report shall include to: (Ref: Para. A26)
 - (a) A statement under a subheading "Disclosures about a Material Uncertainty Identified" or other appropriate subheading to: Highlight the existence of a material uncertainty relating to the event or condition that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern; and
 - (b)(i). Draw attention to the note in the financial statements that discloses the matters set out in paragraph 2118. and (Ref: Para. A21–A22)
 - (ii). Explain that these events or conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern and that the auditor's opinion is not modified in respect of the matter; and
 - (b) A statement under a subheading "Going Concern Basis of Accounting" or other appropriate subheading that includes:
 - (i). An explanation of the going concern basis of accounting in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework; and
 - (ii). A statement that, as part of the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the entity's financial statements is appropriate.

Adequate disclosure of a material uncertainty is not made in the financial statements

- 20.23. If the auditor concludes that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate in the circumstances but adequate disclosure about the material uncertainty is not made in the financial statements, the auditor shall:
 - (a) Express a qualified opinion or adverse opinion, as appropriate, in accordance with <u>proposed ISA</u> 705 (Revised);-² and
 - (b) Include in the Going Concern section of The auditor shall state in the auditor's report:
 - (i). When the auditor expresses a qualified opinion, a statement under a subheading "Inadequate Disclosures about a Material Uncertainty Identified" or other appropriate subheading that there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern—that has not been adequately disclosed in the financial statements and a statement that the auditor's opinion is qualified with respect to this matter;
 - (ii). When the auditor expresses an adverse opinion, a statement under a subheading "Inadequate Disclosures about a Material Uncertainty Identified" or other appropriate subheading that there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the

⁶ See ISA 706, Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report.

⁷ ISA 705, Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report

- entity's ability to continue as a going concern that has not been adequately disclosed in the financial statements and a statement that the auditor has expressed an adverse opinion as a result of this matter;
- (iii). An explanation of the going concern basis of accounting in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework; and
- (iv). A statement under a subheading "Going Concern Basis of Accounting" or other appropriate subheading that, as part of the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the entity's financial statements is appropriate. (Ref: Para. A23—A24A27)

Auditor Reporting When the Use of Going Concern Assumption Basis of Accounting Is Inappropriate

21.24. If the financial statements have been prepared on ausing the going concern basis of accounting but, in the auditor's judgment, management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is inappropriate, the auditor shall express an adverse opinion. In this circumstance, as set out in paragraph 19, the auditor's report shall not include a Going Concern section. (Ref: Para. A25–A26A28–A29)

Auditor Reporting When the Form and Content of the Auditor's Report Is Prescribed by Law or Regulation

- 25. If law or regulation prescribes the specific layout or wording to be used in the auditor's report with respect to going concern, the auditor's report shall include:
 - (a) A separate section of the auditor's report with a heading "Going Concern," unless a specific heading is prescribed by law or regulation; and
 - (b) Statements in relation to both the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and the identification of a material uncertainty in a manner that is not inconsistent with the reporting requirements established in paragraphs 20, 22 and 23 of this ISA.

Management Unwilling to Make or Extend Its Assessment

<u>22.26.</u> If management is unwilling to make or extend its assessment when requested to do so by the auditor, the auditor shall consider the implications for the auditor's report. (Ref: Para. A27A30)

Communication with Those Charged with Governance

- 23.27. Unless all those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity, the auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. Such communication with those charged with governance shall include the following:
 - (a) Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty;
 - (b) Whether themanagement's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting is appropriate in the preparation of the financial statements; and
 - (c) The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements.

⁸ Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance, paragraph 13

Significant Delay in the Approval of Financial Statements

24.28. If there is significant delay in the approval of the financial statements by management or those charged with governance after the date of the financial statements, the auditor shall inquire as to the reasons for the delay. If the auditor believes that the delay could be related to events or conditions relating to the going concern assessment, the auditor shall perform those additional audit procedures necessary, as described in paragraph 16, as well as consider the effect on the auditor's conclusion regarding the existence of a material uncertainty, as described in paragraph 17.18.

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Going Concern AssumptionBasis of Accounting (Ref: Para. 2)

Considerations Specific to Public Sector Entities

A1. Management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting is also relevant to public sector entities. For example, International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 1 addresses the issue of the ability of public sector entities to continue as going concerns. Going concern risks may arise, but are not limited to, situations where public sector entities operate on a for-profit basis, where government support may be reduced or withdrawn, or in the case of privatization. Events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on an entity's ability to continue as a going concern in the public sector may include situations where the public sector entity lacks funding for its continued existence or when policy decisions are made that affect the services provided by the public sector entity.

Risk Assessment Procedures and Related Activities

Events or Conditions That May Cast <u>Significant Doubt about on the Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern Assumption</u> (Ref: Para. 10)

A2. The following are examples of events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt about on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern-assumption. This listing is not all-inclusive nor does the existence of one or more of the items always signify that a material uncertainty exists.

Financial

- Net liability or net current liability position.
- Fixed-term borrowings approaching maturity without realistic prospects of renewal or repayment; or excessive reliance on short-term borrowings to finance long-term assets.
- Indications of withdrawal of financial support by creditors.
- Negative operating cash flows indicated by historical or prospective financial statements.
- Adverse key financial ratios.
- Substantial operating losses or significant deterioration in the value of assets used to generate cash flows.

⁹ IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, as at January 1, 2009, paragraphs 38–41

- Arrears or discontinuance of dividends.
- Inability to pay creditors on due dates.
- Inability to comply with the terms of loan agreements.
- Change from credit to cash-on-delivery transactions with suppliers.
- Inability to obtain financing for essential new product development or other essential investments.

Operating

- Management intentions to liquidate the entity or to cease operations.
- Loss of key management without replacement.
- Loss of a major market, key customer(s), franchise, license, or principal supplier(s).
- Labor difficulties.
- Shortages of important supplies.
- Emergence of a highly successful competitor.

Other

- Non-compliance with capital or other statutory requirements.
- Pending legal or regulatory proceedings against the entity that may, if successful, result in claims that the entity is unlikely to be able to satisfy.
- Changes in law or regulation or government policy expected to adversely affect the entity.
- Uninsured or underinsured catastrophes when they occur.

The significance of such events or conditions often can be mitigated by other factors. For example, the effect of an entity being unable to make its normal debt repayments may be counter-balanced by management's plans to maintain adequate cash flows by alternative means, such as by disposing of assets, rescheduling loan repayments, or obtaining additional capital. Similarly, the loss of a principal supplier may be mitigated by the availability of a suitable alternative source of supply.

A3. The risk assessment procedures required by paragraph 10 help the auditor to determine whether management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting is likely to be an important issue and its impact on planning the audit. These procedures also allow for more timely discussions with management, including a discussion of management's plans and resolution of any identified going concern issues.

Considerations Specific to Smaller Entities

- A4. The size of an entity may affect its ability to withstand adverse conditions. Small entities may be able to respond quickly to exploit opportunities, but may lack reserves to sustain operations.
- A5. Conditions of particular relevance to small entities include the risk that banks and other lenders may cease to support the entity, as well as the possible loss of a principal supplier, major customer, key employee, or the right to operate under a license, franchise or other legal agreement.

Remaining Alert throughout the Audit for Audit Evidence about Events or Conditions (Ref: Para. 11)

A6. ISA 315 (Revised) requires the auditor to revise the auditor's risk assessment and modify the further planned audit procedures accordingly when additional audit evidence is obtained during the course of the audit that affects the auditor's assessment of risk. ¹⁰ If events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern are identified after the auditor's risk assessments are made, in addition to performing the procedures in paragraph 16, the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstatement may need to be revised. The existence of such events or conditions may also affect the nature, timing and extent of the auditor's further procedures in response to the assessed risks. ISA 330¹¹ establishes requirements and provides guidance on this issue.

Evaluating Management's Assessment

Management's Assessment and Supporting Analysis and the Auditor's Evaluation (Ref: Para. 12)

- A7. Management's assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern is a key part of the auditor's consideration of management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting.
- A8. It is not the auditor's responsibility to rectify the lack of analysis by management. In some circumstances, however, the lack of detailed analysis by management to support its assessment may not prevent the auditor from concluding whether management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting is appropriate in the circumstances. For example, when there is a history of profitable operations and a ready access to financial resources, management may make its assessment without detailed analysis. In this case, the auditor's evaluation of the appropriateness of management's assessment may be made without performing detailed evaluation procedures if the auditor's other audit procedures are sufficient to enable the auditor to conclude whether management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate in the circumstances.
- A9. In other circumstances, evaluating management's assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, as required by paragraph 12, may include an evaluation of the process management followed to make its assessment, the assumptions on which the assessment is based and management's plans for future action and whether management's plans are feasible in the circumstances.

The Period of Management's Assessment (Ref: Para. 13)

A10. Most financial reporting frameworks requiring an explicit management assessment specify the period for which management is required to take into account all available information.¹²

Considerations Specific to Smaller Entities (Ref: Para. 12–13)

A11. In many cases, the management of smaller entities may not have prepared a detailed assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, but instead may rely on in-depth knowledge of the

¹⁰ ISA 315 (Revised), paragraph 31

¹¹ ISA 330, The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks

For example, IAS 1 defines this as a period that should be at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

business and anticipated future prospects. Nevertheless, in accordance with the requirements of this ISA, the auditor needs to evaluate management's assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. For smaller entities, it may be appropriate to discuss the medium and long-term financing of the entity with management, provided that management's contentions can be corroborated by sufficient documentary evidence and are not inconsistent with the auditor's understanding of the entity. Therefore, the requirement in paragraph 13 for the auditor to request management to extend its assessment may, for example, be satisfied by discussion, inquiry and inspection of supporting documentation, for example, orders received for future supply, evaluated as to their feasibility or otherwise substantiated.

A12. Continued support by owner-managers is often important to smaller entities' ability to continue as a going concern. Where a small entity is largely financed by a loan from the owner-manager, it may be important that these funds are not withdrawn. For example, the continuance of a small entity in financial difficulty may be dependent on the owner-manager subordinating a loan to the entity in favor of banks or other creditors, or the owner-manager supporting a loan for the entity by providing a guarantee with his or her personal assets as collateral. In such circumstances, the auditor may obtain appropriate documentary evidence of the subordination of the owner-manager's loan or of the guarantee. Where an entity is dependent on additional support from the owner-manager, the auditor may evaluate the owner-manager's ability to meet the obligation under the support arrangement. In addition, the auditor may request written confirmation of the terms and conditions attaching to such support and the owner-manager's intention or understanding.

Period beyond Management's Assessment (Ref: Para. 15)

- A13. As required by paragraph 11, the auditor remains alert to the possibility that there may be known events, scheduled or otherwise, or conditions that will occur beyond the period of assessment used by management that may bring into question the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. Since the degree of uncertainty associated with the outcome of an event or condition increases as the event or condition is further into the future, in considering events or conditions further in the future, the indications of going concern issues need to be significant before the auditor needs to consider taking further action. If such events or conditions are identified, the auditor may need to request management to evaluate the potential significance of the event or condition on its assessment of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. In these circumstances the procedures in paragraph 16 apply.
- A14. Other than inquiry of management, the auditor does not have a responsibility to perform any other audit procedures to identify events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern beyond the period assessed by management, which, as discussed in paragraph 13, would be at least twelve months from the date of the financial statements.

Additional Audit Procedures When Events or Conditions Are Identified (Ref: Para.16)

- A15. Audit procedures that are relevant to the requirement in paragraph 16 may include the following:
 - Analyzing and discussing cash flow, profit and other relevant forecasts with management.
 - Analyzing and discussing the entity's latest available interim financial statements.
 - Reading the terms of debentures and loan agreements and determining whether any have been breached.

PROPOSED ISA 570 (REVISED), GOING CONCERN

- Reading minutes of the meetings of shareholders, those charged with governance and relevant committees for reference to financing difficulties.
- Inquiring of the entity's legal counsel regarding the existence of litigation and claims and the reasonableness of management's assessments of their outcome and the estimate of their financial implications.
- Confirming the existence, legality and enforceability of arrangements to provide or maintain financial support with related and third parties and assessing the financial ability of such parties to provide additional funds.
- Evaluating the entity's plans to deal with unfilled customer orders.
- Performing audit procedures regarding subsequent events to identify those that either mitigate or otherwise affect the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.
- Confirming the existence, terms and adequacy of borrowing facilities.
- Obtaining and reviewing reports of regulatory actions.
- Determining the adequacy of support for any planned disposals of assets.

Evaluating Management's Plans for Future Actions (Ref: Para. 16(b))

A16. Evaluating management's plans for future actions may include inquiries of management as to its plans for future action, including, for example, its plans to liquidate assets, borrow money or restructure debt, reduce or delay expenditures, or increase capital.

The Period of Management's Assessment (Ref: Para. 16(c))

- A17. In addition to the procedures required in paragraph 16(c), the auditor may compare:
 - The prospective financial information for recent prior periods with historical results; and
 - The prospective financial information for the current period with results achieved to date.
- A18. Where management's assumptions include continued support by third parties, whether through the subordination of loans, commitments to maintain or provide additional funding, or guarantees, and such support is important to an entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the auditor may need to consider requesting written confirmation (including of terms and conditions) from those third parties and to obtain evidence of their ability to provide such support.

Auditor Conclusions and Reporting

Auditor Conclusions (Ref: Para. 4718)

A19. The phrase "material uncertainty" is used in IAS 1 in discussing the uncertainties related to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern that should be disclosed in the financial statements. In some other financial reporting frameworks the phrase "significant uncertainty" is used in similar circumstances.

Auditor Reporting (Ref: Para. 19)

A20. Paragraph A22 and the Appendix to this ISA provide illustrations of the statements that are required to be included in the auditor's report on the financial statements when International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) is the applicable financial reporting framework. If an applicable financial reporting

framework other than IFRSs is used, the illustrative statements featured in paragraph A22 and the Appendix to this ISA may need to be adapted to reflect the application of the other financial reporting framework in the circumstances.

A21. The statements required by paragraphs 20, 22, and 23 of this ISA in relation to going concern represent the minimum information that is to be presented in the auditor's report in each of the circumstances described. The auditor may provide additional information to supplement the required statements. For example, in situations where a material uncertainty has been identified, the auditor is not prohibited from providing additional information to explain that neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

<u>Auditor Reporting When the Use of Going Concern Assumption Basis of Accounting Is</u> Appropriate <u>and but—No Material Uncertainty Exists—Has Been Identified (Ref: Para. 20)</u>

A22. The following is an illustration of the statement included in the auditor's report when the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and a material uncertainty has not been identified:

Going Concern

The Company's financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting. The use of this basis of accounting is appropriate unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. As part of our audit of the financial statements, we have concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Company's financial statements is appropriate.

Management has not identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, and accordingly none is disclosed in the financial statements. Based on our audit of the financial statements, we also have not identified such a material uncertainty. However, neither management nor the auditor can guarantee the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

<u>Auditor Reporting When the Use of the Going Concern Basis of Accounting Is Appropriate but a Material Uncertainty Has Been Identified (Ref: Para. 21)</u>

- A23. The identification of a material uncertainty is a matter that is important to users' understanding of the financial statements. The use of a subheading to clearly make reference to the fact that a material uncertainty has been identified and positioning this statement before the auditor's statement in relation to the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting alerts users to this circumstance.
- A22.A24. In situations involving multiple uncertainties that are significant to the financial statements as a whole, the auditor may consider it appropriate in extremely rare cases to express a disclaimer of opinion instead of adding an Emphasis of Matter paragraph including the statements required by paragraph 22 of this ISA. Proposed ISA 705 (Revised) provides guidance on this issue. 13

_

Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), paragraph 10

Adequacy of <u>Dd</u>isclosure of <u>a Mm</u>aterial <u>uUncertainty</u> (Ref: Para. 18)

A20.A25. The determination of the adequacy of the financial statement disclosure may involve determining whether the information explicitly draws the reader's attention to the possibility that the entity may be unable to continue realizing its assets and discharging its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Audit Reporting When Disclosure of Material Uncertainty Is Adequate disclosure of a material uncertainty is made in the financial statements (Ref: Para. 2022)

A21.A26. Illustration 1 of the Appendix to this ISA is an example of an auditor's report containing a statement regarding a material uncertainty identified when disclosure is adequate in the financial statements and the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting. The following is an illustration of an Emphasis of Matter paragraph when the auditor is satisfied as to the adequacy of the note disclosure:

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note X in the financial statements which indicates that the Company incurred a net loss of ZZZ during the year ended December 31, 20X1 and, as of that date, the Company's current liabilities exceeded its total assets by YYY.

Adequate disclosure of a material uncertainty is not made in the financial statements (Ref: Para. 22–23)

A27. Illustrations 2 and 3 of the Appendix to this ISA are examples of auditor's reports containing qualified and adverse opinions, respectively, when the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the appropriateness of the management's use of the going concern basis of accounting but adequate disclosure of a material uncertainty is not made in the financial statements.

A23. The following is an illustration of the relevant paragraphs when a qualified opinion is to be expressed:

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The Company's financing arrangements expire and amounts outstanding are payable on March 19, 20X1. The Company has been unable to re-negotiate or obtain financing. This situation indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore the Company may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The financial statements (and notes thereto) do not fully disclose this fact.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the incomplete disclosures of the information referred to in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects (or "give a true and fair view of"), the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 20x0, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with ...

A24. The following is an illustration of the relevant paragraphs when an adverse opinion is to be expressed:

Basis for Adverse Opinion

The Company's financing arrangements expired and the amount outstanding was payable on December 31, 20X0. The Company has been unable to re-negotiate or obtain replacement financing and is considering filing for bankruptcy. These events indicate a

material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore the Company may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The financial statements (and notes thereto) do not disclose this fact.

Adverse Opinion

In our opinion, because of the omission of the information mentioned in the Basis for Adverse Opinion paragraph, the financial statements do not present fairly (or "give a true and fair view of") the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 20X0, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with ...

Audit<u>or Reporting When Use of Going Concern Assumption Basis of Accounting Is</u> Inappropriate (Ref: Para. 2124)

A25.A28. If the financial statements have been prepared on ausing the going concern basis of accounting but, in the auditor's judgment, management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting in the financial statements is inappropriate, the requirement of paragraph 2124 for the auditor to express an adverse opinion applies regardless of whether or not the financial statements include disclosure of the inappropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting.

A26.A29. If the entity's management is required, or elects, to prepare financial statements when the use of the going concern assumption basis of accounting is not appropriate in the circumstances, the financial statements are prepared on an alternative basis (for example, liquidation basis). The auditor may be able to perform an audit of those financial statements provided that the auditor determines that the alternative basis is an acceptable financial reporting framework in the circumstances. The auditor may be able to express an unmodified opinion on those financial statements, provided there is adequate disclosure therein but may consider it appropriate or necessary to include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in accordance with proposed ISA 706 (Revised) 14 in the auditor's report to draw the user's attention to that alternative basis of accounting and the reasons for its use.

Management Unwilling to Make or Extend Its Assessment (Ref: Para. 2226)

A27.A30. In certain circumstances, the auditor may believe it necessary to request management to make or extend its assessment. If management is unwilling to do so, a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion in the auditor's report may be appropriate, because it may not be possible for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the management's use of the going concern assumptionbasis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements, such as audit evidence regarding the existence of plans management has put in place or the existence of other mitigating factors.

137

Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report

Appendix

(Ref: Para. A20, A26-A27)

Illustrations of Auditor's Reports Relating to Going Concern

Note: Only the required reporting elements that would be affected by going concern have been reproduced in these illustrations. The Appendix to proposed ISA 700 (Revised)¹⁵ contains the illustrative wording for sections whose contents would not be affected by this ISA.

- Illustration 1: An auditor's report containing an unmodified opinion when a material uncertainty has been identified and disclosure in the financial statements is adequate.
- Illustration 2: An auditor's report containing a qualified opinion when a material uncertainty has been identified and disclosure in the financial statements is inadequate.
- Illustration 3: An auditor's report containing an adverse opinion when a material uncertainty has been identified but is not disclosed in the financial statements.

138

Proposed ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements

<u>Illustration 1 – Unmodified Opinion When a Material Uncertainty Has Been Identified and Disclosure in</u> the Financial Statements Is Adequate

For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of general purpose financial statements prepared by management of a listed
 entity in accordance with IFRSs. The audit is not a group audit conducted in accordance with ISA 600,
 Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component
 Auditors).
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the financial statements in ISA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements.
- The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., "clean") opinion is appropriate based on the audit evidence obtained.
- A material uncertainty was identified. The disclosure of the identified material uncertainty in the financial statements is adequate.
- Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with proposed ISA 701, Communicating
 Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report.
- In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements¹⁶

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or *give a true and fair view of*) the financial position of ABC Company (the Company) as at December 31, 20X1, and (*of*) its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the financial statements of the Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

section of our report. We are independent of the Company within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Going Concern

Disclosures about a Material Uncertainty Identified

We draw attention to Note 6 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a net loss of ZZZ during the year ended December 31, 20X1 and, as of that date, the Company's current liabilities exceeded its total assets by YYY. As stated in Note 6, these conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 6, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Going Concern Basis of Accounting

The material uncertainty identified above does not indicate that the going concern basis of accounting is inappropriate. The Company's financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting. The use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. As part of our audit of the financial statements, we have concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Company's financial statements is appropriate.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements. Key audit matters are selected from the matters communicated with [those charged with governance], but are not intended to represent all matters that were discussed with them. In addition to the material uncertainty as described in the Going Concern section of our report, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters. Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. Our opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters described below, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

[Reporting of individual matters in accordance with paragraph 10 of proposed ISA 701 – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Other Information

[The illustrative wording for this section is subject to the IAASB's finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). ¹⁷The content of this section may include, among other matters: (a) a description of the auditor's responsibilities with respect to other information; (b) identification of the document(s) available at the date of the auditor's report that contain the other information to which the auditor's responsibilities apply; (c) a statement addressing the outcome of the auditor's work on the other information; and (d) a statement that the auditor has not audited or reviewed the other information and, accordingly, does not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion on it.]

Exposure Draft, Proposed ISA 720 (Revised), The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing or Accompanying Audited Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report Thereon

<u>Responsibilities of [Management 18 and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms]</u> for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – If local law, regulation or national auditing standards requires additional reporting on going concern, such reporting can be included in the Going Concern section of the auditor's report, provided wording is included that clearly distinguishes between the reporting required by this ISA and other reporting required by law or regulation.]

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

Throughout the illustrative auditor's reports in the Proposed ISAs, the term management may need to be replaced by another term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction. For example, those charged with governance, rather than management, may have these responsibilities.

Illustration 2 – Qualified Opinion When a Material Uncertainty Has Been Identified and Disclosure in the Financial Statements Is Inadequate

For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of general purpose financial statements prepared by management of a listed entity in accordance with IFRSs. The audit is not a group audit conducted in accordance with ISA 600.
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the financial statements in ISA 210.
- A material uncertainty was identified. The disclosure in the financial statements of the material uncertainty identified is inadequate. A qualified opinion is being expressed because the auditor concluded that the effects on the financial statements of this inadequate disclosure are material but not pervasive to the financial statements.
- Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with proposed ISA 701.
- In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 19

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the incomplete disclosure of the information referred to in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects (or give a true and fair view of), the financial position of ABC Company (the Company) as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the financial statements of the Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The Company's financing arrangements expire and amounts outstanding are payable on March 19, 20X2. The Company has been unable to conclude re-negotiations or obtain replacement financing. This situation indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements (and notes thereto) do not fully disclose this fact.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements*

The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

section of our report. We are independent of the Company within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Going Concern

Inadequate Disclosures about a Material Uncertainty Identified

As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern has been identified. This material uncertainty has not been adequately disclosed in the financial statements. Our opinion is qualified in respect of this matter.

Going Concern Basis of Accounting

The material uncertainty identified above does not indicate that the going concern basis of accounting is inappropriate. The Company's financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting. The use of this basis of accounting is appropriate unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. As part of our audit of the financial statements, we have concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Company's financial statements is appropriate.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements. Key audit matters are selected from the matters communicated with [those charged with governance], but are not intended to represent all matters that were discussed with them. In addition to the material uncertainty as described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion and Going Concern sections of our report, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters. Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. Our opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters described below, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

[Reporting of individual matters in accordance with paragraph 10 of proposed ISA 701 – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Other Information

[The illustrative wording for this section is subject to the IAASB's finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). The content of this section may include, among other matters: (a) a description of the auditor's responsibilities with respect to other information; (b) identification of the document(s) available at the date of the auditor's report that contain the other information to which the auditor's responsibilities apply; (c) a statement addressing the outcome of the auditor's work on the other information; and (d) a statement that the auditor has not audited or reviewed the other information and, accordingly, does not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion on it.]

Responsibilities of [Management²⁰ and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – If local law, regulation or national auditing standards requires additional reporting on going concern, such reporting can be included in the Going Concern section of the auditor's report, provided wording is included that clearly distinguishes between the reporting required by this ISA and other reporting required by law or regulation.]

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction

<u>Illustration 3 – Adverse Opinion When a Material Uncertainty Has Been Identified but Is Not Disclosed in</u> the Financial Statements

For purposes of the illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of general purpose financial statements prepared by management of a listed entity in accordance with IFRSs. The audit is not a group audit conducted in accordance with ISA 600.
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the financial statements in ISA 210.
- A material uncertainty was identified, and the Company is considering bankruptcy. The financial statements (and notes thereto) omit the required disclosures relating to the material uncertainty. An adverse opinion is being expressed because the effects on the financial statements of such omission are material and pervasive.
- Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with proposed ISA 701.
- In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements²¹

Adverse Opinion

In our opinion, because of the omission of the information mentioned in the *Basis for Adverse Opinion* section of our report, the financial statements do not present fairly (or *do not give a true and fair view of*) the financial position of ABC Company (the Company) as at December 31, 20X1, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the financial statements of the Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Adverse Opinion

The Company's financing arrangements expired and the amount outstanding was payable on December 31, 20X1. The Company has been unable to conclude re-negotiations or obtain replacement financing and is considering filling for bankruptcy. This situation indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements (and notes thereto) do not disclose this fact.

The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Company within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our adverse opinion.

Going Concern

Inadequate Disclosures about a Material Uncertainty Identified

As described in the *Basis for Adverse Opinion* section of our report, a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern has been identified. This material uncertainty has not been disclosed in the financial statements. We have expressed an adverse opinion as a result of this matter.

Going Concern Basis of Accounting

The material uncertainty identified above does not indicate that the going concern basis of accounting is inappropriate. The Company's financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting. The use of this basis of accounting is appropriate unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. As part of our audit of the financial statements, we have concluded that management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Company's financial statements is appropriate.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements. Key audit matters are selected from the matters communicated with [those charged with governance], but are not intended to represent all matters that were discussed with them. In addition to the material uncertainty as described in the Basis for Adverse Opinion and Going Concern sections of our report, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters. Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. Our opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters described below, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

[Reporting of individual matters in accordance with paragraph 10 of proposed ISA 701 – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Other Information

[The illustrative wording for this section is subject to the IAASB's finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). The content of this section may include, among other matters: (a) a description of the auditor's responsibilities with respect to other information; (b) identification of the document(s) available at the date of the auditor's report that contain the other information to which the auditor's responsibilities apply; (c) a statement addressing the outcome of the auditor's work on the other information; and (d) a statement that the auditor has not audited or reviewed the other information and, accordingly, does not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion on it.]

Responsibilities of [Management²² and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised)]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – If local law, regulation or national auditing standards requires additional reporting on going concern, such reporting can be included in the Going Concern section of the auditor's report, provided wording is included that clearly distinguishes between the reporting required by this ISA and other reporting required by law or regulation.]

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction

PROPOSED INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON AUDITING (ISA) 705 (REVISED)

MODIFICATIONS TO THE OPINION IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

(Effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after date])

CONTENTS

	Paragraphs
Introduction	
Scope of this ISA	1
Types of Modified Opinions	2
Effective Date	3
Objective	4
Definitions	5
Requirements	
Circumstances When a Modification to the Auditor's Opinion Is Required	6
Determining the Type of Modification to the Auditor's Opinion	7–15
Form and Content of the Auditor's Report When the Opinion Is Modified	16–29
Communication with Those Charged with Governance	30
Application and Other Explanatory Material	
Types of Modified Opinions	A1
Circumstances When a Modification to the Auditor's Opinion Is Required	A2-A12
Determining the Type of Modification to the Auditor's Opinion	A13-A16
Form and Content of the Auditor's Report When the Opinion Is Modified	A17-A28
Communication with Those Charged with Governance	A29
Appendix: Illustrations of Auditor's Reports with Modifications to the Opinion	

Proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 705 (Revised), *Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report*, should be read in conjunction with ISA 200 Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing.

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's responsibility to issue an
appropriate report in circumstances when, in forming an opinion in accordance with proposed ISA 700
(Revised),¹ the auditor concludes that a modification to the auditor's opinion on the financial
statements is necessary.

Types of Modified Opinions

- 2. This ISA establishes three types of modified opinions, namely, a qualified opinion, an adverse opinion, and a disclaimer of opinion. The decision regarding which type of modified opinion is appropriate depends upon:
 - (a) The nature of the matter giving rise to the modification, that is, whether the financial statements are materially misstated or, in the case of an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, may be materially misstated; and
 - (b) The auditor's judgment about the pervasiveness of the effects or possible effects of the matter on the financial statements. (Ref: Para. A1)

Effective Date

3. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after date].

Objective

- 4. The objective of the auditor is to express clearly an appropriately modified opinion on the financial statements that is necessary when:
 - (a) The auditor concludes, based on the audit evidence obtained, that the financial statements as a whole are not free from material misstatement; or
 - (b) The auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to conclude that the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement.

Definitions

- 5. For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:
 - (a) Pervasive A term used, in the context of misstatements, to describe the effects on the financial statements of misstatements or the possible effects on the financial statements of misstatements, if any, that are undetected due to an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. Pervasive effects on the financial statements are those that, in the auditor's judgment:
 - (i) Are not confined to specific elements, accounts or items of the financial statements;
 - (ii) If so confined, represent or could represent a substantial proportion of the financial statements; or

Proposed ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements

- (iii) In relation to disclosures, are fundamental to users' understanding of the financial statements.
- (b) Modified opinion A qualified opinion, an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion.

Requirements

Circumstances When a Modification to the Auditor's Opinion Is Required

- 6. The auditor shall modify the opinion in the auditor's report when:
 - (a) The auditor concludes that, based on the audit evidence obtained, the financial statements as a whole are not free from material misstatement; or (Ref: Para. A2–A7)
 - (b) The auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to conclude that the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement. (Ref: Para. A8–A12)

Determining the Type of Modification to the Auditor's Opinion

Qualified Opinion

- 7. The auditor shall express a qualified opinion when:
 - (a) The auditor, having obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence, concludes that misstatements, individually or in the aggregate, are material, but not pervasive, to the financial statements; or
 - (b) The auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the opinion, but the auditor concludes that the possible effects on the financial statements of undetected misstatements, if any, could be material but not pervasive.

Adverse Opinion

8. The auditor shall express an adverse opinion when the auditor, having obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence, concludes that misstatements, individually or in the aggregate, are both material and pervasive to the financial statements.

Disclaimer of Opinion

- 9. The auditor shall disclaim an opinion when the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the opinion, and the auditor concludes that the possible effects on the financial statements of undetected misstatements, if any, could be both material and pervasive.
- 10. The auditor shall disclaim an opinion when, in extremely rare circumstances involving multiple uncertainties, the auditor concludes that, notwithstanding having obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding each of the individual uncertainties, it is not possible to form an opinion on the financial statements due to the potential interaction of the uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on the financial statements.

Consequence of an Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence Due to a Management-Imposed Limitation after the Auditor Has Accepted the Engagement

11. If, after accepting the engagement, the auditor becomes aware that management has imposed a limitation on the scope of the audit that the auditor considers likely to result in the need to express a

- qualified opinion or to disclaim an opinion on the financial statements, the auditor shall request that management remove the limitation.
- 12. If management refuses to remove the limitation referred to in paragraph 11 of this ISA, the auditor shall communicate the matter to those charged with governance, unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity,² and determine whether it is possible to perform alternative procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.
- 13. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditor shall determine the implications as follows:
 - (a) If the auditor concludes that the possible effects on the financial statements of undetected misstatements, if any, could be material but not pervasive, the auditor shall qualify the opinion; or
 - (b) If the auditor concludes that the possible effects on the financial statements of undetected misstatements, if any, could be both material and pervasive so that a qualification of the opinion would be inadequate to communicate the gravity of the situation, the auditor shall:
 - (i) Withdraw from the audit, where practicable and possible under applicable law or regulation; or (Ref: Para. A13–A14)
 - (ii) If withdrawal from the audit before issuing the auditor's report is not practicable or possible, disclaim an opinion on the financial statements.
- 14. If the auditor withdraws as contemplated by paragraph 13(b)(i), before withdrawing, the auditor shall communicate to those charged with governance any matters regarding misstatements identified during the audit that would have given rise to a modification of the opinion. (Ref: Para. A15)

Other Considerations Relating to an Adverse Opinion or Disclaimer of Opinion

15. When the auditor considers it necessary to express an adverse opinion or disclaim an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, the auditor's report shall not also include an unmodified opinion with respect to the same financial reporting framework on a single financial statement or one or more specific elements, accounts or items of a financial statement. To include such an unmodified opinion in the same report³ in these circumstances would contradict the auditor's adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion on the financial statements as a whole. (Ref: Para. A16)

Form and Content of the Auditor's Report When the Opinion Is Modified

Auditor's Opinion

16. When the auditor modifies the audit opinion, the auditor shall use the heading "Qualified Opinion," "Adverse Opinion," or "Disclaimer of Opinion," as appropriate, for the opinion paragraph. (Ref: Para. A17–A19)

Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance, paragraph 13

³ ISA 805, Special Considerations—Audits of Single Financial Statements and Specific Elements, Accounts or Items of a Financial Statement, deals with circumstances where the auditor is engaged to express a separate opinion on one or more specific elements, accounts or items of a financial statement.

Qualified Opinion

- 17. When the auditor expresses a qualified opinion due to a material misstatement in the financial statements, the auditor shall state that, in the auditor's opinion, except for the effects of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section:
 - (a) When reporting in accordance with a fair presentation framework, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects (or give a true and fair view of) [...] in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework]; or
 - (b) When reporting in accordance with a compliance framework, the accompanying financial statements have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework].

When the modification arises from an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditor shall use the corresponding phrase "except for the possible effects of the matter(s) ..." for the modified opinion. (Ref: Para. A20)

Adverse Opinion

- 18. When the auditor expresses an adverse opinion, the auditor shall state that, in the auditor's opinion, because of the significance of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Adverse Opinion section:
 - (a) When reporting in accordance with a fair presentation framework, the accompanying financial statements do not present fairly (or give a true and fair view of) [...] in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework]; or
 - (b) When reporting in accordance with a compliance framework, the accompanying financial statements have not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework].

Disclaimer of Opinion

- 19. When the auditor disclaims an opinion due to an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditor shall:
 - (a) State that the auditor does not express an opinion on the accompanying financial statements;
 - (b) State that, because of the significance of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section, the auditor has not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the financial statements; and
 - (c) Amend the statement that indicates that the financial statements have been audited required by paragraph 27(b) of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) to state that the auditor was engaged to audit the financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

- 20. When the auditor modifies the opinion on the financial statements, the auditor shall, in addition to the specific elements required by proposed ISA 700 (Revised): (Ref: Para. A21–A22)
 - (a) Amend the heading "Basis for Opinion" required by paragraph 28 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) to "Basis for Qualified Opinion," "Basis for Adverse Opinion," or "Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion," as appropriate; and

- (b) Within this section, include a description of the matter giving rise to the modification.
- 21. If there is a material misstatement of the financial statements that relates to specific amounts in the financial statements (including quantitative disclosures in the notes to the financial statements), the auditor shall include in the Basis for Opinion section a description and quantification of the financial effects of the misstatement, unless impracticable. If it is not practicable to quantify the financial effects, the auditor shall so state in this section. (Ref: Para. A23)
- 22. If there is a material misstatement of the financial statements that relates to narrative disclosures, the auditor shall include in the Basis for Opinion section an explanation of how the disclosures are misstated.
- 23. If there is a material misstatement of the financial statements that relates to the non-disclosure of information required to be disclosed, the auditor shall:
 - (a) Discuss the non-disclosure with those charged with governance;
 - (b) Describe in the Basis for Opinion section the nature of the omitted information; and
 - (c) Unless prohibited by law or regulation, include the omitted disclosures, provided it is practicable to do so and the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the omitted information. (Ref: Para. A24)
- 24. If the modification results from an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditor shall include in the Basis for Opinion section the reasons for that inability.
- 25. When the auditor expresses a qualified or adverse opinion, the auditor shall amend the statement about whether the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor's opinion required by paragraph 28(d) of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) to include the word "qualified" or "adverse", as appropriate.
- 26. When the auditor disclaims an opinion on the financial statements, the auditor's report shall not include the elements required by paragraphs 28(b) and 28(d) of proposed ISA 700 (Revised). Those elements are:
 - (a) A reference to the section of the auditor's report where the auditor's responsibilities are described; and
 - (b) A statement about whether the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor's opinion.
- 27. Even if the auditor has expressed an adverse opinion or disclaimed an opinion on the financial statements, the auditor shall describe in the Basis for Opinion section the reasons for any other matters of which the auditor is aware that would have required a modification to the opinion, and the effects thereof. (Ref: Para. A25)

Description of Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements When the Auditor Disclaims an Opinion

- 28. When the auditor disclaims an opinion due to an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditor shall amend the description of the auditor's responsibilities required by paragraphs 36–38 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) to include only the following: (Ref: Para. A26)
 - A statement that the auditor's responsibility is to conduct an audit of the entity's financial statements in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and to issue an auditor's report;
 - A statement that, however, because of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Disclaimer of (b) Opinion section, the auditor was not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the financial statements; and
 - The statement about auditor independence and other ethical responsibilities required by (c) paragraph 28(c) of proposed ISA 700 (Revised).

Special Considerations When the Auditor Disclaims an Opinion

- When the auditor disclaims an opinion on the financial statements, the auditor's report shall not include: (Ref: Para. A27)
 - A section addressing the reporting requirements in proposed ISA 701:4 (Ref: Para, A28) (a)
 - A section addressing the reporting requirements in proposed ISA 570 (Revised);⁵ (b)
 - A section addressing the reporting requirements in proposed ISA 720 (Revised);⁶ or (c)
 - A further description of the audit and the auditor's responsibilities as required by paragraphs (d) 37-38 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised).

Communication with Those Charged with Governance

When the auditor expects to modify the opinion in the auditor's report, the auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance the circumstances that led to the expected modification and the proposed wording of the modification. (Ref: Para. A29)

Paragraphs 9-11 and 13 of proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report

Paragraphs 19-20 and 22-25 of proposed ISA 570 (Revised), Going Concern

Proposed ISA 720 (Revised), The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing or Accompanying Audited Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report Thereon

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Types of Modified Opinions (Ref: Para. 2)

A1. The table below illustrates how the auditor's judgment about the nature of the matter giving rise to the modification, and the pervasiveness of its effects or possible effects on the financial statements, affects the type of opinion to be expressed.

Nature of Matter Giving Rise to the	Auditor's Judgment about the Pervasiveness of the Effects or Possible Effects on the Financial Statements		
Modification Modification	Material but Not Pervasive	Material and Pervasive	
Financial statements are materially misstated	Qualified opinion	Adverse opinion	
Inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence	Qualified opinion	Disclaimer of opinion	

Circumstances When a Modification to the Auditor's Opinion Is Required

Nature of Material Misstatements (Ref: Para. 6(a))

- A2. Proposed ISA 700 (Revised) requires the auditor, in order to form an opinion on the financial statements, to conclude as to whether reasonable assurance has been obtained about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement. This conclusion takes into account the auditor's evaluation of uncorrected misstatements, if any, on the financial statements in accordance with ISA 450.
- A3. ISA 450 defines a misstatement as a difference between the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure of a reported financial statement item and the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure that is required for the item to be in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Accordingly, a material misstatement of the financial statements may arise in relation to:
 - (a) The appropriateness of the selected accounting policies;
 - (b) The application of the selected accounting policies; or
 - (c) The appropriateness or adequacy of disclosures in the financial statements.

Appropriateness of the Selected Accounting Policies

- A4. In relation to the appropriateness of the accounting policies management has selected, material misstatements of the financial statements may arise when:
 - (a) The selected accounting policies are not consistent with the applicable financial reporting framework; or
 - (b) The financial statements, including the related notes, do not represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

-

Proposed ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 11

⁸ ISA 450, Evaluation of Misstatements Identified during the Audit, paragraph 11

A5. Financial reporting frameworks often contain requirements for the accounting for, and disclosure of, changes in accounting policies. Where the entity has changed its selection of significant accounting policies, a material misstatement of the financial statements may arise when the entity has not complied with these requirements.

Application of the Selected Accounting Policies

- A6. In relation to the application of the selected accounting policies, material misstatements of the financial statements may arise:
 - (a) When management has not applied the selected accounting policies consistently with the financial reporting framework, including when management has not applied the selected accounting policies consistently between periods or to similar transactions and events (consistency in application); or
 - (b) Due to the method of application of the selected accounting policies (such as an unintentional error in application).

Appropriateness or Adequacy of Disclosures in the Financial Statements

- A7. In relation to the appropriateness or adequacy of disclosures in the financial statements, material misstatements of the financial statements may arise when:
 - (a) The financial statements do not include all of the disclosures required by the applicable financial reporting framework;
 - (b) The disclosures in the financial statements are not presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework; or
 - (c) The financial statements do not provide the disclosures necessary to achieve fair presentation.

Nature of an Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence (Ref: Para. 6(b))

- A8. The auditor's inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence (also referred to as a limitation on the scope of the audit) may arise from:
 - (a) Circumstances beyond the control of the entity;
 - (b) Circumstances relating to the nature or timing of the auditor's work; or
 - (c) Limitations imposed by management.
- A9. An inability to perform a specific procedure does not constitute a limitation on the scope of the audit if the auditor is able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence by performing alternative procedures. If this is not possible, the requirements of paragraphs 7(b) and 9–10 apply as appropriate. Limitations imposed by management may have other implications for the audit, such as for the auditor's assessment of fraud risks and consideration of engagement continuance.
- A10. Examples of circumstances beyond the control of the entity include when:
 - The entity's accounting records have been destroyed.
 - The accounting records of a significant component have been seized indefinitely by governmental authorities.

- A11. Examples of circumstances relating to the nature or timing of the auditor's work include when:
 - The entity is required to use the equity method of accounting for an associated entity, and the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the latter's financial information to evaluate whether the equity method has been appropriately applied.
 - The timing of the auditor's appointment is such that the auditor is unable to observe the counting of the physical inventories.
 - The auditor determines that performing substantive procedures alone is not sufficient, but the entity's controls are not effective.
- A12. Examples of an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence arising from a limitation on the scope of the audit imposed by management include when:
 - Management prevents the auditor from observing the counting of the physical inventory.
 - Management prevents the auditor from requesting external confirmation of specific account balances.

Determining the Type of Modification to the Auditor's Opinion

Consequence of an Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence Due to a Management-Imposed Limitation after the Auditor Has Accepted the Engagement (Ref: Para. 13(b)–14)

- A13. The practicality of withdrawing from the audit may depend on the stage of completion of the engagement at the time that management imposes the scope limitation. If the auditor has substantially completed the audit, the auditor may decide to complete the audit to the extent possible, disclaim an opinion and explain the scope limitation within the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section prior to withdrawing.
- A14. In certain circumstances, withdrawal from the audit may not be possible if the auditor is required by law or regulation to continue the audit engagement. This may be the case for an auditor that is appointed to audit the financial statements of public sector entities. It may also be the case in jurisdictions where the auditor is appointed to audit the financial statements covering a specific period, or appointed for a specific period and is prohibited from withdrawing before the completion of the audit of those financial statements or before the end of that period, respectively. The auditor may also consider it necessary to include an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor's report.⁹
- A15. When the auditor concludes that withdrawal from the audit is necessary because of a scope limitation, there may be a professional, legal or regulatory requirement for the auditor to communicate matters relating to the withdrawal from the engagement to regulators or the entity's owners.

.

Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), *Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report*, paragraph A9

Other Considerations Relating to an Adverse Opinion or Disclaimer of Opinion (Ref: Para. 15)

- A16. The following are examples of reporting circumstances that would not contradict the auditor's adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion:
 - The expression of an unmodified opinion on financial statements prepared under a given financial reporting framework and, within the same report, the expression of an adverse opinion on the same financial statements under a different financial reporting framework.
 - The expression of a disclaimer of opinion regarding the results of operations, and cash flows, where relevant, and an unmodified opinion regarding the financial position (see ISA 510¹¹). In this case, the auditor has not expressed a disclaimer of opinion on the financial statements as a whole.

Form and Content of the Auditor's Report When the Opinion Is Modified

Illustrative Auditor's Reports

- A17. Illustrations 1 and 2 in the Appendix contain auditor's reports with qualified and adverse opinions, respectively, as the financial statements are materially misstated.
- A18. Illustration 3 in the Appendix contains an auditor's report with a qualified opinion as the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. Illustration 4 contains a disclaimer of opinion due to an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about a single element of the financial statements. Illustration 5 contains a disclaimer of opinion due to an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about multiple elements of the financial statements. In each of the latter two cases, the possible effects on the financial statements of the inability are both material and pervasive. The Appendices to other ISAs that include reporting requirements, including proposed ISA 570 (Revised), also include illustrations of auditor's reports with modified opinions.

Auditor's Opinion (Ref: Para. 16)

A19. Amending this heading makes it clear to the user that the auditor's opinion is modified and indicates the type of modification.

Qualified Opinion (Ref: Para. 17)

A20. When the auditor expresses a qualified opinion, it would not be appropriate to use phrases such as "with the foregoing explanation" or "subject to" in the Opinion section as these are not sufficiently clear or forceful.

Basis for Opinion (Ref: Para. 20-27)

- A21. Consistency in the auditor's report helps to promote users' understanding and to identify unusual circumstances when they occur. Accordingly, although uniformity in the wording of a modified opinion and in the description of the reasons for the modification may not be possible, consistency in both the form and content of the auditor's report is desirable.
- A22. The Basis for Opinion section of the auditor's report provides important context about the auditor's opinion, in particular in cases where the auditor's opinion is modified. The placement of this information

See paragraph A24 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) for a description of this circumstance.

¹¹ ISA 510, Initial Audit Engagements—Opening Balances, paragraph 10

- in close proximity to the auditor's opinion in the auditor's report enhances the usefulness of the auditor's report.
- A23. An example of the financial effects of material misstatements that the auditor may describe within the Basis for Opinion section in the auditor's report is the quantification of the effects on income tax, income before taxes, net income and equity if inventory is overstated.
- A24. Disclosing the omitted information within the Basis for Opinion section would not be practicable if:
 - (a) The disclosures have not been prepared by management or the disclosures are otherwise not readily available to the auditor; or
 - (b) In the auditor's judgment, the disclosures would be unduly voluminous in relation to the auditor's report.
- A25. An adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion relating to a specific matter described within the Basis for Opinion section does not justify the omission of a description of other identified matters that would have otherwise required a modification of the auditor's opinion. In such cases, the disclosure of such other matters of which the auditor is aware may be relevant to users of the financial statements.

Description of Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit or the Financial Statements When the Auditor Disclaims an Opinion (Ref: Para. 28)

- A26. When the auditor disclaims an opinion on the financial statements, the following statements may be better positioned within the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of the auditor's report, as illustrated in Illustrations 4–5 of the Appendix to this ISA:
 - The statement required by paragraph 28(a) of proposed ISA 700 (Revised), amended to state that
 the auditor's responsibility is to conduct an audit of the entity's financial statements in accordance
 with ISAs; and
 - The statement required by paragraph 28(c) of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) about independence and other ethical responsibilities.

Special Considerations When the Auditor Disclaims an Opinion (Ref: Para. 29)

A27. Providing the reasons for the auditor's inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence within the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of the auditor's report provides useful information to users in understanding why the auditor has disclaimed an opinion on the financial statements and may further guard against inappropriate reliance on them. However, providing further details about the audit, including addressing the auditor's responsibilities about going concern, key audit matters, other information, or providing an extensive description of the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements may overshadow the disclaimer of opinion on the financial statements as a whole.

Key Audit Matters (Ref: Para. 29(a)

A28. Paragraph 27 of this ISA explains that, even when the auditor disclaims an opinion on the financial statements, any other matters of which the auditor is aware that would have required a modification to the opinion, and the effects thereof, should be addressed within the Basis for Opinion section of the auditor's report. In contrast, any discussion of key audit matters unrelated to the disclaimer of opinion may suggest the financial statements are more credible in relation to those matters than

would be appropriate in the circumstances and would overshadow the disclaimer of an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.

Communication with Those Charged with Governance (Ref: Para. 30)

- A29. Communicating with those charged with governance the circumstances that lead to an expected modification to the auditor's opinion and the proposed wording of the modification enables:
 - (a) The auditor to give notice to those charged with governance of the intended modification(s) and the reasons (or circumstances) for the modification(s);
 - (b) The auditor to seek the concurrence of those charged with governance regarding the facts of the matter(s) giving rise to the expected modification(s), or to confirm matters of disagreement with management as such; and
 - (c) Those charged with governance to have an opportunity, where appropriate, to provide the auditor with further information and explanations in respect of the matter(s) giving rise to the expected modification(s).

Appendix

(Ref: Para. A17-A18, A26)

Illustrations of Auditor's Reports with Modifications to the Opinion

Note: Only the required reporting elements that would be affected by the auditor expressing a modified opinion have been reproduced in these illustrations. The Appendix to proposed ISA 700 (Revised) contains the illustrative wording for sections whose contents would not be affected by this ISA.

- Illustration 1: An auditor's report containing a qualified opinion due to a material misstatement of the financial statements.
- Illustration 2: An auditor's report containing an adverse opinion due to a material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
- Illustration 3: An auditor's report containing a qualified opinion due to the auditor's inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding a foreign associate.
- Illustration 4: An auditor's report containing a disclaimer of opinion due to the auditor's inability to
 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about a single element of the consolidated financial
 statements.
- Illustration 5: An auditor's report containing a disclaimer of opinion due to the auditor's inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about multiple elements of the financial statements.

Illustration 1 – Qualified Opinion due to a Material Misstatement of the Financial Statements

For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of general purpose financial statements prepared by management of a listed entity in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), which is a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit conducted in accordance with ISA 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors).
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the financial statements in ISA 210, *Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements*.
- Inventories are misstated. The misstatement is deemed to be material but not pervasive to the financial statements (i.e., a qualified opinion is appropriate).
- Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with proposed ISA 701.
- In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements¹²

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the *Basis for Qualified Opinion* section of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or *give a true and fair view of*) the financial position of ABC Company (the Company) as at December 31, 20X1, and (*of*) its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the financial statements of the Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The Company's inventories are carried in the statement of financial position at xxx. Management has not stated the inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value but has stated them solely at cost, which constitutes a departure from IFRSs. The Company's records indicate that, had management stated the inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value, an amount of xxx would have been required to write the inventories down to their net realizable value. Accordingly, cost of sales would have been increased by xxx, and income tax, net income and shareholders' equity would have been reduced by xxx, xxx and xxx, respectively.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial*

The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those relevant ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements. Key audit matters are selected from the matters communicated with [those charged with governance], but are not intended to represent all matters that were discussed with them. In addition to the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters. Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole. Our opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters described below, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

[Reporting of individual matters in accordance with paragraph 10 of proposed ISA 701 – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Going Concern

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 570 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised) and proposed ISA 570 (Revised).]

Other Information

[The illustrative wording for this section is subject to the IAASB's finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). The content of this section may include, among other matters: (a) a description of the auditor's responsibilities with respect to other information; (b) identification of the document(s) available at the date of the auditor's report that contain the other information to which the auditor's responsibilities apply; (c) a statement addressing the outcome of the auditor's work on the other information; and (d) a statement that the auditor has not audited or reviewed the other information and, accordingly, does not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion on it.]

Responsibilities of [Management¹³ and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustrations 1 and 3 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Throughout the illustrative auditor's reports in the Proposed ISAs, the term management may need to be replaced by another term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction. For example, those charged with governance, rather than management, may have these responsibilities.

PROPOSED ISA 705 (REVISED), MODIFICATIONS TO THE OPINION IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor's Address]

[Date]

<u>Illustration 2 – Adverse Opinion due to a Material Misstatement of the Consolidated Financial</u> Statements

For purposes of the illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of general purpose consolidated financial statements prepared by management of the parent in accordance with IFRSs, where the parent is a listed entity. The audit is a group audit of an entity with subsidiaries conducted in accordance with ISA 600.
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements in ISA 210.
- The consolidated financial statements are materially misstated due to the non-consolidation of a subsidiary. The material misstatement is deemed to be pervasive to the consolidated financial statements. The effects of the misstatement on the consolidated financial statements have not been determined because it was not practicable to do so (i.e., an adverse opinion is appropriate).
- Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with proposed ISA 701.
- In addition to the audit of the consolidated financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements¹⁴

Adverse Opinion

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the *Basis for Adverse Opinion* section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not present fairly (or *do not give a true and fair view of*) the consolidated financial position of ABC Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at December 31, 20X1, and (*of*) their consolidated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Group, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Adverse Opinion

As explained in Note X, the Group has not consolidated subsidiary XYZ Company it acquired during 20X1 because it has not yet been able to determine the fair values of certain of the subsidiary's material assets and liabilities at the acquisition date. This investment is therefore accounted for on a cost basis. Under IFRSs, the Company should have consolidated this subsidiary and accounted for the acquisition based on provisional amounts. Had XYZ Company been consolidated, many elements in the accompanying consolidated financial statements would have been materially affected. The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the failure to consolidate have not been determined.

The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is applicable.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Group within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our adverse opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements. Key audit matters are selected from the matters communicated with [those charged with governance], but are not intended to represent all matters that were discussed with them. In addition to the matter described in the Basis for Adverse Opinion section of our report, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters. Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters described below, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

[Reporting of individual matters in accordance with paragraph 10 of proposed ISA 701 – see Illustration 2 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Going Concern

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 570 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in Proposed ISA 700 (Revised) and proposed ISA 570 (Revised).]

Other Information

[The illustrative wording for this section is subject to the IAASB's finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). The content of this section may include, among other matters: (a) a description of the auditor's responsibilities with respect to other information; (b) identification of the document(s) available at the date of the auditor's report that contain the other information to which the auditor's responsibilities apply; (c) a statement addressing the outcome of the auditor's work on the other information; and (d) a statement that the auditor has not audited or reviewed the other information and, accordingly, does not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion on it.]

Responsibilities of [Management¹⁵ and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in Proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

Or other term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor's Address]

[Date]

<u>Illustration 3 – Qualified Opinion due to the Auditor's Inability to Obtain Sufficient Audit Evidence</u> Regarding a Foreign Associate

For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of general purpose consolidated financial statements of a listed entity
 prepared by management of the entity in accordance with IFRSs. The audit is a group audit of an
 entity with subsidiaries conducted in accordance with ISA 600.
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements in ISA 210.
- The auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding an investment in a foreign associate. The possible effects of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence are deemed to be material but not pervasive to the consolidated financial statements (i.e., a qualified auditor's opinion is appropriate).
- Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with proposed ISA 701.
- In addition to the audit of the consolidated financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements¹⁶

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the *Basis for Qualified Opinion* section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or *give a true and fair view of*) the financial position of ABC Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at December 31, 20X1, and (*of*) their consolidated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Group, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The Group's investment in XYZ Company, a foreign associate acquired during the year and accounted for by the equity method, is carried at xxx on the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and ABC's share of XYZ's net income of xxx is included in ABC's income for the year then ended. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the carrying amount of ABC's investment in XYZ as at December 31, 20X1 and ABC's share of XYZ's net income for the year because we were denied access to the financial information, management, and the auditors of XYZ. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments to these amounts were necessary.

The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Group within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements. Key audit matters are selected from the matters communicated with [those charged with governance], but are not intended to represent all matters that were discussed with them. In addition to the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters. Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters described below, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

[Reporting of individual matters in accordance with paragraph 10 of proposed ISA 701 – see Illustration 2 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Going Concern

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 570 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised) and proposed ISA 570 (Revised).]

Other Information

[The illustrative wording for this section is subject to the IAASB's finalization of proposed ISA 720 (Revised). The content of this section may include, among other matters: (a) a description of the auditor's responsibilities with respect to other information; (b) identification of the document(s) available at the date of the auditor's report that contain the other information to which the auditor's responsibilities apply; (c) a statement addressing the outcome of the auditor's work on the other information; and (d) a statement that the auditor has not audited or reviewed the other information and, accordingly, does not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion on it.]

Responsibilities of [Management¹⁷ and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Consolidated Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

Or other term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction

PROPOSED ISA 705 (REVISED), MODIFICATIONS TO THE OPINION IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor's Address]

[Date]

<u>Illustration 4 – Disclaimer of Opinion due to the Auditor's Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit</u> Evidence about a Single Element of the Consolidated Financial Statements

For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of general purpose consolidated financial statements prepared by management of an entity other than a listed entity in accordance with IFRSs. The audit is a group audit of an entity with subsidiaries conducted in accordance with ISA 600.
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements in ISA 210.
- The auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about a single element of the consolidated financial statements. That is, the auditor was also unable to obtain audit evidence about the financial information of a joint venture investment that represents over 90% of the entity's net assets. The possible effects of this inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence are deemed to be both material and pervasive to the consolidated financial statements (i.e., a disclaimer of opinion is appropriate).
- In addition to the audit of the consolidated financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.
- As the auditor was unable to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a
 whole, the sections on Going Concern, Key Audit Matters, and Other Information would not be
 applicable. Further, a more limited description of the auditor's responsibilities section is required.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements¹⁸

Disclaimer of Opinion

We do not express an opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ABC Company and its subsidiaries (the Group). Because of the significance of the matter described in the *Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion* section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of the Group, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

The Group's investment in its joint venture XYZ Company is carried at xxx on the Group's consolidated statement of financial position, which represents over 90% of the Group's net assets as at December 31, 20X1. We were not allowed access to the management and the auditors of XYZ Company, including XYZ Company's auditors' audit documentation. As a result, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments

The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

were necessary in respect of the Group's proportional share of XYZ Company's assets that it controls jointly, its proportional share of XYZ Company's liabilities for which it is jointly responsible, its proportional share of XYZ's income and expenses for the year, and the elements making up the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement.

Responsibilities of [Management¹⁹ and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Consolidated Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and to issue an auditor's report. However, because of the matter described in the *Basis for Disclaimer Opinion* section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor's Address]

[Date]

Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction

<u>Illustration 5 – Disclaimer of Opinion due to the Auditor's Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit</u> Evidence about Multiple Elements of the Financial Statements

For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following circumstances are assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of general purpose financial statements prepared by management of an entity other than a listed entity in accordance with IFRSs. The audit is not a group audit conducted in accordance with ISA 600.
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the financial statements in ISA 210.
- The auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about multiple elements of the financial statements. That is, the auditor was also unable to obtain audit evidence about the entity's inventories and accounts receivable. The possible effects of this inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence are deemed to be both material and pervasive to the financial statements.
- In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.
- As the auditor was unable to express an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, the sections on Going Concern, Key Audit Matters, and Other Information would not be applicable. Further, a more limited description of the auditor's responsibilities section is required.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements²⁰

Disclaimer of Opinion

We do not express an opinion on the accompanying financial statements of ABC Company (the Company). Because of the significance of the matters described in the *Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion* section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these financial statements.

We were engaged to audit the financial statements of the Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

We were not appointed as auditors of the Company until after December 31, 20X1 and thus did not observe the counting of physical inventories at the beginning and end of the year. We were unable to satisfy ourselves by alternative means concerning the inventory quantities held at December 31, 20X0 and 20X1, which are stated in the statement of financial position at xxx and xxx, respectively. In addition, the introduction of a new computerized accounts receivable system in September 20X1 resulted in numerous errors in accounts receivable. As of the date of our audit report, management was still in the

The sub-title "Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

process of rectifying the system deficiencies and correcting the errors. We were unable to confirm or verify by alternative means accounts receivable included in the statement of financial position at a total amount of xxx as at December 31, 20X1. As a result of these matters, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect of recorded or unrecorded inventories and accounts receivable, and the elements making up the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows.

Responsibilities of [Management²¹ and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate terms] for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Company's financial statements in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and to issue an auditor's report. However, because of the matters described in the *Basis for Disclaimer Opinion* section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these financial statements.

We are independent of the Company within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor's Address]

[Date]

Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction

PROPOSED INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON AUDITING 706 (REVISED)

EMPHASIS OF MATTER PARAGRAPHS AND OTHER MATTER PARAGRAPHS IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

(Effective for audits of financial statements for periods_[beginning/ending on or after December 15, 2009date])

CONTENTS

[MARKED FROM EXTANT ISA 706]

	Paragraph
Introduction	
Scope of this ISA	1– <u>4</u> 2
Effective Date	<u>5</u> 3
Objective	<u>6</u> 4
Definitions	<u>7</u> 5
Requirements	
Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor's Report	<u>86–97</u>
Other Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor's Report	<u>10–11</u> 8
Communication with Those Charged with Governance	<u>12</u> 9
Application and Other Explanatory Material	
<u>The Relationship between Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Key Audit Matters in the</u> Auditor's Report	A1 <u>–A2</u>
Circumstances in Which an Emphasis of Matter Paragraph May Be Necessary	A3-A5
Including an Emphasis of Matter Paragraph in the Auditor's Report	A6-A7
Other Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor's Report	<u>A8A5-A14A11</u>
Placement of Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor's Report	A15–A16
Communication with Those Charged with Governance	A <u>17</u> 12
Appendix 1: List of ISAs Containing Requirements for Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs	
Appendix 2: List of ISAs Containing Requirements for Other Matter Paragraphs	
Appendix 3: Illustration of an Auditor's Report that Includes an Emphasis of Matter Paragraph	

PROPOSED ISA 706 (REVISED), EMPHASIS OF MATTER PARAGRAPHS AND OTHER MATTER PARAGRAPHS IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

<u>Proposed</u> International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report, should be read in conjunction with ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing.

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

- 1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with additional communication in the auditor's report when the auditor considers it necessary to:
 - (a) Draw users' attention to a matter or matters presented or disclosed in the financial statements that are of such importance that they are fundamental to users' understanding of the financial statements; or
 - (b) Draw users' attention to any matter or matters other than those presented or disclosed in the financial statements that are relevant to users' understanding of the audit, the auditor's responsibilities or the auditor's report.
- 2. Proposed ISA 701¹ establishes requirements and provides guidance when the auditor determines key audit matters and communicates them in the auditor's report. When the auditor includes a Key Audit Matters section in the auditor's report, this ISA addresses the relationship between key audit matters and any additional communication in the auditor's report in accordance with this ISA. (Ref: Para. A1–A2)
- 3. Proposed ISA 570 (Revised)² and proposed ISA 720³ establish requirements and provide guidance about communication in the auditor's report relating to going concern and other information, respectively.
- 2.4. Appendices 1 and 2 identify ISAs that contain specific requirements for the auditor to include Emphasis of Matter paragraphs or Other Matter paragraphs in the auditor's report. In those circumstances, the requirements in this ISA regarding the form and placement of such paragraphs apply. (Ref: Para. A3)

Effective Date

3.5. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after December 15, 2009date].

Objective

- 4.6. The objective of the auditor, having formed an opinion on the financial statements, is to draw users' attention, when in the auditor's judgment it is necessary to do so, by way of clear additional communication in the auditor's report, to:
 - (a) A matter, although appropriately presented or disclosed in the financial statements, that is of such importance that it is fundamental to users' understanding of the financial statements; or
 - (b) As appropriate, any other matter that is relevant to users' understanding of the audit, the auditor's responsibilities or the auditor's report.

Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report

² Proposed ISA 570, *Going Concern*, paragraphs 19–25

Exposure Draft, Proposed ISA 720, The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing or Accompanying Audited Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report Thereon

Definitions

- 5.7. For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:
 - (a) Emphasis of Matter paragraph A paragraph included in the auditor's report that refers to a matter appropriately presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the auditor's judgment, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users' understanding of the financial statements.
 - (b) Other Matter paragraph A paragraph included in the auditor's report that refers to a matter other than those presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the auditor's judgment, is relevant to users' understanding of the audit, the auditor's responsibilities or the auditor's report.

Requirements

Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor's Report

- 6-8. If the auditor considers it necessary to draw users' attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the auditor's judgment, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users' understanding of the financial statements, the auditor shall include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in the auditor's report provided: (Ref: Para. A1A4-A5)
 - (a) <u>tT</u>he auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the matter is not materially misstated in the financial statements; <u>and</u>. Such a paragraph shall refer only to information presented or disclosed in the financial statements.
 - (b) The matter has not been determined to be a key audit matter in accordance with proposed ISA 701, if applicable. (Ref: Para. A1–A2)
- 7.9. When the auditor includes an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in the auditor's report, the auditor shall:
 - (a) Include it immediately after the Opinion paragraph in the auditor's report;
 - (<u>ab</u>) Use the heading "Emphasis of Matter in the Financial Statements," or other appropriate heading;
 - (b) When key audit matters are communicated in the auditor's report, include a statement that explains that the matter being emphasized is separate from key audit matters;
 - (c) Include in the paragraph a clear reference to the matter being emphasized and to where relevant disclosures that fully describe the matter can be found in the financial statements.

 Such a paragraph shall refer only to information presented or disclosed in the financial statements; and-
 - (d) Indicate that the auditor's opinion is not modified in respect of the matter emphasized; and. (Ref: Para. A6A2-A7A4, A15-A16)

Other Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor's Report

8-10. If the auditor considers it necessary to communicate a matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the auditor's judgment, is relevant to users'

understanding of the audit, the auditor's responsibilities or the auditor's report, the auditor shall include an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor's report, provided:

- (a) and tThis is not prohibited by law or regulation; and
- (b) The matter has not been determined to be a key audit matter in accordance with proposed ISA 701, if applicable. (Ref: Para. A8A5–A13A11)
- 9-11. When the auditor includes an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor's report, the auditor shall do so in a paragraph in the auditor's report, with use the heading "Other Matter," or other appropriate heading. The auditor shall include this paragraph immediately after the Opinion paragraph and any Emphasis of Matter paragraph, or elsewhere in the auditor's report if the content of the Other Matter paragraph is relevant to the Other Reporting Responsibilities section. (Ref: Para. A14–A15)

Communication with Those Charged with Governance

40.12. If the auditor expects to include an Emphasis of Matter or an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor's report, the auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance regarding this expectation and the proposed-wording of this paragraph. (Ref: Para. A17A12)

Application and Other Explanatory Material

<u>The Relationship between Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Key Audit Matters in the Auditor's Report (Ref: Para. 2, 8(b))</u>

- A1. Key audit matters are defined in proposed ISA 701 as those matters that, in the auditor's professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters are selected from matters communicated with those charged with governance, which include the significant findings from the audit of the financial statements of the current period. In many instances, key audit matters will relate to matters presented or disclosed in the financial statements, and the auditor is required to refer to these disclosures in accordance with proposed ISA 701.
- A2. Communicating key audit matters provides additional information to users of the financial statements to assist them in understanding those matters. Communicating key audit matters may also assist users of the financial statements in understanding the entity and areas of significant management judgment in the audited financial statements, as such matters are areas of focus in performing the audit. When key audit matters are communicated in the auditor's report, the purpose of an Emphasis of Matter paragraph is to draw users' attention in specific circumstances to other financial statement matters that are not key audit matters in accordance with proposed ISA 701. Accordingly, when a Key Audit Matters section is included in the auditor's report, Emphasis of Matter paragraphs are expected to be rare, except when otherwise required by other ISAs or by law or regulation.

179

Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance, paragraph 16

⁵ Proposed ISA 701, paragraph 10

Circumstances in Which an Emphasis of Matter Paragraph May Be Necessary (Ref: Para. 4, 86)

- A3. Appendix 1 identifies ISAs that contain specific requirements for the auditor to include Emphasis of Matter paragraphs in the auditor's report in certain circumstances. These circumstances include:
 - When a financial reporting framework prescribed by law or regulation would be unacceptable but for the fact that it is prescribed by law or regulation.
 - To alert users that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework.
 - when facts become known to the auditor after the date of the auditor's report and the auditor provides a new or amended auditor's report (i.e., subsequent events). In such circumstances, ISA 560 permits the auditor to include an Other Matter paragraph rather than an Emphasis of Matter paragraph if additional information is provided beyond a reference to the applicable disclosure in the notes to the financial statements.
- A1.A4. Examples of circumstances where the auditor may consider it necessary to include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph are:
 - An uncertainty relating to the future outcome of exceptional litigation or regulatory action.
 - <u>Early application (where permitted) of aA</u> new accounting standard (for example, a new International Financial Reporting Standard) that is not yet effective but is expected to have a material that has a pervasive effect on the financial statements in advance of its effective date.
 - A major catastrophe that has had, or continues to have, a significant effect on the entity's financial position.
 - A significant subsequent event that occurs between the date of the financial statements and the date of the auditor's report.
- A2.A5. However, aA widespread use of Emphasis of Matter paragraphs may diminishes the effectiveness of the auditor's communication about f such matters. Additionally, to include more information in an Emphasis of Matter paragraph than is presented or disclosed in the financial statements may imply that the matter has not been appropriately presented or disclosed; accordingly, paragraph 6 limits the use of an Emphasis of Matter paragraph to matters presented or disclosed in the financial statements.

Including an Emphasis of Matter Paragraph in the Auditor's Report (Ref: Para. 97)

- A3.A6. The inclusion of an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in the auditor's report does not affect the auditor's opinion. An Emphasis of Matter paragraph is not a substitute for-either:
 - (a) The auditor expressing a qualified opinion or an adverse opinion, or disclaiming an opinion, when required by the circumstances of a specific audit engagement (see <u>proposed</u> ISA 705 (<u>Revised</u>)⁸); or

⁶ ISA 560, Subsequent Events, paragraph 12 and 16

⁷ See paragraph 6 of ISA 560.

Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report

PROPOSED ISA 706 (REVISED), EMPHASIS OF MATTER PARAGRAPHS AND OTHER MATTER PARAGRAPHS IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

- (b) Disclosures in the financial statements that the applicable financial reporting framework requires management to make; or
- (c) Required statements in the auditor's report relating to going concern in accordance with proposed ISA 570.9
- A4.A7. The illustrative report in Appendix 3 includes an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in an auditor's report for an entity other than a listed entity that contains a qualified opinion and for which key audit matters have not been communicated. Paragraphs A15–A16 provide further guidance on the placement of Emphasis of Matter paragraphs in particular circumstances.

Other Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor's Report (Ref: Para. 810-11)

Circumstances in Which an Other Matter Paragraph May Be Necessary

Relevant to Users' Understanding of the Audit

- A8. Proposed ISA 260 (Revised) requires the auditor to communicate with those charged with governance about the planned scope and timing of the audit, which includes communication about the significant risks identified by the auditor. 10 Although matters relating to significant risks may be determined to be key audit matters, other planning and scoping matters (e.g., the planned scope of the audit, or the application of materiality in the context of the audit) are unlikely to be key audit matters because of how key audit matters are defined in proposed ISA 701. However, law or regulation may require the auditor to communicate about planning and scoping matters in the auditor's report, or the auditor may consider it necessary to communicate about such matters in an Other Matter paragraph.
- A5.A9.In the rare circumstance where the auditor is unable to withdraw from an engagement even though the possible effect of an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence due to a limitation on the scope of the audit imposed by management is pervasive, 11 the auditor may consider it necessary to include an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor's report to explain why it is not possible for the auditor to withdraw from the engagement.

Relevant to Users' Understanding of the Auditor's Responsibilities or the Auditor's Report

- A6.A10.Law, regulation or generally accepted practice in a jurisdiction may require or permit the auditor to elaborate on matters that provide further explanation of the auditor's responsibilities in the audit of the financial statements or of the auditor's report thereon. Where relevant, one or more subheadings may be used that describe the content of the Other Matter paragraph.
- A7.A11.An Other Matter paragraph does not deal with circumstances where the auditor has other reporting responsibilities that are in addition to the auditor's responsibility under the ISAs to report on the financial statements (see "Other Reporting Responsibilities" section in proposed_ISA 700 (Revised)¹²), or where the auditor has been asked to perform and report on additional specified procedures, or to express an opinion on specific matters.

Proposed ISA 570 (Revised), Going Concern

Proposed ISA 260 (Revised), paragraph 15

See paragraph 13(b)(ii) of proposed ISA 705 (Revised) for a discussion of this circumstance.

Proposed ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements, paragraphs 4138—39

Reporting on more than one set of financial statements

A8.A12.An entity may prepare one set of financial statements in accordance with a general purpose framework (for example, the national framework) and another set of financial statements in accordance with another general purpose framework (for example, International Financial Reporting Standards), and engage the auditor to report on both sets of financial statements. If the auditor has determined that the frameworks are acceptable in the respective circumstances, the auditor may include an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor's report, referring to the fact that another set of financial statements has been prepared by the same entity in accordance with another general purpose framework and that the auditor has issued a report on those financial statements.

Restriction on distribution or use of the auditor's report

A9.A13. Financial statements prepared for a specific purpose may be prepared in accordance with a general purpose framework because the intended users have determined that such general purpose financial statements meet their financial information needs. Since the auditor's report is intended for specific users, the auditor may consider it necessary in the circumstances to include an Other Matter paragraph, stating that the auditor's report is intended solely for the intended users, and should not be distributed to or used by other parties.

Including an Other Matter Paragraph in the Auditor's Report

A10.A14. The content of an Other Matter paragraph reflects clearly that such other matter is not required to be presented and disclosed in the financial statements. An Other Matter paragraph does not include information that the auditor is prohibited from providing by law, regulation or other professional standards, for example, ethical standards relating to confidentiality of information. An Other Matter paragraph also does not include information that is required to be provided by management.

<u>Placement of Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor's Report</u> (Ref: Para. 9, 11)

A11.A15. The placement of an Emphasis of Matter paragraph or Other Matter paragraph in the auditor's report depends on the nature of the information to be communicated, and the auditor's judgment as to the relative significance of such information to the user compared to other elements required to be reported in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised). For example:

Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs

- When the Emphasis of Matter paragraph relates to the applicable financial reporting framework, ¹³ the auditor may consider it necessary to place the paragraph immediately following the Basis of Opinion section to provide appropriate context to the auditor's opinion.
- When a Key Audit Matters section is presented in the auditor's report, an Emphasis of Matter paragraph may be presented after the Key Audit Matters section. The auditor may also consider it necessary to add further context to the heading "Emphasis of Matter in the

For example, as required by ISA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements, paragraph 19 and ISA 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks, paragraph 14

<u>Financial Statements</u>", such as "<u>Emphasis of Matter in the Financial Statements – Subsequent Events</u>", to differentiate the <u>Emphasis of Matter paragraph from the individual matters</u> described in the Key Audit Matters section.

Other Matter Paragraphs

- When a Key Audit Matters section is presented in the auditor's report and an Other Matter paragraph is also considered necessary, the auditor may wish to add further context to the heading "Other Matter", such as "Other Matter Scope of the Audit", to differentiate the Other Matter paragraph from the individual matters described in the Key Audit Matters section. When an Other Matter paragraph is included to draw users' attention to a matter relevant to their understanding of the audit of the financial statements, the paragraph is included immediately after the Opinion paragraph and any Emphasis of Matter paragraph.
- When an Other Matter paragraph is included to draw users' attention to a matter relating to Other Reporting Responsibilities addressed in the auditor's report, the paragraph may be included in the section sub-titled "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements."
- Alternatively, wWhen relevant to all the auditor's responsibilities or users' understanding of the auditor's report, the Other Matter paragraph may be included as a separate section following the Report on the <u>Audit of the Financial Statements</u> and the Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements.
- A16. The following is an illustration of the interaction between the Key Audit Matters section and an Emphasis of Matter paragraph when both are presented in the auditor's report.

Key Audit Matters

[Introductory language as required by paragraph 9 of proposed ISA 701]

Subheading for each individual matter

[Description of each individual matters as required by paragraph 10 of proposed ISA 701]

Emphasis of Matter in the Financial Statements – Uncertainty Related to the Outcome of a Lawsuit

Separately from the matters described in the *Key Audit Matters* section of our report, we also draw attention to Note 4 of the financial statements, which describes the uncertainty related to the outcome of the lawsuit filed against the Company by XYZ Company. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.

Going Concern

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 570 (Revised). For purposes of this illustration, it is assumed that the auditor has not identified a material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.]

Communication with Those Charged with Governance (Ref. Para. 129)

A12.A17. Such The communication required by paragraph 12 enables those charged with governance to be made aware of the nature of any specific matters that the auditor intends to highlight in the

PROPOSED ISA 706 (REVISED), EMPHASIS OF MATTER PARAGRAPHS AND OTHER MATTER PARAGRAPHS IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

auditor's report, and provides them with an opportunity to obtain further clarification from the auditor where necessary. Where the inclusion of an Other Matter paragraph on a particular matter in the auditor's report recurs on each successive engagement, the auditor may determine that it is unnecessary to repeat the communication on each engagement, unless otherwise required to do so by law or regulation.

Appendix 1

(Ref: Para. 24, A3)

List of ISAs Containing Requirements for Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs

This appendix identifies paragraphs in other ISAs in effect for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after <u>dateDecember 15, 2009</u>] that require the auditor to include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in the auditor's report in certain circumstances. The list is not a substitute for considering the requirements and related application and other explanatory material in ISAs.

- ISA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements paragraph 19(b)
- ISA 560, Subsequent Events paragraphs 12(b) and 16
- ISA 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks paragraph 14
- ISA 570, Going Concern paragraph 19

Appendix 2

(Ref: Para. 42)

List of ISAs Containing Requirements for Other Matter Paragraphs

This appendix identifies paragraphs in other ISAs in effect for audits of financial statements for periods [beginning/ending on or after dateDecember 15, 2009] that require the auditor to include an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor's report in certain circumstances. The list is not a substitute for considering the requirements and related application and other explanatory material in ISAs.

- ISA 560, Subsequent Events paragraphs 12(b) and 16
- ISA 710, Comparative Information—Corresponding Figures and Comparative Financial Statements paragraphs 13–14, 16–17 and 19
- ISA 720, The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements paragraph 10(a)

Appendix 3

(Ref: Para. A7A4)

Illustration of an Auditor's Report that Includes an Emphasis of Matter Paragraph

Note: Only the required reporting elements that would be affected by this ISA have been reproduced in this illustration. The Appendix of proposed ISA 700 (Revised) contains the illustrative wording for sections whose contents would not be affected by this ISA.

<u>For purposes of this illustrative auditor's report, the following c</u>Circumstances include the followingare assumed:

- Audit of a complete set of general purpose financial statements prepared by management of <u>anthe</u> entity other than a listed entity in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The audit is not a group audit conducted in accordance with ISA 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors).
- The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management's responsibility for the financial statements in ISA 210.
- There is uncertainty relating to a pending exceptional litigation matter.
- The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit matters in accordance with proposed ISA 701.
- A departure from the applicable financial reporting framework resulted in a qualified opinion.
- In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities required under local law.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the <u>Audit of the</u> Financial Statements 14

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section paragraph of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects (or give a true and fair view of) the financial position of ABC Company (the Company) as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of ABC the Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the

The sub-title "Report on the Financial Statements" is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title "Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements" is not applicable.

<u>financial statements, including</u> a summary of significant accounting policies—and other explanatory information.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The eCompany's short-term marketable securities are carried in the statement of financial position at xxx. Management has not marked these securities to market but has instead stated them at cost, which constitutes a departure from International Financial Reporting StandardsIFRSs. The eCompany's records indicate that had management marked the marketable securities to market, the company would have recognized an unrealized loss of xxx in the statement of comprehensive income for the year. The carrying amount of the securities in the statement of financial position would have been reduced by the same amount at December 31, 20X1, and income tax, net income and shareholders' equity would have been reduced by xxx, xxx and xxx, respectively.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company within the meaning of [indicate relevant ethical requirements or applicable law or regulation] and have fulfilled our other responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Emphasis of Matter in the Financial Statements

We draw attention to Note X ofto the financial statements, which describes the uncertainty related to the outcome of the lawsuit filed against the company by XYZ Company. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.

Going Concern

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 570 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised) and proposed ISA 570 (Revised).]

Other Information

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 720 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

<u>Responsibilities of [Management's 15] and Those Charged with Governance or other appropriate</u> terms] Responsibility-for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, ¹⁶ and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

¹⁵ Or other term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction

Where management's responsibility is to prepare financial statements that give a true and fair view, this may read: "Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such ..."

Auditor's Responsibilitiesy for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in proposed ISA 700).]

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation. ¹⁷ of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. ¹⁸ An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor's report will vary depending on the nature of the auditor's other reporting responsibilities Reporting in accordance with proposed ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 of proposed ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Auditor's sSignature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor's aAddress]

[Date of the auditor's report]

In the case of footnote 4, this may read: "In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control."

In circumstances when the auditor also has responsibility to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements, this sentence would be worded as follows: "In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances." In the case of footnote 4, this may read: "In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances."

PROPOSED CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO OTHER ISAS

Note: The following are proposed conforming amendments to other ISAs as a result of the Proposed ISAs. These amendments will become effective at the same time as the Proposed ISAs. The footnote numbers within these amendments do not align with the ISAs that will be amended, and reference should be made to those ISAs.

ISA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements

Agreement on Audit Engagement Terms

- Subject to paragraph 11, the agreed terms of the audit engagement shall be recorded in an audit engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement and shall include: (Ref: Para. A22– A25)
 - (a) The objective and scope of the audit of the financial statements;
 - (b) The responsibilities of the auditor;
 - (c) The responsibilities of management;
 - (d) Identification of the applicable financial reporting framework for the preparation of the financial statements; and
 - (e) Reference to the expected form and content of any reports to be issued by the auditor, including, if the auditor is not required to communicate key audit matters but intends to do so, a statement that the auditor intends to communicate key audit matters; and (Ref: Para. A23a)
 - (f) Aa statement that there may be circumstances in which a report may differ from its expected form and content.

Agreement on Audit Engagement Terms

Audit Engagement Letter or Other Form of Written Agreement (Ref: Para. 10–11)

Form and Content of the Audit Engagement Letter

- A23. The form and content of the audit engagement letter may vary for each entity. Information included in the audit engagement letter on the auditor's responsibilities may be based on ISA 200.² Paragraphs 6(b) and 12 of this ISA deal with the description of the responsibilities of management. In addition to including the matters required by paragraph 10, an audit engagement letter may make reference to, for example:
 - Elaboration of the scope of the audit, including reference to applicable legislation, regulations, ISAs, and ethical and other pronouncements of professional bodies to which the auditor adheres.
 - The form of any other communication of results of the audit engagement.

In the paragraphs that follow, any reference to an audit engagement letter is to be taken as a reference to an audit engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement.

² ISA 200, paragraphs 3–9

- The requirement for the auditor to communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report in accordance with proposed ISA 701.³
- The fact that because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of internal control, there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with ISAs.
- Arrangements regarding the planning and performance of the audit, including the composition of the engagement team.
- The expectation that management will provide written representations (see also paragraph A13).
- The agreement of management to make available to the auditor draft financial statements and any accompanying other information in time to allow the auditor to complete the audit in accordance with the proposed timetable.
- The agreement of management to inform the auditor of facts that may affect the financial statements, of which management may become aware during the period from the date of the auditor's report to the date the financial statements are issued.
- The basis on which fees are computed and any billing arrangements.
- A request for management to acknowledge receipt of the audit engagement letter and to agree to the terms of the engagement outlined therein.

A23a. Referring to the expected form and content of the auditor's report in agreeing the terms of the audit engagement enables management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance to understand how the auditor may communicate about the audit, in particular in relation to key audit matters. Acknowledging that the auditor intends to communicate key audit matters in the auditor's report when not otherwise required to do so makes management and those charged with governance aware of the auditor's intent. However, the form and content of the auditor's report, including the description of key audit matters, is the sole responsibility of the auditor. When the auditor is not required to communicate key audit matters, it may be helpful for the auditor to make reference in the terms of the audit engagement to the possibility of communicating key audit matters in the auditor's report and, in certain jurisdictions, it may be necessary for the auditor to include a reference to such possibility in order to retain the ability to do so.

A24. When relevant, the following points could also be made in the audit engagement letter:

- Arrangements concerning the involvement of other auditors and experts in some aspects of the audit.
- Arrangements concerning the involvement of internal auditors and other staff of the entity.
- Arrangements to be made with the predecessor auditor, if any, in the case of an initial audit.
- Any restriction of the auditor's liability when such possibility exists.
- A reference to any further agreements between the auditor and the entity.

_

Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report

Any obligations to provide audit working papers to other parties.

An example of an audit engagement letter is set out in Appendix 1.

Appendix 1

Example of an Audit Engagement Letter

The following is an example of an audit engagement letter for an audit of general purpose financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This letter is not authoritative but is intended only to be a guide that may be used in conjunction with the considerations outlined in this ISA. It will need to be varied according to individual requirements and circumstances. It is drafted to refer to the audit of financial statements for a single reporting period and would require adaptation if intended or expected to apply to recurring audits (see paragraph 13 of this ISA). It may be appropriate to seek legal advice that any proposed letter is suitable.

To the appropriate representative of management or those charged with governance of ABC Company:⁴

[The objective and scope of the audit]

You⁵ have requested that we audit the financial statements of ABC Company, which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 20X1, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and <u>notes to the financial statements, including</u> a summary of significant accounting policies—and other explanatory information. We are pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of this audit engagement by means of this letter.

Our audit will be conducted with tThe objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our expressing an opinion on the financial statements. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

The addressees and references in the letter would be those that are appropriate in the circumstances of the engagement, including the relevant jurisdiction. It is important to refer to the appropriate persons – see paragraph A21.

⁵ Throughout this letter, references to "you," "we," "us," "management," "those charged with governance" and "auditor" would be used or amended as appropriate in the circumstances.

[The responsibilities of the auditor]

We will conduct our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements. and As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the planning and performing of the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit also involves We also:

- performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- In making our risk assessments, we Obtain an understanding of consider-internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial statements audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. However, we will communicate to you in writing concerning any significant deficiencies in internal control relevant to the audit of the financial statements that we have identified during the audit.
- An audit also includes evaluating <u>Evaluate</u> the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates <u>and related disclosures</u> made by management., as well as
- <u>evaluating Evaluate</u> the overall presentation, <u>structure and content</u> of the financial statements, <u>including the disclosures</u>, and <u>whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.</u>

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of internal control, there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with ISAs.

[The responsibilities of management and identification of the applicable financial reporting framework (for purposes of this example it is assumed that the auditor has not determined that the law or regulation prescribes those responsibilities in appropriate terms; the descriptions in paragraph 6(b) of this ISA are therefore used).]

Our audit will be conducted on the basis that [management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance]⁷ acknowledge and understand that they have responsibility:

(a) For the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards;⁸

_

This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has responsibility to issue an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.

Use terminology as appropriate in the circumstances.

Or, if appropriate, "For the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards"

PROPOSED CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO OTHER ISAS

- (b) For such internal control as [management] determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
- (c) To provide us with:
 - (i) Access to all information of which [management] is aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;
 - (ii) Additional information that we may request from [management] for the purpose of the audit; and
 - (iii) Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom we determine it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

As part of our audit process, we will request from [management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance], written confirmation concerning representations made to us in connection with the audit.

We look forward to full cooperation from your staff during our audit.

[Other relevant information]

[Insert other information, such as fee arrangements, billings and other specific terms, as appropriate.]

[Reporting]

[Insert appropriate reference to the expected form and content of the auditor's report, including where applicable the intent of an auditor of financial statements of an entity other than a listed entity to communicate key audit matters if not otherwise required to do so. This section may also include reference to the auditor's required reporting responsibilities in relation to going concern, other information and key audit matters.]

The form and content of our report may need to be amended in the light of our audit findings.

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowledgement of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our audit of the financial statements including our respective responsibilities.

XYZ & Co.

Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by
(signed)
Name and Title
Date

ISA 230, Audit Documentation

Documentation of the Audit Procedures Performed and Audit Evidence Obtained

Form, Content and Extent of Audit Documentation

Documentation of Significant Matters and Related Significant Professional Judgments (Ref: Para. 8(c))

- A10. Some examples of circumstances in which, in accordance with paragraph 8, it is appropriate to prepare audit documentation relating to the use of professional judgment include, where the matters and judgments are significant:
 - The rationale for the auditor's conclusion when a requirement provides that the auditor "shall consider" certain information or factors, and that consideration is significant in the context of the particular engagement.
 - The basis for the auditor's conclusion on the reasonableness of areas of subjective judgments (for example, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates).
 - The basis for the auditor's conclusions about the authenticity of a document when further investigation (such as making appropriate use of an expert or of confirmation procedures) is undertaken in response to conditions identified during the audit that caused the auditor to believe that the document may not be authentic.
 - When a Key Audit Matters section is included in the auditor's report in accordance with proposed ISA 701,⁹ the auditor's determination of the key audit matters, or the determination that there are no key audit matters.

ISA 540, Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting Estimates, and Related Disclosures

Further Substantive Procedures to Respond to Significant Risks (Ref: Para. 15)

Recognition and Measurement Criteria

Recognition of the Accounting Estimates in the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 17(a))

A114. With respect to accounting estimates that have not been recognized, the focus of the auditor's evaluation is on whether the recognition criteria of the applicable financial reporting framework have in fact been met. Even where an accounting estimate has not been recognized, and the auditor concludes that this treatment is appropriate, there may be a need for disclosure of the circumstances in the notes to the financial statements. The auditor may also determine that there is a need to draw the reader's attention to a significant uncertainty by including an Emphasis of Matter paragraph (see proposed ISA 706 (Revised) 10) to-or, where applicable, communicating this as a key audit matter in the auditor's report in accordance with proposed ISA 701. If the matter is determined to be a key audit matter, proposed ISA 706 (Revised) prohibits the auditor from including an Emphasis of Matter

195

Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report

Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report

Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report

paragraph in the auditor's report. 12 ISA 706 43 establishes requirements and provides guidance concerning such paragraphs.

ISA 710, Comparative Information—Corresponding Figures and Comparative Financial Statements

Auditor Reporting

Corresponding Figures

Prior Period Financial Statements Not Audited

14. If the prior period financial statements were not audited, the auditor shall state in an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor's report that the corresponding figures are unaudited. Such a statement does not, however, relieve the auditor of the requirement to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the opening balances do not contain misstatements that materially affect the current period's financial statements. (Ref: Para. A7a)

..

Comparative Financial Statements

. . .

16. When reporting on prior period financial statements in connection with the current period's audit, if the auditor's opinion on such prior period financial statements differs from the opinion the auditor previously expressed, the auditor shall disclose the substantive reasons for the different opinion in an Other Matter paragraph in accordance with proposed ISA 706 (Revised).

. . .

Prior Period Financial Statements Not Audited

19. If the prior period financial statements were not audited, the auditor shall state in an Other Matter paragraph that the comparative financial statements are unaudited. Such a statement does not, however, relieve the auditor of the requirement to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the opening balances do not contain misstatements that materially affect the current period's financial statements. (Ref: Para. A12)

Auditor Reporting

Corresponding Figures

Prior Period Financial Statements Not Audited (Ref: Para. 14)

A7a. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the opening balances, the auditor is required by proposed ISA 705 (Revised)¹⁴ to express a qualified opinion or disclaim an opinion on the financial statements, as appropriate, in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised). If the auditor encountered significant difficulty in obtaining sufficient appropriate

Proposed ISA 706 (Revised), paragraph 7(b)

¹³ ISA 706, Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report

Proposed ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report

PROPOSED CONFORMING AMENDMENTS TO OTHER ISAS

audit evidence that the opening balances do not contain misstatements that materially affect the current period's financial statements, the auditor may determine this to be a key audit matter in accordance with proposed ISA 701. 15

. . .

Comparative Financial Statements

...

Prior Period Financial Statements Not Audited (Ref: Para. 19)

A12. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the opening balances, the auditor is required by proposed ISA 705 (Revised) to express a qualified opinion or disclaim an opinion on the financial statements, as appropriate, in accordance with proposed ISA 705 (Revised). If the auditor encountered significant difficulty in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the opening balances do not contain misstatements that materially affect the current period's financial statements, the auditor may determine this to be a key audit matter in accordance with proposed ISA 701.

Proposed ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

International Standards on Auditing, International Standards on Assurance Engagements, International Standards on Review Engagements, International Standards on Related Services, International Standards on Quality Control, International Auditing Practice Notes, Exposure Drafts, Consultation Papers, and other IAASB publications are published by, and copyright of, IFAC.

The IAASB and IFAC do not accept responsibility for loss caused to any person who acts or refrains from acting in reliance on the material in this publication, whether such loss is caused by negligence or otherwise.

The IAASB logo, 'International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board', 'IAASB', 'International Standard on Auditing', 'ISA', 'International Standard on Assurance Engagements', 'ISAE', 'International Standards on Review Engagements', 'ISRE', 'International Standards on Related Services', 'ISRS', 'International Standards on Quality Control', 'ISQC', 'International Auditing Practice Note', 'IAPN', the IFAC logo, 'International Federation of Accountants', and 'IFAC' are trademarks and service marks of IFAC.

Copyright © July 2013 by the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). All rights reserved. Permission is granted to make copies of this work to achieve maximum exposure and feedback provided that each copy bears the following credit line: "Copyright © July 2013 by the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). All rights reserved. Used with permission of IFAC. Permission is granted to make copies of this work to achieve maximum exposure and feedback."



